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About Our Company
We are one of the leading food and beverage 
companies in the United States.

O
ur Dairy Group is the largest processor

and distributor of fresh milk and other

dairy products in the country, sold under

more than 50 familiar local and regional brands

and a wide array of private labels. Our WhiteWave

Foods subsidiary markets and sells a variety of

well-known dairy and dairy-related products, such

as Silk® soymilk, Horizon Organic® dairy products

and juices, International Delight® coffee creamers

and LAND O LAKES® creamers and cultured

products. Our Specialty Foods Group is the nation’s

leading manufacturer of private label pickles and

non-dairy powdered coffee creamer, and maker of a

variety of other specialty food products. We also

own the fourth largest dairy processor in Spain and

the leading brand of organic dairy products in the

United Kingdom.
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Dean’s Place at the Table

At Dean Foods, we are proud to be in the business of
enhancing and enriching the lives of consumers. Our
brands are known for freshness, purity, delicious taste
and impeccable quality. We sell fresh, nutritious dairy

products under an array of local brands that have 
been staples in their communities for generations.

Meadow Gold®, Alta Dena®, Dean’s®, Country Fresh®, Oak Farms®,
Mayfield®, and Garelick Farms® are just a few. Which one is on your
table? We also are proud to be the nation’s leading organic foods company.
Through our Silk® and Horizon Organic® brands, we are bringing
healthy, delicious alternatives to tables across the country. From nutritious
foods and beverages for people on the go – like single-serve milks,
soymilks, juices and yogurts – to the creamy goodness of International
Delight® coffee creamers, we make the products consumers rely on to
enhance and enrich their lives. 2004 was an important year for us. Even
as we faced an extraordinarily difficult raw material environment, we
maintained our focus on our customers, and on reducing our costs,
advancing our strategic objectives and maximizing shareholder value.
We are proud of our accomplishments in 2004 and we look forward to
continuing to enhance, enrich and sustain our customers, our consumers,
our employees, our communities and you, our shareholders.



2004 was a challenging year for Dean Foods Company.

We faced unprecedented volatility in raw milk prices,

a difficult retail grocery environment and record-high

fuel, resin and other commodity costs. These and 

certain other factors caused us to fall short of our

operating income and earnings goals for the year.

At the same time, we accomplished several 

important objectives during the year. First, our

Branded Products Group, which we have renamed

WhiteWave Foods, had an outstanding year.

WhiteWave Foods’ sales increased to $1.2 billion for

the year, with operating margins more than doubling

to 10%. We saw robust growth in all of our most

important brands. Also, our Dairy Group was able to

leverage its position as the industry’s low-cost producer

to expand its market presence, posting an approximately

1% increase in fresh milk and cream volumes,

compared to a 1% decline in overall consumption.

Finally, we took several strategic steps that I believe

well-position us to create significant shareholder

value in 2005 and beyond.

Building a Be tter Company

We began the year with the acquisition of Horizon

Organic® on January 2, 2004. As the leading brand of

organic foods in the United States, Horizon Organic

is a key addition to our branded portfolio. Net sales

of Horizon Organic products increased 24% in 2004

over 2003, which we believe indicates the considerable

growth potential of the brand.

Another meaningful strategic step was our 

acquisition in March 2004 of a license to use the

Land O’Lakes® name on certain dairy products sold

in the eastern United States. Now we have the 

exclusive right to use the Land O’Lakes brand on

most dairy products (excluding cheese and butter)

sold anywhere in the country, enabling us to effectively

invest in national advertising and promotion. The

Land O’Lakes brand is a superior brand with 

tremendous consumer loyalty and we believe it will be

a major contributor to the future growth and success

of WhiteWave Foods.

In August 2004, we announced our decision to

consolidate White Wave, Horizon Organic and the

Dean National Brand Group, which are the three

branded companies included within our WhiteWave

Foods segment, into a single, stand-alone operating

unit. This is a strategic move that we believe will 

create significant long-term value. We believe the

consolidation will allow us to go to market more 

efficiently and effectively as a single sales and 

marketing organization, and enable us to create a more

streamlined and cost-effective supply chain. The full

integration of these businesses will be a lengthy

process involving all aspects of the three companies’

operations. We are in the midst of the consolidation

and reorganization process, and we expect to com-

plete it by mid-2006.

In January of this year, we announced our intent to

pursue a tax-free spin-off of our Specialty Foods Group

to our shareholders. We were very fortunate to hire a

highly regarded management team, headed by Sam

Reed, former Chief Executive Officer of Keebler

Foods, to lead the new company. We are very 

enthusiastic about this transaction and believe that it

provides a unique opportunity to unlock value for our

shareholders. The Specialty unit’s strong operating

cash flow, combined with an unleveraged balance

sheet, will provide the new management team with

ample financing capacity for the potential expansion

of its platform through targeted acquisitions and

other initiatives. Following the spin-off, we will be

able to further sharpen our focus on our core 

businesses. This transaction, which we expect to be

completed in the third quarter of 2005, is another

demonstration of our long-standing commitment to

creating value for our shareholders.

We also took steps in 2004 to permanently 

eliminate certain operating costs from our system.

We closed 8 Dairy Group facilities in 2004 that had
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excess capacity or overlapping operations, and we

reduced headcount accordingly. The Dairy Group

responded quickly to the adverse commodity 

environment by accelerating several plant closings

scheduled for 2005 into 2004. We expect the Dairy

Group to begin to reap the benefits of its 2004 cost

reduction efforts as we move through 2005.

Outstanding Brand Performance

We made a substantial investment in marketing and

promoting our brands in 2004, and we were pleased

with the results. Silk® continued to perform well,

with sales up 33% compared to 2003. Silk® market

share in the retail grocery channel held steady at 78%,

indicating that Silk® remains the clear market leader.

We introduced several new Silk® products during the

year, and initial reactions have been favorable.

We launched our first national print advertising

campaign for Horizon Organic® in 2004 which,

when combined with expanded distribution, helped

to drive their impressive 24% increase in sales.

Sales of International Delight® increased 29% in

2004 compared to 2003. We believe the revived

momentum of International Delight® is due to 

favorable consumer reaction to the new bottle 

introduced in 2003, new products introduced during

2004, including our new low-carb formulation, and

our related marketing efforts.

Our portfolio of Land O Lakes® products also 

performed well in 2004. Sales of our Land O Lakes®

half and half increased 14%, and sales of our entire

portfolio of Land O Lakes® products increased by 

34% over 2003.

Strengthening 

Our Financial Position

We also made balance sheet improvements during

2004. We refinanced our bank facility in August to

lower our ongoing interest expense. We also 

repurchased over 9 million shares of our common

stock, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately

$297 million.

Looking Ahead 

As we look to the year ahead, we believe there is

great value-creating potential.

In the Dairy Group, we will focus on maintaining

and growing sales volumes by continuing to provide

our customers with the highest level of service, quality

and value. At the same time, we will take steps to 

further reduce our cost structure through rationalizing

our manufacturing and distribution networks and

other efficiency initiatives.

Our primary strategic objectives in 2005 are the

successful consolidation of WhiteWave Foods and the

completion of the spin-off of our Specialty Foods

Group segment. We are dedicating, and will continue

to dedicate, substantial resources to both of 

these objectives.

We also will continue to make meaningful invest-

ments in our brands. We believe that we can continue

to increase sales and profitability by wisely investing

in marketing our biggest and fastest growing brands.

As always, we will carefully analyze our balance

sheet and our portfolio of assets to ensure that we are

investing our capital where we believe returns are the

greatest, and that our resources are always properly

aligned with our strategic objectives.

I want to thank our employees for their focused

dedication and hard work throughout a challenging

year at Dean Foods. Finally, I thank you, our share-

holders, for your continued investment in and support

of our company. I look forward to reporting out-

standing results for 2005.

Gregg Engles

Chairman of the Board and CEO
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O
ur Dairy Group is the cornerstone of

our company. With a full line of dairy

products offered under dozens of strong

regional brands and private labels, this division

generates approximately 80% of our consolidated

net sales. From fresh milk and cream to yogurt and

cottage cheese, our Dairy Group offers consumers

healthy dairy choices through virtually any retail or

foodservice channel.

Enhanced Customer Value

In 2004, our Dairy Group faced the most challenging

commodity environment we have seen. Costs of

raw milk, fuel, packaging and other business 

components rose to unprecedented highs. By

focusing on what makes us successful – producing

the highest quality products, providing the highest

level of customer service and offering the greatest

value – our Dairy Group managed to grow volumes

even in this difficult environment, making the most

of our position as the industry’s low-cost producer.

Our Dairy Group continued its efforts to reduce

costs and increase efficiency throughout 2004. We

closed 8 Dairy Group facilities during the year,

consolidating production into nearby plants and

creating a more cost-effective production and 

distribution model. For our customers, our focus on

reducing costs results in our ability to deliver

3!
Drink up! 

According to the revised

USDA Dietary Guidelines

issued in 2004, three cups

a day of low-fat dairy

products should be a part

of every American’s diet. 

Dean’s Place at the Table
E n h a n c i n g , E n r i c h i n g , S u s t a i n i n g

Enriched With Natural Goodness

Dean Dairy Group



A Treat for Consumers and Shareholders

With strong regional brands like Mayfield® and PET®, as

well as many customer brands and foodservice offerings,

Dean Dairy Group produces some of the most loved ice

cream products in the country. Our ice cream net sales

were more than $875 million in 2004,

making it a sweet part of

our Dairy Group’s business.

Production Prowess:  

Dean Dairy Group Excels

in Operations

One way our Dairy Group

responds to customer needs

is by employing advanced

processing, packaging and

distribution technologies within our facilities, and adding new manufacturing

capacity when  required. In 2004, we constructed a new dairy processing facility

in North Las Vegas, allowing us to better serve area customers. Expanding our

reach and our ability to meet customer needs, the Las Vegas facility is a real winner.

5

Driving Sales and Service 

Dean Dairy Group boasts an impressive refrigerated direct-store-delivery

system. With a nationwide network of over 100 processing facilities and

approximately 6,500 routes spanning coast to coast, our ability to deliver

fresh dairy products to customers of all sizes is unmatched.

A member of our Route Sales Team – Rene Reyes, Route Salesman 

at Schepps Dairy, Dallas

greater value. We know our customers count

on us, and we are intently focused on meeting

their needs. In the long run, our efforts should

result in a better, stronger, more profitable

Dairy Group.

Serving up Good Nutrition

As consumers sharpen their focus on good health, our Dairy Group 

is poised to respond with high-quality, healthy and delicious dairy products.

With new USDA Dietary Guidelines promoting increased dairy 

consumption, as well as research linking dairy products with weight loss,

dairy products are in a position to take an even greater role in every

American’s diet. Our goal is to ensure that when consumers reach into

the dairy case, they find wholesome Dean Dairy Group products that

satisfy their every desire for good taste and good nutrition, as well as the

convenience, variety and great value they’ve come to expect from Dean.



Naturally Good

With healthier eating becoming a greater priority

for Americans, the food industry is responding

with increased offerings of nutritious products. We

are proud to be in the healthy foods business, not

in response to statistics and trends, but because 

nutritious products are at the core of what we do.

Milk and dairy foods are nutrient-rich and an

excellent source of calcium, a mineral many

Americans are lacking in their diets. One eight-

ounce glass of milk provides approximately 

300 milligrams of calcium. Calcium is crucial for

building strong bones early in life and keeping

bones dense throughout the adult years. With only

around 25% of Americans meeting the current 

calcium recommendations for their age/gender

group, low calcium intake levels are a public 

health concern.

The suggested daily calcium intake is:

n 500-800 mg. for young children 

n 1,300 mg. for adolescents 

n 1,000 mg. for adults under 51 

n 1,200 mg. for adults 51 and older 

Osteporosis is a disease that results in a steady,

progressive loss of bone density, making bones

fragile and susceptible to fractures. An estimated

10 million Americans suffer from osteoporosis

today, and another 34 million are at increased risk 

of the disease. There may be no better ally in 

the fight against osteoporosis than calcium-rich

dairy products. Calcium also decreases the risk of 

other major chronic diseases like colon cancer,

hypertension and pre-eclampsia. Not only do milk

and dairy foods provide calcium, they also contain

phosphorus, magnesium, potassium, protein, niacin

and riboflavin, as well as vitamins A, B-12 and D,

all in a unique package of nutrients that maximizes

the body’s usage of calcium. Are you getting enough?

D e a n  F o o d s  2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Fully Committed to Quality

At Dean Dairy Group, we are 100% committed to producing

high quality dairy products. Raw milk is tested immediately

upon arrival at our facilities, and is rejected if its quality is

not satisfactory. Products go through a series of quality

assurance tests throughout processing, ensuring that

quality remains consistently high throughout the process.

A member of our Quality Assurance team – 

Jodeen Meenderink, Director of Quality Assurance for

Dean Dairy Group, Southwest Region

100%
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A Plentiful Dairy Case

Dean Dairy Group strives to be the high-quality, low-cost

provider across the dairy case. From milk and cream to cultured

products, ice cream and juices, we can supply our customers

with a full array of branded and private label wholesome dairy

products. Match this with our coast-to-coast distribution network,

and it is no wonder that we are the dairy industry leader. We 

follow suit in the foodservice market, offering these important

customers the products and quality they demand with the 

convenience of one contact for all their dairy needs. Quality, 

variety and service… an unbeatable combination.

Add Ounces, Lose Pounds

Dean Dairy Group created

this cross-company

campaign to enable its

dairy brands nationwide

to spread the word 

about research linking

dairy consumption to

weight loss. 

Dairy and Weight Loss – 

A Compelling Body

of Evidence

More and more research

supports the idea that

consuming low-fat or 

no-fat dairy products may

help dieters lose more

weight than simply cutting

calories. Exciting news for

the dairy industry, and

great news for the many

Americans working to 

lose weight.
Being our customers’ supplier of choice means

consistently giving them the quality, service

and value they demand. This is our top priority

at Dean Dairy Group, and we are focused on it

year in and year out. 

O u r  G o a l

#1in Quality,
Service &
Value

“Dean Dairy Group:
providing Americans

great nutrition 
with uncompromised
flavor and quality.”



I
n August 2004, we announced our plans to 

consolidate our White Wave, Horizon Organic

and National Brand Group subsidiaries into a

single operating unit. The resulting company, now

called WhiteWave Foods Company, is one of the

most exciting aspects of our business.

Brands You Know

WhiteWave Foods sells a variety of nationally

branded soy, dairy and dairy-related products, such

as Silk® soymilk and cultured soy products,

Horizon Organic® dairy products and juices,

International Delight® coffee creamers, and 

LAND O LAKES® creamers and cultured products.

WhiteWave Foods Company also sells The 

Organic Cow of Vermont® organic dairy products;

Sun Soy® soymilk; White Wave® and TofuTownTM

tofu; Hershey’s® milks and milkshakes; Marie’s®

dips and dressings; and Naturally YoursTM sour

cream. WhiteWave Foods Company’s net sales

comprised approximately 11% of our consolidated

net sales in 2004.

A Winning Combination

By combining our 3 branded 

companies into 1, our goal is to 

create a powerful consumer branded

products company that is greater than the sum

of its parts. WhiteWave Foods Company is the largest

organic food company in the country, producing superior

products that are innovative and nutritious.

3+
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Enhancing Health, Enriching Lives,
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WhiteWave Foods
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Building a Be tter Company

We believe the consolidation of our branded businesses

into a single company will allow us to interact with

customers more efficiently and effectively as a single

sales and marketing organization, and will enable

us to create a simplified and more efficient supply

chain. In 2004, we began the consolidation of the

sales, marketing and research and development

organization for the three companies, and in 2005,

the employees of the new company will move to a

new headquarters located near Boulder, Colorado.

The full integration of these businesses will be a

lengthy process involving all aspects of the three

companies’ operations. We expect the consolidation

to be completed by mid-2006.

Delight in Every Bottle

In 2004, we began to reap the benefits of the new and improved International Delight®

bottle that was first introduced in 2003. The curvy container is designed with a flip-top spout

that can be opened and closed with one hand. In addition to the new bottle, we revamped

almost every element of our marketing mix, with new graphics, new size offerings and 

an effective new advertising campaign. With a 29% increase in net sales in 2004 over 2003,

we couldn’t be more delighted. International Delight® – an old favorite with a new look.

Simplifying the Customer’s Experience

The new WhiteWave Foods organization streamlines our sales process by giving one face to our customers

for all of our nationally branded products. For customers, this means a more simplified purchasing process

and a higher level of service. For us, it means the ability to build stronger customer relationships. It also

means new sales opportunities because our team members are now able to sell across brand lines. 

A member of our WhiteWave Foods sales team: Marcelle Smalley, 

Region Business Manager, WhiteWave Foods

Point of
Contact

9

Zero Guilt!

New this year to the

International Delight® family

are low-carb portion control

creamers, giving consumers

the benefits of a low-carb

product in a convenient

single serving that doesn’t require refrigeration. This

addition to our low-carb International Delight® line has

been a hit with consumers, and in 2004 we expanded

the line to include both French Vanilla and

Hazelnut. With these easily portable,

shelf-stable creamers, carb-

conscious consumers can

enjoy low-carb, creamy

coffee anywhere they

go – completely

guilt free! 

0!
1
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“Changing the World – 
One Acre at a Time.”

Committed to Organic Farming

We are committed to furthering organic farming. In addition to our own organic

dairy farms, we work with more than 500 family farms nationwide. We strongly

support organic family farmers and their stewardship of their animals and land.

Organic producers strive to preserve biodiversity and minimize toxic outputs,

and through eliminating harmful chemicals, nitrogen leaching, and soil erosion,

organic agriculture protects and conserves water resources.

All About Organic

Consumer demand for organic products has exploded

in the last 10 years and continues to grow. The U.S.

organic market is projected to reach $30.7 billion by

2007. Historically, organic foods were produced by

small companies with limited marketing and distribution

resources. As demand has increased, many large food

companies are adding organic offerings to their tradi-

tional product lines. We acquired Horizon Organic® in

January 2004. Having been a pioneer in the organic

food business since it was formed in 1992, Horizon

Organic® has grown into one of the organic industry’s

most recognizable and respected brands. In 2004, we

launched our first Horizon Organic® national print

advertising campaign, which when combined with

expanded distribution, drove overall brand growth by

24% in 2004. We also launched a variety of new

Horizon Organic® products in 2004, including

smoothies and new milk and juice varieties. We are

committed to continuing to provide healthy, delicious

organic products for consumers while nurturing 

the environment and supporting healthy living 

through our support of the organic industry and

organic farming.

More Simple Goodness

In 2004, we acquired rights to use the 

LAND O LAKES® label on fluid and cultured dairy

products in the eastern United States. Now we have

exclusive rights to the brand nationwide for most fluid

dairy and cultured products, allowing us to cost-

effectively embark on national marketing efforts. Our

LAND O LAKES® half & half business is the category

leader, with 2004 sales growth of 14% over 2003.

100%
100% Organic, 100% Nutritious, 100% Delicious

Horizon Organic® is the leading organic milk brand in the

country. Our products are produced without dangerous

pesticides or chemicals. The cows that supply our milk are

fed a certified organic, vegetarian diet and never given

growth hormones or antibiotics. Our organic products are

good for you and  good for the earth!
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“LAND O LAKES®:
Where Simple Goodness Begins®.”

One Smooth Serving

We introduced Horizon Organic®

smoothies in 2004. Horizon Organic®

smoothies are the first organic smoothies

made especially for kids, blending non-fat

organic yogurt with real organic fruit juices.

They are a good source of calcium and 

vitamin C and are enriched with NutraFlora®, which

increases calcium absorption.

1
Simply Sweet

New to our LAND O LAKES®

line in 2004 are several

varieties of aerosol

toppings, including a 

no-carb version. Perfect

for adding a sweet ending

to fruit or desserts, these

toppings put the purity and

quality of LAND O LAKES®

at your fingertips.

More LAND O LAKES® Goodness

Our current line of LAND O LAKES® products includes whipping cream, sour

cream, yogurt, cottage cheese, milk and eggnog. Our LAND O LAKES® half & half

is the leading nationally branded half & half and the first fat-free half & half.
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“A better world is 
closer than you think.”

Good For You, Good for the Planet

WhiteWave Foods is committed to leadership in environmental stewardship and

to conducting business in a way that improves and sustains our world. We are

committed to supporting and promoting sustainable farming practices. We also

are a proud supporter of organizations committed to sustainability, such as

Trees for the Future, Beyond Pesticides, National Wildlife Federation, Heifer

International and Undo It.

In 2004, we  were recognized by the EPA for our positive impact on the 

environment with the EPA Green Power Partnership award. 

Enhanced Distr ibut ion

As the first player in the refrigerated soymilk category,

Silk® has been integral in bringing soymilk into the

American mainstream. We estimate that Silk® has

been enjoyed in close to 19 million American homes.

Now consumers can find Silk® in more places than

ever before, including conventional grocery stores, club

stores and convenience stores. Whether the popularity

of Silk® comes from its great taste or the growing 

evidence of its health attributes, it is quickly becoming

a well-known, highly recognized and trusted brand.

Enr iching Health

Silk® has no cholesterol, added calcium and vitamins,

and a healthy dose of Omega 3 and Omega 6 fatty

acids. Studies have shown that Silk® may reduce the

risk of heart disease and promising research also 

indicates that soy may increase the quality and density

of bones and may help prevent certain types of cancer.

Susta ined Per formance

In 2004, Silk® continued to show strong results, with

net sales growing 33% over 2003. Silk® ended 2004

with an approximately 78% market share in the retail

grocery channel, which indicates that Silk® is clearly

maintaining its leadership position in the refrigerated

soymilk category. Also in 2004, Silk® launched five

new items that generated more than $50 million in

incremental growth: Very Vanilla, Enhanced,

Unsweetened, Kids Silk® and Silk® Live™! These

introductions are consistent with our strategy of 

offering products that meet consumers’ needs at

every stage of life with appealing nutrient content,

taste and packaging design. As the clear leader in a

relatively young category, Silk® has very exciting

growth potential.

High Culture

Silk® Live™! hit the market in late 2004 and is

already making waves. This cultured soy and

fruit smoothie has 6 active cultures that boost

immunity and aid digestion, and is packed with

19 nutrients and 7 grams of whole, organic soy protein.

Boost your energy and strengthen your immune system –

all with one bottle.

6
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Double Your Soy

As Silk®’s growth continued, we realized that more and more 

consumers are purchasing more than one half-gallon of Silk® at

a time. As part of our continuing efforts to meet the needs of

consumers, we introduced the Silk® Twin Pack in 2004. The Twin

Pack includes two half-gallon cartons in an easy-to-carry box. The

paper cartons allow for a longer shelf-life than the plastic gallon

container traditionally used for milk. Twin Packs are currently offered in organic plain and

vanilla, the two best-selling flavors of Silk®. Twice the good taste, twice the convenience,

twice the nutrition.

Kids Love Silk® Too

Silk® Kids packs are available in three flavors including vanilla, chocolate and strawberry.

Each pack includes eight, 6.5-ounce cartons featuring kid-friendly animal artwork. These

shelf-stable, no-spill soymilks are easy for kids to take in the lunchbox, in the car or on 

the go. In addition to great taste and kid-friendly packaging, Silk® Kids also features less

sugar than most juices, plus added calcium and other nutrients. A look and taste that kids

love with the convenience and nutrition that moms demand.

Seal of Approval

All Horizon Organic® and many

Silk® products are certified

organic products, in accordance

with USDA standards. We are

committed to these standards

and are taking an active role in

working with the National

Organic Standards Board to

ensure the industry as a whole

maintains its high level of

integrity. We proudly support

a number of organizations

promoting the organic industry,

including the Organic Trade

Association and The Organic

Center for Education & Promotion.

2!

Salute to America’s Farmers

As supporters of organic agriculture, Silk® and

Horizon Organic® are proud sponsors of Farm

Aid, an annual concert that raises funds to help

farmers keep their land. We are the largest

purchaser of organic soybeans and organic milk

in the country, so American farmers are at the

heart of what makes our business possible.



Organic Goodness Overseas

Rachel’s Organic® is the #1 organic

milk brand in the United Kingdom. The

company got its start in 1982 in

Aberystwyth, Wales. Rachel’s Organic®

milk offerings include both fresh and

shelf-stable milk in several varieties.

#1

Dean’s Place at the Table
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Enhancing Nutrition Internationally

International

O
ur International division continues to

be an important part of our business.

Currently, our International division is

comprised of our Celta® business in Spain and

Portugal, and our Rachel’s Organic® business in the

United Kingdom.

Organic  Abroad

Effective January 1, 2005, we moved the Rachel’s

Organic® business that we acquired as part of the

Horizon Organic acquisition into our International

division. Rachel’s Organic® is a premium brand in

the United Kingdom, with the leading position in

organic milk and the #2 position in organic yogurt.

Rachel’s Organic® also offers a high-end line of

Divine Rice® desserts, and has recently entered the

children’s market through the introduction of 

Little Rachel’s Organic® Fruit Yogurts. Research

shows that consumers view Rachel’s Organic® as a

homemade, pure, high-quality product, and we
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Celta® Adds Convenience

Celta® introduced new

screw tops on its 2-liter

milk packaging in 2004,

offering consumers added

convenience, better storage

and easier pouring. The

milks are available in

whole, semi-skimmed and

skimmed varieties.

A Little Organic Goodness

Rachel’s Organic® yogurts are the #2 player in

the U.K. market. Rachel’s Organic® launched a

popular yogurt 4-pack in 2004, as well as Little

Rachel’s Organic® Fruit Yogurts, the first in a

line of organic dairy products made especially

for toddlers.

#2

believe this strong brand equity creates exciting

opportunities for the brand in the future.

A Sol id Foundat ion

We believe we have a solid international business

with our existing Celta® and Rachel’s Organic®

brands. We have grown our U.S. businesses smartly

through acquisition, building scale and synergies

and effectively marketing our products. We will

approach any expansion of our International 

business with the same model and with the same

goals – to be a leading provider of healthy and 

delicious foods for consumers and to provide our

customers with the highest level of service possible.

Grand Opening in Portugal

Celta® expanded its presence in Iberia in 2004 by building a plant in Alpiarca, Portugal, northeast of

Lisbon. The new plant, opened in the fourth quarter of 2004, employs 55 workers and produces various milk

products, butter and cream. Among the plant’s first distinguished guests was Portugal’s Prime Minister

José Sócrates. 

A member of our new Celta Portugal team – Filipe Vicente, Plant Foreman

New Omega 3 Milk from Celta®

Celta® Spain introduced milk enriched with Omega 3 in

2004. This fortified milk includes all the nutrients in 

regular milk, plus Omega 3 fatty acids that can protect

against heart disease. 

D e a n  F o o d s  2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t
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Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data as of and for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2004 has been derived from our audited
Consolidated Financial Statements. The selected financial data do not purport to indicate results of operations as of any future date or for any
future period. The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes.

Year Ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands except share data) 2004 2003 2002(1) 2001(1) 2000(1)

Operating data:
Net sales(2) $10,822,285 $9,184,616 $8,991,464 $5,974,555 $5,499,712
Cost of sales 8,257,756 6,808,207 6,642,773 4,574,258 4,150,170
Gross profit 2,564,529 2,376,409 2,348,691 1,400,297 1,349,542
Operating costs and expenses:

Selling and distribution 1,512,507 1,345,065 1,321,763 794,937 756,445
General and administrative 349,683 317,342 337,496 176,642 174,353
Amortization of intangibles(3) 6,650 4,949 7,775 51,361 49,776
Facility closing and reorganization costs 34,695 11,787 19,050 9,550 2,747
Other operating (income) expense(4) (5,899) (68,719) – (17,306) 7,500

Total operating costs and expenses 1,897,636 1,610,424 1,686,084 1,015,184 990,821
Operating income 666,893 765,985 662,607 385,113 358,721
Other (income) expense:

Interest expense(5) 204,770 181,134 197,685 103,820 99,329
Financing charges on trust issued preferred securities – 14,164 33,578 33,581 33,595
Equity in (earnings) losses of unconsolidated affiliates – (244) 7,899 23,620 (11,453)
Other (income) expense, net (253) (2,625) 2,660 4,817 (233)

Total other expense 204,517 192,429 241,822 165,838 121,238
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 462,376 573,556 420,785 219,275 237,483
Income taxes 177,002 217,853 152,988 80,160 92,489
Minority interest in earnings(6) – – 46 31,431 29,911
Income from continuing operations 285,374 355,703 267,751 107,684 115,083
Loss on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax – – (8,231) – –
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax – – 879 3,592 3,636
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change 285,374 355,703 260,399 111,276 118,719
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax – – (84,983) (1,446) –

Net income 285,374 $ 355,703 $ 175,416 $ 109,830 $ 118,719
Basic earnings per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 1.85 $ 2.45 $ 1.98 $ 1.28 $ 1.36
Income (loss) from discontinued operations – – (.05) .04 .04
Cumulative effect of accounting change – – (.63) (.02) –

Net income $ 1.85 $ 2.45 $ 1.30 $ 1.30 $ 1.40
Diluted earnings per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 1.78 $ 2.27 $ 1.77 $ 1.17 $ 1.24
Income (loss) from discontinued operations – – (.05) .03 .03
Cumulative effect of accounting change – – (.51) (.01) –

Net income $ 1.78 $ 2.27 $ 1.21 $ 1.19 $ 1.27
Average common shares:

Basic 154,635,979 145,201,412 135,031,274 84,454,194 84,585,129
Diluted 160,704,576 160,695,670 163,163,904 110,676,222 110,013,792

Other data:
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges

and preferred stock dividends(7) 3.10x 3.53x 2.78x 2.86x 2.68x
Balance sheet data (at end of period):

Total assets $ 7,756,368 $6,992,536 $6,582,266 $6,691,897 $3,780,478
Long-term debt(8) 3,257,259 2,791,514 2,727,924 3,068,497 1,353,269
Other long-term liabilities 341,531 279,823 312,110 196,189 53,753
Mandatorily redeemable convertible trust

issued preferred securities – – 585,177 584,605 584,032
Total stockholders’ equity 2,661,137 2,542,813 1,643,293 1,475,880 598,832

(1) Balances for 2000 through 2002 have been adjusted to remove our Puerto Rico operations, which have been reclassified as discontinued operations.
(2) Net sales have been restated to reflect the adoption of Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 01-09 “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer.”

The net effect was to decrease net sales by $33.7 million and $29.9 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively. There was no impact on our net income as a result of the adoption of this issue.
(3) On January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which requires, among other things,

that goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives no longer be amortized and that recognized intangible assets with finite lives be amortized over their respective
useful lives. As required by SFAS No. 142, our results for periods prior to 2002 have not been restated.

(4) Results for 2004 include a gain of $5.9 million primarily related to the settlement of litigation. Results for 2003 include a gain of $66.2 million on the sale of our frozen pre-
whipped topping and frozen creamer operations and a gain of $2.5 million related to the divestiture of 11 facilities in 2001. Results for 2001 include a gain of $47.5 million on
the divestiture of 11 facilities offset by an expense of $28.5 million resulting from a payment to a supplier as consideration for modifications to an agreement and an impairment
charge of $1.7 million on a water plant. Results in 2000 include litigation settlement costs of $7.5 million.

(5) Results for 2004 include a charge of $32.6 million to write-off deferred financing costs related to the refinancing of our credit facility. Results for 2001 and 2000 have been
restated to reflect the adoption of SFAS No. 145 “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13 and Technical Corrections.” Gains
and losses that were previously recorded as extraordinary items related to the early extinguishment of debt, which were a $7.3 million loss in 2001 and a $7.7 million gain in
2000, have been reclassified to interest expense. There was no effect on net income.

(6) In December 2001, in connection with our acquisition of the former Dean Foods Company (“Legacy Dean”), we purchased Dairy Farmers of America’s 33.8% interest in our Dairy Group.
(7) For purposes of calculating the ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends, “earnings” represents income before income taxes plus fixed charges. “Fixed

charges” consist of interest on all debt, amortization of deferred financing costs and the portion of rental expense that we believe is representative of the interest component of rent expense.
(8) Includes amounts outstanding under subsidiary lines of credit and the current portion of long-term debt.
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Business  Overview

We are a leading food and beverage company. Our Dairy Group is the largest processor and distributor of milk and various other dairy

products in the United States. The Dairy Group manufactures and sells its products under a variety of local and regional brand names and

under customer private labels. Our WhiteWave Foods Company manufactures, markets and sells a variety of well known soy, dairy and

dairy-related nationally branded products including, for example: Silk® soymilk and cultured soy products; Horizon Organic® dairy products,

juices and other products; International Delight® coffee creamers; Marie’s® refrigerated dips and dressings; and LAND O’ LAKES® fluid

dairy and cultured products. Our Specialty Foods Group is the leading private label pickle processor in the United States and a maker of a

variety of other food products. In January 2005, we announced our intention to pursue a tax-free spin-off of our Specialty Foods Group

segment to our shareholders. See “– Developments Since January 1, 2004 – Tax Free Spin-Off of Specialty Foods Group.” We also own the

fourth largest dairy processor in Spain.

Dairy Group – Our Dairy Group segment is our largest segment, with approximately 80% of our consolidated sales in 2004. Our Dairy

Group manufactures, markets and distributes a wide variety of branded and private label dairy case products, such as milk, cream, ice

cream, cultured dairy products and juices to retailers, distributors, foodservice outlets, schools and governmental entities across the United

States. The Dairy Group also manufactures a portion of the products marketed and sold by WhiteWave Foods Company. Due to the

perishable nature of the Dairy Group’s products, our Dairy Group delivers the majority of its products directly to its customers’ stores in

refrigerated trucks or trailers that we own or lease. This form of delivery is called a “direct store delivery” or “DSD” system and we believe

we have one of the most extensive refrigerated DSD systems in the United States. The Dairy Group sells its products primarily on a local

or regional basis through its local and regional sales forces, although some national customer relationships are coordinated by the Dairy

Group’s corporate sales department. Most of the Dairy Group’s customers, including its largest customer, purchase products from the 

Dairy Group either by purchase order or pursuant to contracts that are generally terminable at will by the customer. The Dairy Group’s

sales are slightly seasonal, with sales tending to be higher in the third and fourth quarters.

The dairy industry is a mature industry that has traditionally been characterized by slow to flat growth, low profit margins,

fragmentation and excess capacity. Excess capacity resulted from the development of more efficient manufacturing techniques, the

establishment of captive dairy manufacturing operations by some grocery retailers and declining demand for fluid milk products. Since

1990, the dairy industry has experienced significant consolidation led in part by us. Consolidation has tended to lower costs and raise

efficiency. However, consumption of traditional fluid dairy products has continued to decline. According to the United States Department

of Agriculture, per capita consumption of fluid milk and cream decreased by over 10% from 1990 to the end of 2003, although total

consumption has remained relatively flat over the same period due to population increases. Therefore, volume sales growth across the

industry generally remains flat to modest, profit margins generally remain low and excess manufacturing capacity continues to exist. In this

environment, price competition is particularly intense, as smaller processors struggle to retain enough volume to cover their fixed costs. In

response to this dynamic, in addition to the significant competitive pressure caused by the ongoing consolidation among food retailers,

many processors, including us, are now placing an increased emphasis on product differentiation, and cost reduction in an effort to increase

consumption, sales and margins.

Our Dairy Group has several competitors in each of our major product and geographic markets. Competition between dairy processors

for shelf-space with retailers is based primarily on price, service and quality, while competition for consumer sales is based on a variety of

factors such as brand recognition, price, taste preference and quality. Dairy products also compete with many other beverages and

nutritional products for consumer sales.

WhiteWave Foods Company – The WhiteWave Foods Company’s operations have historically been conducted through three distinct

operating units: White Wave, Inc. (“White Wave”), Horizon Organic and Dean National Brand Group. We are currently in the process of

consolidating these three operating units and expect the consolidation to be completed in 2006. WhiteWave Foods Company

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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manufactures, develops, markets and sells a variety of nationally-branded soy, dairy and dairy-related products, such as Silk soymilk 

and cultured soy products; Horizon Organic dairy products, juices and other products; International Delight coffee creamers; and 

LAND O’LAKES creamers and cultured products. WhiteWave Foods Company also sells Sun Soy® soymilk; The Organic Cow of Vermont®

organic dairy products; White Wave® and Tofu Town® branded tofu; Hershey’s® milks and milkshakes; Marie’s dips and dressings; and

Naturally Yours® sour cream. We license the LAND O’LAKES and Hershey’s names from third parties.

WhiteWave Foods Company sells its products to a variety of customers, including grocery stores, club stores, natural foods stores, mass

merchandisers, convenience stores and foodservice outlets. In 2004, approximately 84% of WhiteWave Foods Company’s sales were to

retailers and approximately 8% were to foodservice outlets. WhiteWave Foods Company’s customer base is diverse, with no single customer

representing more than 10% of sales in 2004. WhiteWave Foods Company sells its products through its internal sales force and through

independent brokers. The majority of WhiteWave Foods Company’s products are sold pursuant to customer purchase order or pursuant to

contracts that are generally terminable at will by the customer.

WhiteWave Foods Company has several competitors in each of its product markets. Competition to obtain shelf-space with retailers for

a particular product is based primarily on the expected or historical sales performance of the product compared to its competitors. Also, in

some cases, WhiteWave Foods Company pays fees to retailers to obtain shelf-space for a particular product. Competition for consumer

sales is based on many different factors, including brand recognition, price, taste preferences and quality. Consumer demand for soy and

organic foods has grown rapidly in recent years due to growing consumer confidence in the health benefits of soy and organic foods, and

WhiteWave Foods Company has a leading position in the soy and organic foods category. However, our soy and organic food products

compete with many other beverages and nutritional products for consumer sales.

Specialty Foods Group – Our Specialty Foods Group is the nation’s leading private label pickle processor, and one of the largest

manufacturers and sellers of non-dairy powdered creamer in the United States. The Specialty Foods Group also manufactures and sells a

variety of other foods, such as aseptic sauces and puddings. In January 2005 we announced our intention to pursue a tax-free spin-off of

our Specialty Foods Group segment. See “– Developments since January 1, 2004.”

The Specialty Foods Group’s products are delivered to customers’ stores and warehouses primarily by common carrier. The Specialty

Foods Group sells its products through its internal sales force and through independent brokers. Most of the Specialty Foods Group’s

customers purchase products from the Specialty Foods Group either by purchase order or pursuant to contracts that are generally

terminable at will by the customer.

The Specialty Foods Group has several competitors in each of its product markets. In sales of private label products, the principal

competitive factors are price relative to other private label suppliers, product quality and quality of service. For the Specialty Foods Group’s

branded products, competition to obtain shelf-space with retailers is based on the expected or historical sales performance of the product

compared to its competitors. In certain cases, the Specialty Foods Group pays fees to retailers to obtain shelf-space for a particular

company-branded product. Competition for consumer sales is based on brand recognition, price, taste preferences, and quality.

International Group – Our International Group, which does not qualify as a reportable segment, manufactures, markets and sells private

label and branded milk, butter and cream through its internal sales force to retailers and distributors across Spain and Portugal. Also,

effective January 1, 2005, our Rachel’s Organic Dairy business, which has historically been part of Horizon Organic’s operations, was

transferred to the International Group.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Developments Since January 1, 2004

Reorganization of WhiteWave Foods Company – In the third quarter of 2004, we announced our intention to consolidate the three

businesses included within our WhiteWave Foods Company segment (formerly the Branded Products Group segment) into a single

operating unit. We believe this consolidation will allow us to interact with customers more efficiently and effectively as a single sales and

marketing organization, and will enable us to create a simplified and more efficient supply chain for our branded business. We have

completed the consolidation of the sales, marketing and research and development organization for the three companies, and in the third

quarter of 2005, the employees of the new company will move to a new headquarters located in Broomfield, Colorado. The full integration

of these businesses will be a lengthy process involving all aspects of the three companies’ operations, including purchasing, manufacturing,

distribution and administration, and will include the selection and implementation of a new information technology platform. As part of

our overall reorganization of WhiteWave Foods Company into a unified branded consumer packaged goods company, we also intend to

bring in-house certain manufacturing activities that are currently being done by third parties.

In addition, effective March 11, 2005, Mr. Steve Demos, President of WhiteWave Foods Company resigned his position. We have

retained a leading executive recruiting firm to assist in the search for a new president. Mr. Gregg Engles, our Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer, has assumed direct leadership of WhiteWave Foods Company on an interim basis.

Tax-Free Spin-Off of Specialty Foods Group – On January 27, 2005, we announced our intent to pursue a tax-free spin-off of our Specialty

Foods Group. The spin-off will create a publicly traded food manufacturing company serving the retail grocery and foodservice markets

with approximately 1,800 employees and estimated 2005 net sales of over $700 million. Also effective January 27, 2005, we hired a

management team, headed by Sam Reed, former CEO of Keebler Foods Company, to lead the new company. In conjunction with their

employment, the management team made a cash investment of $10 million in the Specialty Foods Group, representing 1.7% ownership of

the new business.

As part of the spin-off, we intend to transfer our Mocha Mix® non-dairy creamer, Second Nature® egg substitute and foodservice salad

dressings businesses to the Specialty Foods Group from WhiteWave Foods Company and our Dairy Group.

The spin-off is intended to take the form of a tax-free distribution to our shareholders of a new publicly traded stock, which we expect

to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange. We expect the spin-off to be completed in the third quarter of 2005, subject to confirmation

by the Internal Revenue Service of the tax-free nature of the transaction, registration of the new security with the Securities and Exchange

Commission and other customary closing conditions.

Acquisitions

Milk Products of Alabama – On October 15, 2004, our Dairy Group acquired Milk Products of Alabama, a dairy manufacturer based in

Decatur, Alabama. Milk Products of Alabama had net sales of approximately $34 million in 2003. As a result of this acquisition, we have

expanded our production capabilities in the southeastern United States, allowing us to better serve our customers. Milk Products of

Alabama’s results of operations are now included in the Morningstar division of our Dairy Group. We paid approximately $23.2 million for

the purchase of Milk Products of Alabama, including costs of acquisition, and funded the purchase price with borrowings under our senior

credit facility.

Tiger Foods – On May 31, 2004, Leche Celta, our Spanish subsidiary, acquired Tiger Foods, a dairy processing business with one facility

located in Avila, Spain. Tiger Foods, which had net sales of approximately $29 million in 2003, manufactures and distributes branded and

private label UHT milk and dairy-based drinks throughout Spain, with an emphasis in the southern and central regions. Tiger Foods’

operations complement our Spanish operations and we expect this acquisition to allow us to reduce our transportation costs for raw milk

and finished products due to the new facility’s geographic proximity to our raw milk suppliers and certain customers. We paid

approximately $21.9 million for the purchase of the company, all of which was funded with borrowings under our senior credit facility.
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Soy Processing Facility – On April 5, 2004, our WhiteWave Foods Company acquired a soy processing and packaging facility located in

Bridgeton, New Jersey. Prior to the acquisition, the previous owner of the facility co-packed Silk products for us at the facility. As a result of

the acquisition, we have increased our in-house processing and packaging capabilities for our soy products, resulting in cost reductions. We

paid approximately $25.7 million for the purchase of the facility, all of which was funded using borrowings under our senior credit facility.

LAND O’LAKES East – In 2002, we purchased a perpetual license to use the LAND O’LAKES brand on certain dairy products nationally,

excluding cheese and butter. This perpetual license was subject, however, to a pre-existing sublicense entitling a competitor to manufacture

and sell cream, sour cream and whipping cream in certain channels in the eastern United States. Effective March 31, 2004, we acquired

that sublicense and certain customer relationships of the sublicensee (“LAND O’LAKES East”) for an aggregate purchase price of

approximately $17 million, all of which was funded using borrowings under our senior credit facility. We now have the exclusive right to

use the LAND O’LAKES brand on certain dairy products (other than cheese and butter) throughout the entire United States.

Ross Swiss Dairies – On January 26, 2004, our Dairy Group acquired Ross Swiss Dairies, a dairy distributor based in Los Angeles,

California, which had net sales of approximately $120 million in 2003. As a result of this acquisition, we have increased the distribution

capability of our Dairy Group in southern California, allowing us to better serve our customers. Ross Swiss Dairies has historically

purchased a significant portion of its products from other processors. Now the majority of products distributed by Ross Swiss Dairies are

manufactured in our southern California facilities. We paid approximately $21.8 million, including transaction costs, for the purchase of

Ross Swiss Dairies and funded the purchase price with borrowings under our receivables-backed facility.

Horizon Organic – On January 2, 2004, we completed the acquisition of the 87% of Horizon Organic Holding Corporation (“Horizon

Organic”) that we did not already own. Horizon Organic had sales of over $200 million during 2003. We already owned approximately

13% of the outstanding common stock of Horizon Organic as a result of investments made in 1998. Third-party co-packers, including us,

have historically done all of Horizon Organic’s manufacturing. During 2003, we produced approximately 27% of Horizon Organic’s fluid

dairy products. We also distributed Horizon Organic’s products in several parts of the country. Horizon Organic is a leading branded

organic foods company in the United States. Because organic foods are gaining popularity with consumers and because Horizon Organic’s

products offer consumers an alternative to our Dairy Group’s traditional dairy products, we believe Horizon Organic is an important

addition to our portfolio of brands. The aggregate purchase price for the 87% of Horizon Organic that we did not already own was

approximately $287 million, including approximately $217 million of cash paid to Horizon Organic’s stockholders, the repayment of

approximately $40 million of borrowings under Horizon Organic’s former credit facility, and transaction expenses of approximately 

$9 million, all of which was funded using borrowings under our senior credit facility and our receivables-backed facility. In addition, each 

of the options to purchase Horizon Organic’s common stock outstanding on January 2, 2004 was converted into an option to purchase

.7301 shares of our stock, with an aggregate fair value of approximately $21 million. Beginning with the first quarter of 2004, Horizon

Organic’s financial results are reported in our WhiteWave Foods Company segment.

See Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information about our acquisitions.

Facility Closing and Reorganization Activities

As part of our continued reorganization and cost reduction efforts in our Dairy Group, we closed eight Dairy Group facilities in 2004.

The closed facilities were located in Lansing, Michigan; Wilkesboro, North Carolina; Madison, Wisconsin; Sulphur Springs, Texas; San

Leandro and South Gate, California; Westwego, Louisiana and Pocatello, Idaho.

On September 7, 2004, we announced our plan to exit the nutritional beverages business operated by our Specialty Foods Group

segment, including the closure of a manufacturing facility in Benton Harbor, Michigan. In 2004, we experienced significant declines in
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volume on this product line and we believed those volumes could not be replaced without a significant investment in capital and research

and development. We ceased nutritional beverages production in December 2004.

We recorded a total of approximately $34.7 million in facility closing and reorganization costs during 2004. We expect to incur additional

charges related to these restructuring plans of approximately $7.1 million, primarily in 2005. These charges include the following costs:

n Workforce reductions as a result of facility closings, facility reorganizations and consolidation of administrative functions;

n Shutdown costs, including those costs necessary to prepare abandoned facilities for closure;

n Costs incurred after shutdown such as lease obligations or termination costs, utilities and property taxes;

n Costs associated with the reorganization of WhiteWave Foods Company’s supply chain and distribution activities, including termination

of certain contractual agreements; and

n Write-downs of property, plant and equipment and other assets, primarily for asset impairments as a result of facilities that are no longer

used in operations. The impairments relate primarily to owned buildings, land and equipment at the facilities, which are written down to

their estimated fair value and held for sale.

See Note 15 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding our facility closing and reorganization activities.

Construction of New Facilities

During 2004, our Dairy Group completed construction of a new dairy manufacturing and distribution facility in Las Vegas, Nevada. This

facility commenced operations in the third quarter of 2004 and allows us to better serve the southern Nevada, Arizona and southern

Colorado markets. In addition, Leche Celta finished construction of our first dairy manufacturing facility in Portugal in the fourth quarter

of 2004. The new facility is located in Alpiarca, Portugal and commenced production in December 2004. The new facility allows us to

expand our Iberian operations.

Stock Buyback

During 2004, we spent approximately $297 million, including commissions and fees, to repurchase 9.3 million shares of our common stock

for an average purchase price of $31.90 per share. At March 11, 2005, approximately $118 million remained available under our current

authorization. See Note 11 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Amendment to Credit Facility

In August 2004, we amended our senior credit facility to (1) increase the size of our revolving credit facility from $1 billion to $1.5 billion,

(2) increase the size of our term loan A from $850 million to $1.5 billion, (3) eliminate term loans B and C and (4) modify the interest rate

and payment terms. When we amended our credit facility, we were required to write-off approximately $32.6 million of deferred financing

costs that were incurred in connection with our credit facility prior to the amendment. These costs were being amortized over the previous

terms of the revolving credit facility and term loans. See Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Results of Operations

The following table presents certain information concerning our financial results, including information presented as a percentage of net sales.
Year Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent Dollars Percent

Net sales $10,822.3 100.0% $9,184.6 100.0% $8,991.5 100.0%

Cost of sales 8,257.8 76.3 6,808.2 74.1 6,642.8 73.9

Gross profit 2,564.5 23.7 2,376.4 25.9 2,348.7 26.1

Operating costs and expenses:

Selling and distribution 1,512.5 14.0 1,345.1 14.6 1,321.8 14.7

General and administrative 349.7 3.2 317.3 3.5 337.5 3.7

Amortization of intangibles 6.6 0.1 4.9 0.1 7.8 0.1

Facility closing and reorganization costs 34.7 0.3 11.8 0.1 19.0 0.2

Other operating income (5.9) (0.1) (68.7) (0.7) – –

Total operating costs and expenses 1,897.6 17.5 1,610.4 17.6 1,686.1 18.7

Total operating income $ 666.9 6.2% $ 766.0 8.3% $ 662.6 7.4%

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003 – Consolidated Results

Net Sales – Consolidated net sales increased approximately 17.8% to $10.82 billion during 2004 from $9.18 billion in 2003. Net sales by

segment are shown in the table below.
Net Sales

$ Increase/ % Increase/
(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 (Decrease) (Decrease)

Dairy Group $ 8,646.4 $7,542.1 $1,104.3 14.6%

WhiteWave Foods Company 1,188.4 713.4 475.0 66.6

Specialty Foods Group 676.8 684.2 (7.4) (1.1)

Corporate/Other 310.7 244.9 65.8 26.9

Total $10,822.3 $9,184.6 $1,637.7 17.8%

The change in net sales was due to the following:

Change in Net Sales 2004 vs. 2003

Pricing, Volume Total
Foreign and Product Increase/

(In millions) Acquisitions Divestitures Exchange Mix Changes (Decrease)

Dairy Group $386.2 $(26.2) $ – $744.3 $1,104.3

WhiteWave Foods Company 282.8 (4.0) – 196.2 475.0

Specialty Foods Group 6.7 – – (14.1) (7.4)

Corporate/Other 18.0 – 28.1 19.7 65.8

Total $693.7 $(30.2) $28.1 $946.1 $1,637.7

Net sales increased approximately $1.64 billion during 2004 compared to the prior year primarily due to higher selling prices resulting from

the pass-through of increased raw milk costs and due to acquisitions. We acquired Kohler Mix Specialties, Melody Farms and Ross Swiss

Dairies in our Dairy Group segment; Horizon Organic and LAND O’LAKES East in our WhiteWave Foods Company segment; Cremora®

in our Specialty Foods Group segment; and Tiger Foods in our Corporate/Other segment.
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Cost of Sales – All expenses incurred to bring a product to completion are included in cost of sales, such as raw material, ingredient and

packaging costs; labor costs; plant and equipment costs, including costs to operate and maintain our coolers and freezers; and costs associated

with transporting our finished products from our manufacturing facilities to our own distribution facilities. Our cost of sales ratio increased

to 76.3% in 2004 compared to 74.1% in 2003 due almost entirely to increased raw material costs that affected all of our segments in 2004.

Operating Costs and Expenses – Our operating expenses increased approximately $287.2 million, or approximately 17.8%, during 2004

versus the prior year. Operating expenses increased primarily due to the following:

n Acquisitions, which we estimate represented approximately $118 million of the increase.

n A $62.8 million decline in other operating income compared to last year primarily due to a $66.2 million gain on the sale of our frozen

pre-whipped topping business that reduced operating expenses in 2003.

n Higher fuel costs across all segments and increased volumes at the WhiteWave Foods Company, which we estimate added a combined

total of approximately $29 million to distribution costs for 2004 as compared to last year.

n Net facility closing and reorganization costs that were approximately $22.9 million higher than 2003.

n Corporate expenses that were approximately $10 million higher than last year, including higher professional fees and legal fees primarily

related to the reorganization of our WhiteWave Foods Company, increased transactional activity and higher regulatory compliance fees.

Our operating expense ratio was consistent at 17.5% for 2004 as compared to 17.6% for 2003.

Operating Income – Operating income during 2004 was $666.9 million, a decrease of $99.1 million from 2003 operating income of $766

million. This decrease was primarily due to the $66.2 million gain on the sale of our frozen pre-whipped topping business in 2003. Our

operating margin in 2004 was 6.2% compared to 8.3% in 2003. Our operating margin decreased primarily as a result of higher raw material

costs and the effect of increased sales.

Other (Income) Expense – Total other (income) expense increased by $12.1 million in 2004 compared to 2003. Interest expense increased

to $204.8 million in 2004 from $181.1 million in 2003, primarily due to a charge of $32.6 million in 2004 to write-off deferred financing

costs related to our senior credit facility amended in August 2004. This charge was partially offset by lower interest expense due to lower

interest rates during 2004. There were no financing charges on preferred securities in 2004 as compared to $14.2 million in 2003. Our

convertible preferred securities were converted into common stock in the second quarter of 2003. See Note 10 to our Consolidated

Financial Statements.

Income Taxes – Income tax expense was recorded at an effective rate of 38.3% in 2004 compared to 38.0% in 2003. Our effective tax rate

varies based on the relative earnings of our business units.

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003 – Results by Segment

As noted above, we had three reportable segments in 2004: the Dairy Group, WhiteWave Foods Company and the Specialty Foods Group.

The key performance indicators of our segments are sales volumes, gross profit and operating income.
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Dairy Group – 
Year Ended December 31

2004 2003

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent

Net sales $8,646.4 100.0% $7,542.1 100.0%

Cost of sales 6,655.3 77.0 5,619.4 74.5

Gross profit 1,991.1 23.0 1,922.7 25.5

Operating costs and expenses 1,396.6 16.1 1,281.7 17.0

Total operating income $ 594.5 6.9% $ 641.0 8.5%

The Dairy Group’s net sales increased by approximately $1.10 billion, or 14.6%, in 2004 versus 2003. The change in net sales from 2003

to 2004 was due to the following:

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent

2003 Net sales $7,542.1

Acquisitions 386.2 5.1%

Divestitures (26.2) (0.4)

Volume 6.3 0.1

Pricing and product mix 738.0 9.8

2004 Net sales $8,646.4 14.6%

The increase in the Dairy Group’s net sales due to pricing and product mix shown in the above table primarily results from increased

pricing due to the pass through of higher raw milk costs in 2004. In general, our Dairy Group changes the prices it charges customers for

fluid dairy products on a monthly basis, as the costs of raw materials fluctuate. Because of competitive pressures, the price increases do not

reflect the entire increase in raw material costs that we experienced. The following table sets forth the average monthly Class I “mover” and

average monthly Class II minimum prices for raw skim milk and butterfat for 2004 compared to 2003:

Year Ended December 31*

2004 2003 % Change

Class I raw skim milk mover(1) $8.44(2) $7.47(2) 13%

Class I butterfat mover(1) 1.95(3) 1.19(3) 64

Class II raw skim milk minimum(4) 6.90(2) 6.74(2) 2

Class II butterfat minimum(4) 2.06(3) 1.22(3) 69

* The prices noted in this table are not the prices that we actually pay. The minimum prices applicable at any given location for Class I raw skim milk or Class I butterfat are based on the Class I
mover plus a location differential. Class II prices noted in the table are federal minimum prices, applicable at all locations. Our actual cost also includes producer premiums, procurement costs
and other related charges that vary by location and vendor. Please see “Part I – Item 1. Business – Government Regulation – Milk Industry Regulation” and “– Known Trends and Uncertainties
– Prices of Raw Milk, Cream and Other Inputs” for a more complete description of raw milk pricing.

(1) We process Class I raw skim milk and butterfat into fluid milk products.
(2) Prices are per hundredweight.
(3) Prices are per pound.
(4) We process Class II raw skim milk and butterfat into products such as cottage cheese, creams and creamers, ice cream and sour cream.

The other primary cause of the increase in the Dairy Group’s net sales was acquisitions. The Dairy Group acquired Milk Products of

Alabama in October 2004, Ross Swiss Dairies in January 2004, Kohler Mix Specialties in October 2003 and Melody Farms in June 2003,

which we estimate contributed a combined total of $386.2 million in sales during 2004. These increases in sales were slightly offset by the

divestiture in July 2003 of the frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen creamer operations.
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Volume change for all Dairy Group products, excluding the impact of acquisitions and divestitures, was an increase of 0.1% in 2004

compared to 2003. Volume sales of milk and cream, which were approximately 76% of the Dairy Group’s 2004 sales, were up approximately

0.9% for the year compared to USDA data showing a 0.8% decline in total consumption of milk and cream in the U.S. during the year.

The Dairy Group’s cost of sales ratio was substantially higher in 2004 at 77% compared to 74.5% for 2003 primarily due to the increase

in raw milk costs compared to the prior year. The average minimum price of Class I raw skim milk (as indicated by the Class I mover,

described above) was 13% higher and the average Class I butterfat mover increased 64% in 2004 as compared to 2003. Our costs were also

impacted by resin prices as they continued to rise to unprecedented levels. Higher resin prices impacted the costs of plastic bottles used in

our production process by approximately $17 million. Due to a very competitive retail environment in 2004, we were unable to pass along

the entire increase in raw material costs to our customers.

The Dairy Group’s operating expenses increased approximately $114.9 million during 2004 compared to 2003 primarily due to (1)

acquisitions, which we estimate contributed approximately $61 million in operating costs; (2) higher fuel costs of which approximately 

$14 million was related to an increase in fuel prices and (3) an increase in insurance expense due to our claims experience. The increase in

sales volumes also contributed to our higher operating expenses. These increases were partly offset by a decrease in bad debt expense,

primarily due to more favorable than expected resolution of previously accrued bad debt reserves. These bad debt reserves were recorded for

certain customers that had experienced economic difficulty and a few large customers that sought bankruptcy protection over the past several

years. The Dairy Group’s operating expense ratio decreased to 16.1% in 2004 from 17.0% in 2003 due to the effect of increased sales.

WhiteWave Foods Company – 
Year Ended December 31

2004 2003

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent

Net sales $1,188.4 100.0% $713.4 100.0%

Cost of sales 792.0 66.6 468.4 65.7

Gross profit 396.4 33.4 245.0 34.3

Operating costs and expenses 278.0 23.4 211.4 29.6

Total operating income $ 118.4 10.0% $ 33.6 4.7%

WhiteWave Foods Company’s net sales increased by $475 million, or 66.6%, in 2004 versus 2003. The change in net sales from 2003 to

2004 was due to the following:

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent

2003 Net sales $ 713.4

Acquisitions 282.8 39.6%

Divestitures (4.0) (0.5)

Volume 94.3 13.2

Pricing and product mix 101.9 14.3

2004 Net sales $1,188.4 66.6%

The most significant cause of the increase in WhiteWave Foods Company’s sales was the acquisition of Horizon Organic effective

January 1, 2004, and to a lesser extent the acquisition of LAND O’LAKES East effective March 31, 2004.

Higher pricing also contributed to the increase in sales. The two primary drivers of this increase were (1) increased selling prices in response

to increased commodity costs and (2) a decline in slotting fees, couponing and certain other promotional costs that are required to be recorded

as reductions of net sales, as we shift our focus toward consumer-oriented advertising and marketing, which is recorded as operating expense.

Another significant cause of the increase in sales was increased volumes. Volume sales for the WhiteWave Foods Company, excluding

the impact of acquisitions and divestitures, increased approximately 13.2% in 2004 due to the success of our brands, particularly Silk and
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International Delight. Silk volumes increased 25% and International Delight volumes increased 22% compared to 2003. We believe increased

Silk volumes were due primarily to: (1) increased consumer acceptance of soy products, resulting in increased penetration of soymilk in the

club, mass merchandiser and grocery channels; (2) the positive effects of our consumer advertising; and (3) the introduction of new Silk

products with nutritional enhancements, new flavors and larger size offerings. We believe the increase in International Delight volumes is

due primarily to consumer acceptance of new packaging introduced in 2003 and new low-carb flavors introduced in 2004.

These increases were offset slightly by the divestiture in July 2003 of the branded frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen creamer operations.

The cost of sales ratio for the WhiteWave Foods Company increased to 66.6% in 2004 from 65.7% in 2003 primarily due to the impact

of higher raw material costs, particularly Class II butterfat and organic soybeans, and the addition of Horizon Organic, which has a higher

cost of sales ratio. The average minimum price of Class II butterfat was 69% higher in 2004 than in 2003. Our average cost of organic

soybeans was approximately 40% higher in 2004 than in 2003 primarily due to an increase in domestic organic soybean prices and the

utilization of foreign grown organic soybeans, which have a higher price than domestic beans.

Operating expenses increased approximately $66.6 million in 2004 compared to the prior year primarily due to acquisitions, which we

estimate contributed approximately $56 million in costs, and increased volumes and higher fuel costs which together contributed

approximately $11.5 million to distribution expenses. Marketing spending increased approximately 6% in 2004 as compared to 2003. These

increases were somewhat offset by a decline of approximately $16.1 million related to the expiration of the White Wave management

incentive plan in March 2004. The operating expense ratio decreased to 23.4% during 2004 from 29.6% during the prior year primarily due

to the relatively smaller increase in operating expense dollars compared to the increase in sales dollars.

Specialty Foods Group –
Year Ended December 31

2004 2003

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent

Net sales $676.8 100.0% $684.2 100.0%

Cost of sales 536.7 79.3 514.9 75.3

Gross profit 140.1 20.7 169.3 24.7

Operating costs and expenses 71.7 10.6 68.0 9.9

Total operating income $ 68.4 10.1% $101.3 14.8%

The Specialty Foods Group’s net sales decreased by $7.4 million, or 1.1%, in 2004 versus 2003. The change in net sales from 2003 to

2004 was due to the following:

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent

2003 Net sales $684.2

Acquisitions 6.7 1.0%

Volume (13.3) (2.0)

Pricing and product mix (0.8) (0.1)

2004 Net sales $676.8 (1.1)%

The net decrease in sales was due primarily to an overall decline in volumes in the nutritional beverages and pickle categories. Pickle

volumes declined 2% largely due to a decline in sales attributable to the bankruptcy of a large customer in 2003 and the loss of a large retail

chain customer in 2004. Private label nutritional beverages sales, which include drinks in the weight loss/gain, meal supplement and sports

categories, declined approximately $17 million, or 44%. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we exited the manufacturing of nutritional beverage

products as a result of these significant volume declines during the year because we believed those volumes could not be replaced without a

significant investment in capital and research and development.
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These decreases in sales were partly offset by an increase in non-dairy powdered creamer sales due to increased sales to existing

customers and higher pricing. Sales also increased slightly due to the acquisition of Cremora in December 2003.

The Specialty Foods Group’s cost of sales ratio increased to 79.3% in 2004 from 75.3% in 2003, primarily due to substantially higher

commodity costs, particularly casein, soybean oil and cheese which increased by a combined total of approximately $19 million, as well as

significant increases in glass and other packaging costs which increased approximately $3 million.

Operating expenses for the Specialty Foods Group increased approximately $3.7 million primarily related to increased distribution

expenses as a result of higher fuel costs. The Specialty Foods Group’s operating expense ratio increased to 10.6% in 2004 compared to 9.9%

during the prior year.

Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002 – Consolidated Results

Net Sales – Consolidated net sales increased approximately 2% to $9.18 billion during 2003 from $8.99 billion in 2002. Net sales by

segment are shown in the table below.
Net Sales

$ Increase/ % Increase/
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 (Decrease) (Decrease)

Dairy Group $7,542.1 $7,601.0 $ (58.9) (0.8)%

WhiteWave Foods Company 713.4 517.3 196.1 37.9

Specialty Foods Group 684.2 673.6 10.6 1.6

Corporate/Other 244.9 199.6 45.3 22.7

Total $9,184.6 $8,991.5 $193.1 2.1%

The change in net sales was due to the following:

Change in Net Sales 2003 vs. 2002

Pricing, Volume Total
Foreign and Product Increase/

(In millions) Acquisitions Divestitures Exchange Mix Changes (Decrease)

Dairy Group $127.3 $(110.7) $ – $ (75.5) $ (58.9)

WhiteWave Foods Company 68.8 (3.8) – 131.1 196.1

Specialty Foods Group – (13.7) – 24.3 10.6

Corporate/Other – – 40.3 5.0 45.3

Total $196.1 $(128.2) $40.3 $ 84.9 $193.1

Cost of Sales – All expenses incurred to bring a product to completion are included in cost of sales, such as raw material, ingredient and

packaging costs; labor costs; plant and equipment costs, including costs to operate and maintain our coolers and freezers; and costs

associated with transporting our finished products from our manufacturing facilities to our own distribution facilities. Our cost of sales ratio

was 74.1% in 2003 compared to 73.9% in 2002. Increased raw material costs affected all of our segments in 2003. Also, the WhiteWave

Foods Company segment incurred higher costs due to certain manufacturing inefficiencies related to the introduction of new products and

new technologies, and the realignment of certain manufacturing operations.

Operating Costs and Expenses – Operating expenses decreased approximately $75.7 million, or 4.5%, in 2003 compared to the prior year.

This decrease was mostly due to (1) a gain of $66.2 million on the sale of frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen creamer operations in

the third quarter of 2003, (2) a gain of $2.5 million related to the divestiture of 11 facilities in 2001, which was recorded at corporate 

as a result of certain contingencies being favorably resolved during 2003, and (3) lower facility closing and other reorganization costs of

$11.8 million in 2003 compared to $19.1 million in 2002, primarily due to differences in the nature of the restructuring activities and to
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the timing of recognition of certain charges as a result of our adoption of SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or

Disposal Activities,” in January 2003.

Our operating expense ratio decreased to 17.6% in 2003 as compared to 18.7% in 2002.

Operating Income – Operating income during 2003 was $766 million, an increase of $103.4 million, from 2002 operating income of

$662.6 million. Our operating margin in 2003 was 8.3% compared to 7.4% in 2002. The operating margin increase was the result of the

decline in the operating expense ratio primarily due to the other operating income reported in 2003.

Other (Income) Expense – Total other (income) expense decreased by $49.4 million in 2003 compared to 2002. Interest expense decreased

to $181.1 million in 2003 from $197.7 million in 2002. This decrease was the result of lower interest rates and lower average debt balances

in 2003. Financing charges on preferred securities were $14.2 million in 2003 versus $33.6 million in 2002 due to the conversion of these

securities to common stock during the second quarter of 2003. See Note 10 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income from investments in unconsolidated affiliates was $244,000 in 2003 compared to a loss of $7.9 million in 2002. Income in 2003

was related to our approximately 13% interest in Horizon Organic Holding Corporation. In 2002, we recorded income of $2.1 million,

which was primarily related to our 36% interest in White Wave through May 9, 2002, when we acquired the remaining equity interest in

White Wave and began consolidating White Wave’s results with our financial results. This income was offset in 2002 by a $10 million loss

on our minority interest in Consolidated Container Company. See Note 3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Taxes – Income tax expense was recorded at an effective rate of 38.0% in 2003 compared to 36.4% in 2002. In 2002 we recorded

the favorable settlement of a contested tax issue. Our tax rate varies as the mix of earnings contributed by our various business units changes.

Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002 – Results by Segment

As noted above, we had three reportable segments in 2004: the Dairy Group, the WhiteWave Foods Company and the Specialty Foods

Group. Prior periods have been restated to reflect the new segment reporting structure.

The key performance indicators of our segments are sales volumes, gross profit and operating income.

Dairy Group –
Year Ended December 31

2003 2002

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent

Net sales $7,542.1 100.0% $7,601.0 100.0%

Cost of sales 5,619.4 74.5 5,670.2 74.6

Gross profit 1,922.7 25.5 1,930.8 25.4

Operating costs and expenses 1,281.7 17.0 1,338.3 17.6

Total operating income $ 641.0 8.5% $ 592.5 7.8%
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The Dairy Group’s net sales decreased approximately $58.9 million, or 0.8%, in 2003 versus 2002. The change in net sales from 2002 to

2003 was due to the following:

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent

2002 Net sales $7,601.0

Acquisitions 127.3 1.7%

Divestitures (110.7) (1.5)

Volume (159.6) (2.1)

Pricing and product mix 84.1 1.1

2003 Net sales $7,542.1 (0.8)%

The Dairy Group acquired Kohler Mix Specialties in October 2003 and Melody Farms in June 2003.

The Dairy Group’s sales declined primarily due to lower sales volumes. Volume change for all products, excluding the effect of

acquisitions and divestitures, was a decline of 2.1% in 2003 compared to 2002. That volume change was driven primarily by the fluid dairy

and ice cream categories. Equivalent gallons of fluid dairy products sold (including milk and cream) decreased by approximately 1.1% in

2003. We believe the decrease was due primarily to continued declining consumption of traditional fluid dairy products in some parts of

the country. Ice cream and ice cream novelty volumes declined by approximately 7% in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily because we sell

our ice cream under private labels and local brands, and we believe we lost sales during the year to nationally branded products which were

promoted more aggressively than our products. In addition, certain private label products historically sold by the Dairy Group, including

sour cream, whipping cream and coffee creamers, were converted to sales of LAND O’ LAKES products, which are reported in our

WhiteWave Foods Company segment.

Net sales also declined by approximately $110.7 million related to divestitures. We sold our frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen

creamer operations in July 2003. In addition, beginning in January 2002, we began exiting from the Lactaid®, Nestlé® Nesquik® and Nestlé®

Coffeemate® co-packing businesses due to the termination of the co-packing agreements. Our transition out of the Lactaid co-packing

business was completed in February 2002 and our transition out of the Nestle co-packing business was completed in February 2003.

These decreases were partly offset by an increase in pricing. The increase in sales due to pricing and product mix shown in the above

table primarily results from higher raw milk costs in 2003 than in 2002, offset somewhat by price concessions that were granted in some

markets due to competitive pressures. In general, our Dairy Group changes the prices it charges customers for fluid dairy products on a

monthly basis, as the costs of raw materials fluctuate. The following table sets forth the average monthly Class I “mover” and average

monthly Class II minimum prices for raw skim milk and butterfat for 2003 compared to 2002:

Year Ended December 31*

2003 2002 % Change

Class I raw skim milk mover(1) $7.47(2) $7.01(2) 7%

Class I butterfat mover(1) 1.19(3) 1.21(3) (2)

Class II raw skim milk minimum(4) 6.74(2) 7.62(2) (12)

Class II butterfat minimum(4) 1.22(3) 1.20(3) 2

* The prices noted in this table are not the prices that we actually pay. The federal order minimum prices at any given location for Class I raw skim milk or Class I butterfat are based on the Class
I mover prices plus a location differential. Class II prices noted in the table are federal minimum prices, applicable at all locations. Our actual cost also includes producer premiums, procurement
costs and other related charges that vary by location and vendor. Please see “Part I – Item 1. Business – Government Regulation – Milk Industry Regulation,” and “– Known Trends and
Uncertainties – Prices of Raw Milk, Cream and Other Inputs” for a more complete description of raw milk pricing.

(1) We process Class I raw skim milk and butterfat into fluid milk products.
(2) Prices are per hundredweight.
(3) Prices are per pound.
(4) We process Class II raw skim milk and butterfat into products such as cottage cheese, creams and creamers, ice cream and sour cream.

The Dairy Group’s cost of sales ratio remained consistent at 74.5% in 2003 compared to 74.6% in 2002.
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The Dairy Group’s operating expenses decreased approximately $56.6 million to $1.28 billion in 2003 from $1.34 billion in 2002. The

decrease in the Dairy Group’s operating expenses was primarily due to lower insurance, advertising, bad debt and bonus expenses in 2003.

Insurance costs (including the costs of self-insurance) declined in 2003 as a result of better claims experience. Advertising expenses

decreased in 2003 partially because we reduced planned advertising spending in 2003 in anticipation of the difficult raw milk environment

and also because advertising expense in 2002 was higher than normal as we incurred unusual advertising costs in order to (1) promote our

brands in certain parts of the country following our acquisition of Legacy Dean, and (2) promote two local Dairy Group brands affected by

product recalls in 2002. Bad debt expense declined in 2003 compared to 2002. In 2002, some of our customers experienced economic

difficulty and a few large customers sought bankruptcy protection. Bonus expenses were lower in 2003 than in 2002 as a result of our actual

performance compared to bonus targets.

WhiteWave Foods Company –
Year Ended December 31

2003 2002

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent

Net sales $713.4 100.0% $517.3 100.0%

Cost of sales 468.4 65.7 299.6 57.9

Gross profit 245.0 34.3 217.7 42.1

Operating costs and expenses 211.4 29.6 158.5 30.7

Total operating income $ 33.6 4.7% $ 59.2 11.4%

WhiteWave Foods Company’s net sales increased by $196.1 million, or 37.9%, in 2003 compared to 2002. The change in net sales from

2002 to 2003 was due to the following:

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent

2002 Net sales $517.3

Acquisitions 68.8 13.3%

Divestitures (3.8) (0.7)

Volume 106.2 20.5

Pricing and product mix 24.9 4.8

2003 Net sales $713.4 37.9%

We acquired the 64% of White Wave that we did not already own in May 2002. Therefore, 2003 includes 12 months of White Wave

sales compared to only 8 months in 2002.

Unit volumes for WhiteWave Foods Company, excluding the effect of acquisitions and divestitures, increased 20.5% overall in 2003 due

to the success of our nationally branded products, particularly Silk.

Sales increased due to pricing, product mix and other changes, including price increases for several of our products, such as Hershey’s,

Maries and LAND O’LAKES. These price increases were partly offset by price reductions for International Delight in order to clear shelf

space for new plastic packaging that was introduced in the first half of 2003.

The cost of sales ratio for WhiteWave Foods Company increased to 65.7% in 2003 compared to 57.9% in 2002 primarily due to the impact

of (1) short-term manufacturing inefficiencies related to the introduction of new products and new technologies, (2) short-term manufacturing

inefficiencies due to certain manufacturing realignments related to the shifting of certain manufacturing operations to our Dairy Group

Segment, and (3) an additional $15 million of packaging costs due to the introduction of International Delight in plastic packaging.
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Operating expenses were $211.4 million during 2003 compared to $158.5 million during 2002. This increase was primarily due to

higher marketing expenses in 2003 related to the introduction of new products and higher promotional spending on nationally branded

products. Operating expenses were also significantly impacted by the addition of White Wave in May 2002, including the accrual of almost

$10 million more in 2003 than in 2002 for bonuses paid in March 2004 under the White Wave Performance Bonus Plan that was

established when we acquired White Wave.

Specialty Foods Group –
Year Ended December 31

2003 2002

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent

Net sales $684.2 100.0% $673.6 100.0%

Cost of sales 514.9 75.3 498.1 73.9

Gross profit 169.3 24.7 175.5 26.1

Operating costs and expenses 68.0 9.9 76.6 11.4

Total operating income $101.3 14.8% $ 98.9 14.7%

The Specialty Foods Group’s net sales increased by $10.6 million, or 1.6%, in 2003 versus 2002. The change in net sales from 2002 to

2003 was due to the following:

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent

2002 Net sales $673.6

Divestitures (13.7) (2.0)%

Volume 15.9 2.4

Pricing and product mix 8.4 1.2

2003 Net sales $684.2 1.6%

The Specialty Foods Group sold EBI Foods, Ltd. in October 2002. Excluding the effects of this divestiture, the Specialty Foods Group’s

pickle volumes declined 1.6% in 2003 compared to 2002 due to the bankruptcy of a large customer, and to the overall effects of economic

difficulties in the foodservice sector as a whole. Approximately 28% of the Specialty Foods Group’s sales were to foodservice customers in

2003. This decrease was more than offset by a 12.8% increase in unit volumes of non-dairy powdered creamer as a result of new business

and a 15.2% increase in unit volumes of nutritional beverages due to increased demand.

Pricing was up in all categories primarily due to increased raw material costs that were passed on to customers in the form of higher

selling prices. Also, promotional spending that is recorded as a reduction of net sales was down by $15.3 million in 2003 compared to 2002.

The Specialty Foods Group’s cost of sales ratio increased to 75.3% in 2003 from 73.9% in 2002 as a result of higher raw material prices,

especially glass, and increases in natural gas prices. The Specialty Foods Group uses a significant amount of natural gas in its operations.

Operating expenses for the Specialty Foods Group declined to $68 million in 2003 compared to $76.6 million in 2002 primarily due to

the sale of EBI Foods, Ltd. in October 2002, which had higher operating expenses, and to lower bonus expense. Bonus expenses were 

$1.3 million less in 2003 as a result of our actual performance compared to bonus targets.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historical Cash Flow

During 2004, we met our working capital needs with cash flow from operations. Net cash provided by operating activities was $527.7

million for 2004 as contrasted to $522.3 million for 2003, an increase of $5.4 million. Net cash provided by operating activities was

impacted by:

n An increase of $79.6 million in net income plus non-cash items in 2004 as compared to 2003 primarily due to the gain on the sale of

our frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen creamer operations in 2003 offset by;

n An increase in our operating working capital of $183.9 in 2004 as compared to $175.6 million in 2003 due primarily to increased raw

material costs in 2004;

n A decrease of $10 million in income taxes payable in 2004 compared to an increase of $27.9 million in 2003 as our 2004 estimated tax

payments more closely approximated our tax obligation resulting in a lower tax liability at December 31, 2004;

n A decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets of $436,000 in 2004 compared to a decrease of $20.7 million in 2003 primarily due to

higher dispositions of net assets held for sale in 2003; and

n Lower tax savings on equity compensation of $7.9 million due to fewer stock option exercises in 2004 compared to the prior year.

Net cash used in investing activities was $746.6 million in 2004 compared to $436.2 million in 2003, an increase of $310.4 million.

We used approximately $401.1 million for acquisitions and $356.1 million for capital expenditures in 2004 compared to $246.6 million and

$291.7 million in 2003, respectively. We had cash proceeds from the sale of the frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen creamer operations

and one other small business of $90 million in 2003.

We used approximately $297 million to repurchase our stock during 2004. Set forth in the chart below is a summary of the stock we

repurchased in 2004:

No. of Shares of Average
Common Stock Aggregate Purchase

Period Repurchased Purchase Price(1) Price Per Share

(Dollars in millions except per share data)

January 2004 150,000 $ 5.2 $34.42

August 2004 2,170,000 78.6 36.24

September 2004 5,655,000 173.5 30.69

October 2004 1,335,000 39.7 29.72

9,310,000 $297.0 31.90

(1) Includes commissions and fees.

We received approximately $67.9 million in 2004 as a result of stock option exercises and employee stock purchases through our

employee stock purchase plan.

We increased our net borrowings by $438.2 million in 2004 compared to a net borrowing of $27 million in 2003.

Current Debt Obligations

Senior Credit Facility – Our senior credit facility provides for a $1.5 billion revolving credit facility and a $1.5 billion term loan. Both the

revolving credit facility and term loan bear interest, at our election, at the base rate plus a margin that varies from 0 to 62.5 basis points

depending on our credit ratings (as issued by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s), or LIBOR plus a margin that varies from 75 to 187.5 basis
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points, depending on our credit ratings (as issued by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s). The blended interest rate in effect on borrowings

under the senior credit facility, including the applicable interest rate margin, was 3.72% at December 31, 2004. However, we had interest

rate swap agreements in place that hedged $775 million of our borrowings under the senior credit facility at an average rate of 4.96%, plus

the applicable interest rate margin. Interest is payable quarterly or at the end of the applicable interest period.

Principal payments are required on the term loan as follows:

n $56.25 million quarterly beginning on December 31, 2006 through September 30, 2008;

n $262.5 million quarterly beginning on December 31, 2008 through June 30, 2009; and

n A final payment of $262.5 million on the maturity date of August 13, 2009.

No principal payments are due on the $1.5 billion revolving credit facility until maturity on August 13, 2009.

The credit agreement also requires mandatory principal prepayments upon the occurrence of certain asset dispositions or recovery events.

In consideration for the revolving commitment, we pay a quarterly commitment fee on unused amounts of the revolving credit facility

that ranges from 25 to 37.5 basis points, depending on our credit ratings (as issued by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s).

The senior credit facility contains various financial and other restrictive covenants and requires that we maintain certain financial ratios,

including a leverage and interest coverage ratio. We are currently, and have always been, in compliance with all covenants contained in our

credit agreement.

Our credit agreement permits us to complete acquisitions that meet the following conditions without obtaining prior approval: (1) the

acquired company is involved in the manufacture, processing and distribution of food or packaging products or any other line of business in

which we are currently engaged, (2) the net cash purchase price is not greater than $500 million, (3) we acquire at least 51% of the acquired

entity, (4) the transaction is approved by the Board of Directors or shareholders, as appropriate, of the target and (5) after giving effect to

such acquisition on a pro-forma basis, we are in compliance with all financial covenants. All other acquisitions must be approved in advance

by the required lenders.

The senior credit facility also contains limitations on liens, investments and the incurrence of additional indebtedness, and prohibits

certain dispositions of property and restricts certain payments, including dividends. The senior credit facility is secured by liens on

substantially all of our domestic assets (including the assets of our subsidiaries, but excluding the capital stock of Legacy Dean’s

subsidiaries, and the real property owned by Legacy Dean and its subsidiaries).

The credit agreement contains standard default triggers, including without limitation: failure to maintain compliance with the financial

and other covenants contained in the credit agreement, default on certain of our other debt, and certain other material adverse changes in

our business, and a change in control. The credit agreement does not contain any default triggers based on our credit rating.

In August 2004, we amended our senior credit facility to (1) increase the size of our revolving credit facility from $1 billion to $1.5

billion, (2) increase the size of our term loan A from $850 million to $1.5 billion, (3) eliminate term loans B and C and (4) modify the

interest rate and payment terms. When we amended our credit facility, we were required to write-off approximately $32.6 million of

deferred financing costs that were incurred in connection with our credit facility prior to the amendment. These costs were being amortized

over the previous terms of the revolving credit facility and term loans.

At December 31, 2004, we had outstanding borrowings of $2.03 billion under our senior credit facility (compared to $1.78 billion at

December 31, 2003), including $1.5 billion in term loan borrowings and $531.1 million outstanding under the revolving line of credit.

At December 31, 2004, there were $129.3 million of letters of credit under the revolving line that were issued but undrawn. As of 

March 11, 2005, approximately $1.80 billion was outstanding under our senior credit facility.

In addition to our senior credit facility, we also have a $500 million receivables-backed credit facility, which had $500 million

outstanding at December 31, 2004 (compared to $302.5 million at December 31, 2003). At December 31, 2004, there was no remaining

availability under this facility. The average interest rate on this facility at December 31, 2004 was 2.83%. In January 2005, we amended our



35

D e a n  F o o d s  2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

receivables-backed loan to increase the facility to $600 million. Approximately $546 million was outstanding under this facility at March

11, 2005. See Notes 9 and 23 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information about our receivables-backed facility.

Our outstanding borrowings under the senior credit facility and receivables-backed credit facility increased from 2003 to 2004 primarily

to fund our acquisitions and share repurchases.

Other indebtedness outstanding at December 31, 2004 included $700 million face value of outstanding indebtedness under Legacy

Dean’s senior notes, a $30.8 million line of credit at our Spanish subsidiary and approximately $30.9 million face value of capital lease and

other obligations. See Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

The table below summarizes our obligations for indebtedness, purchase and lease obligations at December 31, 2004. Please see Note 18

to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more detail about our lease and purchase obligations.

Payments Due by Period
Indebtedness, Purchase &
Lease Obligations Total 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter
(In millions)

Senior credit facility $2,031.1 $ – $ 56.3 $ 225.0 $431.2 $1,318.6 $ –

Senior notes(1) 700.0 100.0 – 250.0 – 200.0 150.0

Receivables-backed facility 500.0 – – 500.0 – – –

Foreign line of credit 30.8 28.5 1.5 0.6 0.2 – –

Capital lease obligations 

and other(1) 30.9 13.4 8.0 3.1 1.3 0.5 4.6

Purchasing obligations(2) 485.1 325.7 55.2 20.6 18.8 16.9 47.9

Operating leases 488.3 100.6 83.8 71.3 60.2 56.1 116.3

Interest payments(3) 330.3 99.4 66.6 37.2 23.6 22.5 81.0

Total $4,596.5 $667.6 $271.4 $1,107.8 $535.3 $1,614.6 $399.8

(1) Represents face value.
(2) Primarily represents commitments to purchase minimum quantities of raw materials used in our production processes, including organic soybeans, organic raw milk and cucumbers.

We enter into these contracts from time to time to ensure a sufficient supply of raw ingredients. In addition, we have contractual obligations to purchase various services that are part of our
production process.

(3) Only includes our fixed rate interest obligations, which consist of our senior notes and our interest rate swap agreements.

Other Long-Term Liabilities

We offer pension benefits through various defined benefit pension plans and also offer certain health care and life insurance benefits to

eligible employees and their eligible dependents upon the retirement of such employees. Reported costs of providing non-contributory

defined pension benefits and other postretirement benefits are dependent upon numerous factors, assumptions and estimates.

For example, these costs are impacted by actual employee demographics (including age, compensation levels and employment periods),

the level of contributions made to the plan and earnings on plan assets. Our pension plan assets are primarily made up of equity and fixed

income investments. Changes made to the provisions of the plan may also impact current and future pension costs. Fluctuations in actual

equity market returns as well as changes in general interest rates may result in increased or decreased pension costs in future periods.

Pension costs may also be significantly affected by changes in key actuarial assumptions, including anticipated rates of return on plan assets

and the discount rates used in determining the projected benefit obligation and pension costs.

In accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” changes in pension obligations associated with these factors

may not be immediately recognized as pension costs on the income statement, but generally are recognized in future years over the

remaining average service period of plan participants. As such, significant portions of pension costs recorded in any period may not reflect

the actual level of cash benefits provided to plan participants. In 2004, we recorded non-cash expense of $11 million, of which $9.1 million

was attributable to periodic expense and $1.9 million was attributable to settlements compared to a total of $15.3 million in 2003, of which

$2.5 million was attributable to settlements. These amounts were determined in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 87 and SFAS

No. 88, “Employer’s Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits.”
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We decreased the assumed discount rate from a range of 6.0% to 6.5% at December 31, 2003 to 5.75% at December 31, 2004. In

selecting assumed rate of return on plan assets, we considered past performance and economic forecasts for the types of investments held by

the plan, as well as our investment allocation policy. Plan asset returns were $14.8 million in 2004, a $10.2 million decrease from plan asset

returns of $25 million in 2003. Net periodic pension expense for our plans is expected to decrease in 2005 to approximately $10.6 million

due primarily to the increase in assets from $151.6 million as of December 31, 2003 to $181 million as of December 31, 2004. Based on

current projections, 2005 funding requirements will be approximately $33.7 million as compared to $43.8 million for 2004. Additionally,

based on current projections, 2005 funding requirements for our other postretirement benefit obligations will be approximately $1.8 million

as compared to $2.8 million in 2004.

As a result of lower discount rates at December 31, 2004, we were required to recognize an additional minimum liability as prescribed by

SFAS No. 87 and SFAS No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Postretirement Benefits.” The accumulated other

comprehensive income component of the additional minimum liability, which totaled $23.3 million ($14.5 million net of tax), was recorded

as a reduction to stockholders’ equity through a charge to Other Comprehensive Income, and did not affect net income for 2004. The

charge to Other Comprehensive Income will be reversed in future periods to the extent the fair value of plan assets exceeds the accumulated

benefit obligation. See Notes 13 and 14 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding retirement plans and other

postretirement benefits.

Other Commitments and Contingencies

On December 21, 2001, in connection with our acquisition of Legacy Dean, we issued a contingent, subordinated promissory note to

Dairy Farmers of America (“DFA”) in the original principal amount of $40 million. DFA is our primary supplier of raw milk, and the

promissory note is designed to ensure that DFA has the opportunity to continue to supply raw milk to certain of our facilities until 2021,

or be paid for the loss of that business. The promissory note has a 20-year term and bears interest based on the consumer price index.

Interest will not be paid in cash, but will be added to the principal amount of the note annually, up to a maximum principal amount of 

$96 million. We may prepay the note in whole or in part at any time, without penalty. The note will only become payable if we ever

materially breach or terminate one of our milk supply agreements with DFA without renewal or replacement. Otherwise, the note will

expire at the end of 20 years, without any obligation to pay any portion of the principal or interest. Payments we make under this note, if

any, will be expensed as incurred.

We also have the following commitments and contingent liabilities, in addition to contingent liabilities related to ordinary course

litigation, investigations and audits:

n certain indemnification obligations related to businesses that we have divested;

n certain lease obligations, which require us to guarantee the minimum value of the leased asset at the end of the lease; and

n selected levels of property and casualty risks, primarily related to employee health care, workers’ compensation claims and other 

casualty losses.

See Note 18 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information about our commitments and contingent obligations.
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Future Capital Requirements

During 2005, we intend to invest a total of approximately $300 million to $325 million in capital expenditures primarily for our existing

manufacturing facilities and distribution capabilities. We intend to fund these expenditures using cash flow from operations. We intend to

spend this amount as follows:

Operating Division Amount

(In millions)

Dairy Group $175 to 180

WhiteWave Foods Company 105 to 110

Specialty Foods Group 5 to 10

Other 15 to 25

Total $300 to 325

In 2005, we expect cash interest to be approximately $170 million based on current debt levels and cash taxes to be approximately 

$85 million to $95 million. We expect that cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our requirements for our existing businesses for

the foreseeable future. As of March 11, 2005, approximately $1.08 billion was available for future borrowings under our senior credit facility.

Known Trends and Uncertainties

Prices of Raw Milk, Cream and Other Inputs

Dairy Group – The primary raw material used in our Dairy Group is raw milk (which contains both raw skim milk and butterfat). The

federal government and certain state governments set minimum prices for raw milk, and those prices change on a monthly basis. The

regulated minimum prices differ based on how the raw milk is utilized. Raw milk processed into fluid milk is priced at the Class I price,

and raw milk processed into products such as cottage cheese, creams and creamers, ice cream and sour cream is priced at the Class II price.

Generally, we pay the federal minimum prices for raw milk, plus certain producer premiums (or “over-order” premiums) and location

differentials. We also incur other raw milk procurement costs in some locations (such as hauling, field personnel, etc.). A change in the

federal minimum price does not necessarily mean an identical change in our total raw milk costs, as over-order premiums may increase or

decrease. This relationship is different in every region of the country, and sometimes within a region based on supplier arrangements.

However, in general, the overall change in our raw milk costs can be linked to the change in federal minimum prices.

In general, our Dairy Group changes the prices that it charges for Class I dairy products on a monthly basis, as the costs of raw milk and

other materials fluctuate. Prices for some Class II products are not changed on a monthly basis, but are changed from time to time as

circumstances warrant. There can be a lag between the time of a raw material cost increase or decrease and the effectiveness of a

corresponding price change to our customers, especially in the case of Class II butterfat because Class II butterfat prices for each month are

not announced by the government until after the end of that month. Also, in some cases we are competitively or contractually constrained

with the means and timing of implementing price changes. These factors can cause volatility in our earnings. Our sales and operating profit

margin fluctuate with the price of our raw materials and other inputs.

In 2004, our Dairy Group was adversely affected by extreme volatility in the prices of raw skim milk and butterfat. In 2005, we expect

prices to be somewhat less volatile and lower than the average price in 2004. Of course raw milk prices are difficult to predict and we

change our forecasts frequently based on current market activity. If raw milk prices do remain at or near current levels throughout 2005, we

would expect our sales for 2005 to be less than in 2004 because, in general, we change the prices of our products to reflect changes in raw

material prices.
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Because our Class II products typically have a higher fat content than that contained in raw milk, we also purchase bulk cream for use in

some of our Class II products. Bulk cream is typically purchased based on a multiple of the AA butter price on the Chicago Mercantile

Exchange. The prices of AA butter started rising by moderate amounts in late 2003, and then increased significantly in 2004. They

remained high throughout 2004 and we expect the average price to be somewhat lower in 2005 than the average price in 2004. Of course,

like raw milk prices, bulk cream prices are difficult to predict and we change our forecasts frequently based on current market activity. We

try to change our prices based on changes in the price of bulk cream, but sometimes we are competitively or contractually constrained.

Therefore, increases in bulk cream prices can have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

Prices for resin, which is used in plastic milk bottles, are also extremely high and are expected to remain high for the foreseeable future.

Finally, the Dairy Group uses a great deal of diesel fuel in its direct store delivery system, and diesel fuel prices are currently very high and

expected to remain high for the foreseeable future. High or volatile fuel and resin costs can adversely affect the Dairy Group’s profitability.

WhiteWave Foods Company – A significant raw material used to manufacture products sold by WhiteWave Foods Company is organic

soybeans. We have entered into supply agreements for organic soybeans, which we believe will meet our needs for 2005. Generally, these

agreements provide for pricing at fixed levels. However, should our need for organic soybeans exceed the quantity that we have under

contract, or if the suppliers do not perform under the contracts, we may have difficulty obtaining sufficient supply, and the price we would

be required to pay would likely be significantly higher. The increase in soymilk consumption combined with the increased demand for

organic cattle feed has put pressure on the supply of organic soybeans and there is significant upward pressure on organic soybean prices.

We believe prices for organic soybeans will continue to increase as the pressure on supply continues.

Another significant raw material used in our organic products is organic raw milk. Organic raw milk is not readily available and the

growth of our organic dairy business depends on us being able to procure sufficient quantities of organic raw milk in time to meet our

needs. We obtain our supply of organic raw milk by entering into one to two year agreements with farmers pursuant to which the farmers

agree to sell us specified quantities of organic raw milk for fixed prices for the duration of the agreement We believe, based on currently

projected sales levels, that we have secured a sufficient supply of raw organic milk to meet our raw organic milk needs for the remainder of

2005. However, should our need for organic raw milk exceed the quantity that we have under contract, or if the suppliers do not perform

under the contracts, we may have difficulty obtaining sufficient supply, and the price we would be required to pay, if we could obtain supply

at all, would likely be significantly higher. Also, as our contracts with farmers expire, we are generally required to agree to higher prices to

renew as a result of increased competition for organic raw milk supply. For competitive reasons, WhiteWave Foods Company is not able to

pass along price increases to customers as quickly as the Dairy Group.

Specialty Foods Group – Many of the raw materials used by our Specialty Foods Group also rose to unusually high levels during 2004,

including soybean oil, casein, cheese and packaging materials. High fuel costs have also had a negative impact on the Specialty Foods

Group’s results. Prices for many of these raw materials and packaging materials used by the Specialty Foods Group are expected to remain

high and in some cases increase in 2005. For competitive reasons, the Specialty Foods Group is not able to pass along increases in raw

material and other input costs as quickly as the Dairy Group. Therefore, the current raw material environment is expected to continue to

adversely affect the Specialty Foods Group’s financial results in 2005.

Competitive Environment

There has been significant consolidation in the retail grocery industry in recent years, and this trend is continuing. As our customer base

consolidates, we expect competition to intensify as we compete for the business of fewer customers. There can be no assurance that we will

be able to keep our existing customers, or gain new customers. There are several large regional grocery chains that have captive dairy

operations. As the consolidation of the grocery industry continues, we could lose sales if any one or more of our existing customers were to

be sold to a chain with captive dairy operations.



39

D e a n  F o o d s  2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Many of our retail customers have become increasingly price sensitive in the current intensely competitive environment. Over the past

few years, we have been subject to a number of competitive bidding situations in our Dairy Group and Specialty Foods Group segments,

which reduced our profitability on sales to several customers. We expect this trend to continue. In bidding situations we are subject to the

risk of losing certain customers altogether. The loss of any of our largest customers could have a material adverse impact on our financial

results. We do not have contracts with many of our largest customers, and most of the contracts that we do have are generally terminable at

will by the customer.

Both the difficult economic environment and the increased competitive environment at the retail level have caused competition to

become increasingly intense at the processor level. We expect this trend to continue for the foreseeable future.

Tax Rate

Our 2004 tax rate was 38.3%. We estimate the effective tax for 2005 to be slightly less than 38%. Changes in the relative profitability of our

operating segments, as well as recent and proposed changes to federal and state tax codes may cause the rate to change from historical rates.

See “– Risk Factors” for a description of various other risks and uncertainties concerning our business.

Critical Accounting Policies

“Critical accounting policies” are defined as those that are both most important to the portrayal of a company’s financial condition and

results, and that require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments. In many cases the accounting treatment of a particular

transaction is specifically dictated by generally accepted accounting principles with no need for the application of our judgment. In certain

circumstances, however, the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting

principles requires us to use our judgment to make certain estimates and assumptions. These estimates affect the reported amounts of assets

and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported

amounts of net sales and expenses during the reporting period. We have identified the policies described below as our critical accounting

policies. See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed discussion of these and other accounting policies.

Accounts Receivable

We provide credit terms to customers generally ranging up to 30 days, perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and maintain

allowances for estimated credit losses. As these factors change, our estimates change and we could accrue different amounts for doubtful

accounts in different accounting periods. At December 31, 2004, our allowance for doubtful accounts was approximately $24.2 million, or

approximately 3% of the accounts receivable balance at December 31, 2004. The allowance for doubtful accounts, expressed as a percent of

accounts receivable, was approximately 4% at December 31, 2003. Each 0.10% change in the ratio of allowance for doubtful accounts to

accounts receivable would impact bad debt expense by approximately $880,000.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Our goodwill and intangible assets totaled $4.14 billion as of December 31, 2004 resulting primarily from acquisitions. Upon acquisition,

the purchase price is first allocated to identifiable assets and liabilities, including trademarks and customer-related intangible assets, with

any remaining purchase price recorded as goodwill. Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite lives are not amortized.

We believe that a trademark has an indefinite life if it has sufficient market share and a history of strong sales and cash flow performance

that we expect to continue for the foreseeable future. If these perpetual trademark criteria are not met, the trademarks are amortized over

their expected useful lives, which generally range from five to 40 years. Determining the expected life of a trademark requires considerable

management judgment and is based on an evaluation of a number of factors including the competitive environment, market share,

trademark history and anticipated future trademark support.
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Perpetual trademarks and goodwill are evaluated for impairment at least annually to ensure that future cash flows continue to exceed the

related book value. A perpetual trademark is impaired if its book value exceeds fair value. Goodwill is evaluated for impairment if the book

value of its reporting unit exceeds its fair value. A reporting unit can be a segment or an operating division. If the fair value of an evaluated

asset is less than its book value, the asset is written down to fair value based on its discounted future cash flows.

Amortizable intangible assets are only evaluated for impairment upon a significant change in the operating environment. If an evaluation

of the undiscounted cash flows indicates impairment, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value, which is generally based on

discounted future cash flows.

Considerable management judgment is necessary to evaluate the impact of operating changes and to estimate future cash flows.

Assumptions used in our impairment evaluations, such as forecasted growth rates and our cost of capital, are consistent with our internal

projections and operating plans.

We did not recognize any impairment charges for perpetual trademarks or goodwill during 2004.

Purchase Price Allocation

We allocate the cost of acquisitions to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. All identifiable assets acquired, including identifiable

intangibles, and liabilities assumed are assigned a portion of the cost of the acquired company, normally equal to their fair values at the date

of acquisition. The excess of the cost of the acquired company over the sum of the amounts assigned to identifiable assets acquired less

liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. We record the initial purchase price allocation based on evaluation of information and estimates

available at the date of the financial statements. As final information regarding fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is

received and estimates are refined, appropriate adjustments are made to the purchase price allocation. To the extent that such adjustments

indicate that the fair values of assets and liabilities differ from their preliminary purchase price allocations, such difference would adjust the

amounts allocated to those assets and liabilities and would change the amounts allocated to goodwill. The final purchase price allocation

includes the consideration of a number of factors to determine the fair value of individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed including

quoted market prices, forecast of expected cash flows, net realizable values, estimates of the present value of required payments and

determination of remaining useful lives.

Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are recognized for future tax effects of temporary differences between financial and income tax reporting using tax rates in

effect for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. We periodically estimate our probable tax obligations using historical

experience in tax jurisdictions and informed judgments. There are inherent uncertainties related to the interpretations of tax regulations in

the jurisdictions in which we operate. These judgments and estimates made at a point in time may change based on the outcome of tax

audits and changes to or further interpretations of regulations. If such changes take place, there is a risk that our tax rate may increase or

decrease in any period, which could have an impact on our earnings. Future business results may affect deferred tax liabilities or the

valuation of deferred tax assets over time. Our valuation allowance increased $1.2 million in 2004 due to the increased likelihood that state

net operating losses will expire before they are used.

Insurance Accruals

We retain selected levels of property and casualty risks, primarily related to employee health care, workers’ compensation claims and other

casualty losses. Many of these potential losses are covered under conventional insurance programs with third-party carriers with high

deductible limits. In other areas, we are self-insured with stop-loss coverages. Accrued liabilities for incurred but not reported losses related

to these retained risks are calculated based upon loss development factors which contemplate a number of variables including claims history

and expected trends. These loss development factors are developed by us in consultation with external insurance brokers and actuaries.
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At December 31, 2004 and 2003, we recorded accrued liabilities related to these retained risks of $146.1 million and $136.3 million,

respectively, including both current and long-term liabilities.

Employee Benefit Plan Costs

We provide a range of benefits to our employees including pension and postretirement benefits to our eligible employees and retirees. We

record annual amounts relating to these plans based on calculations specified by generally accepted accounting principles, which include

various actuarial assumptions, such as discount rates, assumed investment rates of return, compensation increases, employee turnover rates

and health care cost trend rates. We review our actuarial assumptions on an annual basis and make modifications to the assumptions based

on current rates and trends when it is deemed appropriate. As required by generally accepted accounting principles, the effect of the

modifications is generally recorded and amortized over future periods. Different assumptions that we make could result in the recognition

of different amounts of expense over different periods of time.

In 2004, we consolidated substantially all of our qualified pension plans into one master trust. We retained investment consultants to

assist our Investment Committee with the transition of the plans’ assets to the master trust and to help our Investment Committee

formulate a long-term investment policy for the newly established master trust. Our current asset mix guidelines under the investment

policy target equities at 65% to 75% of the portfolio and fixed income at 25% to 35%. At December 31, 2004, our master trust was invested

as follows: equity securities and limited partnerships – 74%; fixed income securities – 25%; and cash and cash equivalents – 1%.

We determine our expected long-term rate of return based on our expectations of future returns for the pension plan’s investments based

on target allocations of the pension plan’s investments. Additionally, we consider the weighted-average return of a capital markets model

that was developed by the plans’ investment consultants and historical returns on comparable equity, debt and other investments. The

resulting weighted average expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is 8.5%.

While a number of the key assumptions related to our qualified pension plans are long-term in nature, including assumed investment

rates of return, compensation increases, employee turnover rates and mortality rates, generally accepted accounting principles require that

our discount rate assumption be more heavily weighted to current market conditions. As such, our discount rate likely will change more

frequently. In 2004 we reduced the discount rate utilized to determine our estimated future benefit obligations from a range of 6.0% to

6.5% at December 31, 2003 to 5.75% at December 31, 2004.

A 0.25% reduction in the assumed rate of return on plan assets or a 0.25% reduction in the discount rate would increase our annual

pension expense by approximately $412,000 and $489,000, respectively. In addition, a 1% increase in assumed healthcare costs trends would

increase the aggregate annual post retirement medical expense by approximately $184,000.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements – In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS

No. 132 (revised 2003), “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits” in an attempt to improve financial

statement disclosures regarding defined benefit plans. This standard requires that companies provide more details about their plan assets,

benefit obligations, cash flows, benefit costs and other relevant information. In addition to expanded annual disclosures, we are required to

report the various elements of pension and other postretirement benefit costs on a quarterly basis. SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003) is effective

for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2003, and for quarters beginning after December 15, 2003. The expanded disclosure

requirements are included in this report.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”) was signed into law.

The Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare Part D, as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit

plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. In April 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position (“FSP”)

No. SFAS 106-2 to address the accounting and disclosure requirements related to the Act. The FSP is effective for interim or annual
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periods beginning after September 15, 2004. Substantially all of our postretirement benefits terminate at age 65. Therefore, the FSP will

have no material affect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements – The FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment” in December 2004. It will

require the cost of employee compensation paid with equity instruments to be measured based on grant-date fair values. That cost will be

recognized over the vesting period. SFAS No. 123(R) will become effective for us in the third quarter 2005. We are still evaluating the

impact of SFAS No. 123(R) on our Consolidated Financial Statements and have not yet determined the transition method we will apply

when we adopt the statement. See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements- “Stock-Based Compensation” for illustrations of the

pro forma impact of expensing our stock options in the historical periods.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs – an Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4.” SFAS No. 151,

which is effective for inventory costs incurred during years beginning after June 15, 2005, clarifies the accounting for abnormal amounts of

idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material, requiring that those items be recognized as current-period charges. In

addition, SFAS No. 151 requires that allocation of fixed production overheads be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities.

We do not believe the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29.”

SFAS No. 153 is effective for nonmonetary exchanges occurring in years beginning after June 15, 2005. SFAS No. 153 eliminates the rule

in APB No. 29 which excluded from fair value measurement exchanges of similar productive assets. Instead, SFAS No. 153 excludes from

fair value measurement exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. We do not believe the adoption of this

standard will have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Risk Factors

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Statements

that are not historical in nature are forward-looking statements about our future that are not statements of historical fact. Most of these

statements are found in this report under the following subheadings: “Part I – Item 1. Business,” “Part II – Item 7. Management’s

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Part II – Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative

Disclosures About Market Risk.” In some cases, you can identify these statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,”

“expects,” “seek to,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates,” “intends,” “predicts,” “projects,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of

such terms and other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions, and in evaluating those statements, you should

carefully consider the information above in “– Known Trends and Uncertainties,” as well as the risks outlined below. Actual performance or

results may differ materially and adversely.

Reorganization of our WhiteWave Foods Company Segment 

Could Temporarily Adversely Affect the Performance of the Segment

In the third quarter of 2004, we began the process of consolidating the operations of the three operating units that comprise our

WhiteWave Foods Company segment into a single business. We have completed the consolidation of the sales, marketing and research and

development organization for the three companies, and in the third quarter of 2005, the employees of the new company will move to a new

headquarters located in Broomfield, Colorado. The full integration of these businesses will be a lengthy process involving all aspects of the

three company’s operations, including purchasing, manufacturing, distribution and administration, and will include the selection and

implementation of a new information technology platform. As part of our overall reorganization of WhiteWave Foods Company into a

unified branded consumer packaged goods company, we also intend to bring in-house certain manufacturing activities that are currently

being done by third parties. We expect the consolidation to be completed in the next 12 to 18 months. This process presents a number of
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challenges and requires a significant amount of management’s attention. Our failure to successfully manage this process could cause us to

incur unexpected costs or to lose customers or sales, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

In addition, effective March 11, 2005, Mr. Steve Demos, President of WhiteWave Foods Company resigned his position. We have

retained a leading executive recruiting firm to assist in the search for a new president. Mr. Gregg Engles, our Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer, has assumed direct leadership of WhiteWave Foods Company on an interim basis. This transition could be

disruptive to us in the short term.

Spin-Off of our Specialty Foods Group

In January 2005, we announced our intent to pursue a tax-free spin-off of our Specialty Foods Group segment to our shareholders.

Separating the Specialty Foods Group segment from our business, and completing the successful spin-off will require a number of

operational, legal and regulatory steps be successfully completed. Completing these steps presents a number of challenges and will require a

significant amount of management’s attention. Our failure to successfully manage the process could cause us to incur unexpected costs or to

lose customers or sales. In addition, the spin-off is dependent upon the receipt of a favorable private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue

Service on the tax-free nature of the transaction. If we fail to receive a favorable letter ruling, the spin-off will not occur.

Recent Financial Difficulty at Specialty Foods Group Segment Could Continue Longer Than We Expect

Our Specialty Foods Group segment experienced financial difficulty during 2004 due primarily to rising input costs and to a decline in

demand for Specialty Foods Groups’ line of nutritional beverages. We exited the nutritional beverages business at the end of 2004. Also,

the former President of the Specialty Foods Group segment returned to run the business in late October. With these changes and certain

other changes we are implementing at the Specialty Foods Group, it is our goal to return the Specialty Foods Group segment to its

historical levels of profitability in 2005. However, there can be no assurance as to how long it will take to return the Specialty Foods Group

to its historical levels of profitability, if ever. Many factors are beyond our control, such as the costs of raw materials and packaging supplies

and competitive pressures that limit our ability to raise prices in reaction to increased input costs.

Recent Successes of Our Products Could Attract Increased Competitive Activity, Which Could Impede Our Growth

Rate and Cost Us Sales and, in the Case of Organic Products, Put Pressure on the Availability of Raw Materials

Our Silk soymilk and Horizon Organic organic food and beverage products have leading market shares in their categories and have

benefited in many cases from being the first to introduce products in their categories. As soy and organic products continue to gain in

popularity with consumers, we expect our products in these categories to continue to attract competitors. Many large food and beverage

companies have substantially more resources than we do and they may be able to market their soy and organic products more successfully

than us, which could cause our growth rate in these categories to be slower than our forecast and could cause us to lose sales. The increase

in popularity of soy and organic milks is also attracting private label competitors who sell their products at a lower price. The success of

private label brands could adversely affect our sales and profitability. Finally, there is a limited supply of organic raw materials in the United

States, especially organic soybeans and organic raw milk. New entrants into our markets can reduce available supply and drive up costs.

Even without new entrants, our own rapid growth can put pressure on the availability and price of organic raw materials.

Our International Delight coffee creamer competes intensely with Nestlé CoffeeMate business, and our Hershey’s milks and milkshakes

compete intensely with Nestlé Nesquik. Nestle has significantly greater resources than we do, which allows them to promote their products

more aggressively. Our failure to successfully compete with Nestle could have a material adverse effect on the sales and profitability of our

International Delight and/or our Hershey’s businesses.
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Loss of Rights to Any of Our Licensed Brands Could Adversely Affect Our Sales and Profits

We sell certain of our products under licensed brand names such as Borden®, Hershey’s, LAND O’LAKES, Pet® and others. In some cases, we

have invested significant capital in product development and marketing and advertising related to these licensed brands. Should our rights

to manufacture and sell products under any of these names be terminated for any reason, our financial performance and results of operations

could be materially and adversely affected.

We Have Substantial Debt and Other Financial Obligations and We May Incur Even More Debt

We have substantial debt and other financial obligations and significant unused borrowing capacity. See “– Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

We have pledged substantially all of our assets (including the assets of our subsidiaries) to secure our indebtedness. Our high debt level

and related debt service obligations:

n require us to dedicate significant cash flow to the payment of principal and interest on our debt which reduces the funds we have

available for other purposes,

n may limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and market conditions,

n impose on us additional financial and operational restrictions, and

n expose us to interest rate risk since a portion of our debt obligations are at variable rates.

The interest rate on our debt is based on our debt rating, as issued by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s. We have no ability to control the

ratings issued by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s. A downgrade in our debt rating could cause our interest rate to increase, which could

adversely affect our ability to achieve our targeted profitability level, as well as our cash flow.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on our debt and other financial obligations depends on our financial and operating

performance. Our financial and operating performance is subject to prevailing economic conditions and to financial, business and other

factors, some of which are beyond our control. A significant increase in interest rates could adversely impact our net income. If we do not

comply with the financial and other restrictive covenants under our credit facilities, we may default under them. Upon default, our lenders

could accelerate the indebtedness under the facilities, foreclose against their collateral or seek other remedies, which would jeopardize our

ability to continue our current operations.

We intend to pursue a tax free spin-off of our Specialty Foods Group. Our Specialty Foods Group generates positive cash flow from

operations. The loss of income from the Specialty Foods Group will cause compliance with our debt covenant ratios to become more

difficult. We intend to pay down some of our debt in 2005 to offset the effect of the Specialty Foods Group spin-off on our ratios;

however, there can be no assurance that we will successfully pay down our debt.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Marke t Risk

Interest Rate Fluctuations

In order to reduce the volatility of earnings that arises from changes in interest rates, we manage interest rate risk through the use of

interest rate swap agreements. These swap agreements provide hedges for loans under our senior credit facility by limiting or fixing the

LIBOR interest rates specified in the senior credit facility at the interest rates noted below until the indicated expiration dates.
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These swaps have been designated as cash flow hedges against variable interest rate exposure. The following table summarizes our

various interest rate swap agreements in effect as of December 31, 2004:

Fixed Interest Rates Expiration Date Notional Amounts
(Dollars in millions)

5.20% to 6.74% December 2005 $400

3.65% to 6.78% December 2006 375

The following table summarizes our various interest rate swap agreements as of December 31, 2003:

Fixed Interest Rates Expiration Date Notional Amounts
(Dollars in millions)

1.48% to 6.69% December 2004 $650

5.20% to 6.74% December 2005 400

6.78% December 2006 75

We are exposed to market risk under these arrangements due to the possibility of interest rates on our credit facilities falling below the

rates on our interest rate derivative agreements. We incurred $20.7 million of additional interest expense, net of taxes, during 2004 as a

result of interest rates on our variable rate debt falling below the agreed-upon interest rate on our existing swap agreements. Credit risk

under these arrangements is remote since the counterparties to our interest rate derivative agreements are major financial institutions.

A majority of our debt obligations are currently at variable rates. We have performed a sensitivity analysis assuming a hypothetical 10%

adverse movement in interest rates. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the analysis indicated that such interest rate movement would not

have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. However, actual gains and losses in the future may differ

materially from that analysis based on changes in the timing and amount of interest rate movement and our actual exposure and hedges.

Foreign Currency

We are exposed to foreign currency risk due to operating cash flows and various financial instruments that are denominated in foreign

currencies. Our most significant foreign currency exposures relate to the euro and the British pound. We have performed a sensitivity

analysis assuming a hypothetical 10% adverse movement in foreign currency exchange rates. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the

analysis indicated that such foreign currency exchange rate change would not have a material effect on our financial position, results of

operations or cash flows.

Butterfat

Our Dairy Group utilizes a significant amount of butterfat to produce Class II products. This butterfat is acquired through the purchase of

raw milk and bulk cream. Butterfat acquired in raw milk is priced based on the Class II butterfat price in federal orders, which is

announced near the end of the applicable month. The Class II butterfat price can generally be tied to pricing of AA butter traded on the

Chicago Mercantile Exchange (“CME”). The cost of butterfat acquired in bulk cream is typically based on a multiple of the AA butter

price on the CME. From time to time, we purchase butter futures and butter inventory in an effort to better manage our butterfat cost in

Class II products. Futures contracts are marked to market in accordance with SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities,” and physical inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market. We are exposed to market risk under these

arrangements if the cost of butter falls below the cost that we have agreed to pay in a futures contract or that we actually paid for the

physical inventory and we are unable to pass on the difference to our customers. At this time we believe that potential losses due to

butterfat hedging activities would not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or operating cash

flow. During 2004, we recognized losses of $2.5 million, net of tax, related to our butterfat hedging activities.
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Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control system was

designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published

financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective

can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

We have assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, we used

the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission (COSO). Based on our assessment we believe that, as of December 31, 2004, our internal control over financial reporting is effective

based on those criteria.

Our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an audit report on our assessment of our internal control over financial reporting.

This report appears on page 47.

March 14, 2005



47

D e a n  F o o d s  2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors

Dean Foods Company

Dallas, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dean Foods Company and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31,

2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31, 2004. We also have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal

Control Over Financial Reporting that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based

on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial

reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

financial statements, an opinion on management’s assessment, and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial

reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of financial statements included examining,

on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting

included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design

and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that

our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and

principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other

personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies

and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions

of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely

detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override

of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of

Dean Foods Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the

three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,

2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued

by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other

intangible assets to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Dallas, Texas

March 14, 2005
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31

(Dollars in thousands, except share data) 2004 2003

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 27,572 $ 47,143

Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of

$24,233 and $32,684 861,759 742,934

Inventories 479,981 426,478

Deferred income taxes 150,151 137,055

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 76,961 47,271

Total current assets 1,596,424 1,400,881

Property, plant and equipment 1,946,992 1,773,555

Goodwill 3,490,129 3,197,548

Identifiable intangible and other assets 722,823 620,552

Total $7,756,368 $6,992,536

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 925,199 $ 924,707

Income taxes payable 40,000 65,528

Current portion of long-term debt 141,227 180,158

Total current liabilities 1,106,426 1,170,393

Long-term debt 3,116,032 2,611,356

Deferred income taxes 531,242 388,151

Other long-term liabilities 341,531 279,823

Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, none issued

Common stock, 149,222,997 and 154,993,214 shares issued

and outstanding, with a par value of $0.01 per share 1,492 1,550

Additional paid-in capital 1,308,172 1,498,025

Retained earnings 1,359,632 1,074,258

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (8,159) (31,020)

Total stockholders’ equity 2,661,137 2,542,813

Total $7,756,368 $6,992,536

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands, except share data) 2004 2003 2002

Net sales $10,822,285 $9,184,616 $8,991,464

Cost of sales 8,257,756 6,808,207 6,642,773

Gross profit 2,564,529 2,376,409 2,348,691

Operating costs and expenses:

Selling and distribution 1,512,507 1,345,065 1,321,763

General and administrative 349,683 317,342 337,496

Amortization of intangibles 6,650 4,949 7,775

Facility closing and reorganization costs 34,695 11,787 19,050

Other operating income (5,899) (68,719) –

Total operating costs and expenses 1,897,636 1,610,424 1,686,084

Operating income 666,893 765,985 662,607

Other (income) expense:

Interest expense 204,770 181,134 197,685

Financing charges on trust issued preferred securities – 14,164 33,578

Equity in (earnings) losses of unconsolidated affiliates – (244) 7,899

Other (income) expense, net (253) (2,625) 2,660

Total other expense 204,517 192,429 241,822

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 462,376 573,556 420,785

Income taxes 177,002 217,853 152,988

Minority interest in earnings – – 46

Income from continuing operations 285,374 355,703 267,751

Loss on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax - – (8,231)

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax – – 879

Income before cumulative effect of accounting change 285,374 355,703 260,399

Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax – – (84,983)

Net income $ 285,374 $ 355,703 $ 175,416

Average common shares:

Basic 154,635,979 145,201,412 135,031,274

Diluted 160,704,576 160,695,670 163,163,904

Basic earnings per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 1.85 $ 2.45 $ 1.98

Loss from discontinued operations – – (.05)

Cumulative effect of accounting change – – (.63)

Net income $ 1.85 $ 2.45 $ 1.30

Diluted earnings per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 1.78 $ 2.27 $ 1.77

Loss from discontinued operations – – (.05)

Cumulative effect of accounting change – – (.51)

Net income $ 1.78 $ 2.27 $ 1.21

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Accumulated
Other Total

Common Stock Additional Paid- Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’ Comprehensive
(Dollars in thousands, except share data) Shares Amount In Capital Earnings Income (loss) Equity Income

Balance, January 1, 2002 131,809,470 $1,318 $  961,266 $ 543,139 $(29,843) $1,475,880
Issuance of common stock 5,278,170 53 88,578 – – 88,631
Reclassification of Legacy Dean

stock option liability – – 30,461 – – 30,461
Purchase and retirement of

treasury stock (4,126,200) (41) (101,192) – – (101,233)
Net income – – – 175,416 175,416 $175,416
Other comprehensive income 

(Note 12):
Change in fair value of

derivative instruments – – – – (46,803) (46,803) (46,803)
Amounts reclassified to income

statement related to derivatives – – – – 24,014 24,014 24,014
Cumulative translation adjustment – – – – 8,408 8,408 8,408
Minimum pension liability adjustment – – – – (11,481) (11,481) (11,481)
Comprehensive income $149,554

Balance, December 31, 2002 132,961,440 1,330 979,113 718,555 (55,705) 1,643,293
Issuance of common stock 5,798,235 58 121,592 – – 121,650
Exchange of trust issued

preferred securities 22,901,839 229 582,757 – – 582,986
Purchase and retirement of

treasury stock (6,668,300) (67) (185,437) – – (185,504)
Net income – – – 355,703 – 355,703 $355,703
Other comprehensive income 

(Note 12):
Change in fair value of

derivative instruments – – – – (7,650) (7,650) (7,650)
Amounts reclassified to income

statement related to derivatives – – – – 25,610 25,610 25,610
Cumulative translation adjustment – – – – 18,247 18,247 18,247
Minimum pension liability adjustment – – – – (11,522) (11,522) (11,522)
Comprehensive income $380,388

Balance, December 31, 2003 154,993,214 1,550 1,498,025 1,074,258 (31,020) 2,542,813
Issuance of common stock 3,539,783 35 86,437 – – 86,472
Horizon Organic stock 

option conversion – – 20,635 – – 20,635
Purchase and retirement of 

treasury stock (9,310,000) (93) (296,925) – – (297,018)
Net income – – – 285,374 – 285,374 $285,374
Other comprehensive income 

(Note 12):
Change in fair value of 

derivative instruments – – – – (717) (717) (717)
Amounts reclassified to income

statement related to derivatives – – – – 20,723 20,723 20,723
Cumulative translation adjustment – – – – 17,313 17,313 17,313
Minimum pension liability adjustment – – – – (14,458) (14,458) (14,458)
Comprehensive income $308,235

Balance, December 31, 2004 149,222,997 $1,492 $1,308,172 $1,359,632 $ (8,159) $2,661,137

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 285,374 $ 355,703 $ 175,416

Income from discontinued operations – – (879)

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided

by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 223,547 191,885 173,994

(Gain) loss on disposition of assets 4,552 (1,194) 4,586

Gain on sale of operations (122) (66,168) –

Equity in (earnings) loss of unconsolidated affiliates – (244) 7,899

Loss on sale of discontinued operations – – 8,231

Cumulative effect of accounting change – – 84,983

Write-down of impaired assets 13,099 8,757 11,253

Deferred income taxes 143,136 143,267 75,605

Tax savings on equity compensation 18,526 26,380 13,923

Costs related to early extinguishment of debt 32,613 – –

Other 358 (8,990) 2,839

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Receivables (83,456) (67,565) 99,775

Inventories (25,722) (18,718) 18,167

Prepaid expenses and other assets 436 20,663 (943)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (74,711) (89,367) (51,193)

Income taxes payable (9,974) 27,893 18,961

Net cash provided by continuing operations 527,656 522,302 642,617

Net cash provided by discontinued operations – – 13,147

Net cash provided by operating activities 527,656 522,302 655,764

Cash flows from investing activities:

Additions to property, plant and equipment (356,136) (291,662) (241,982)

Cash outflows for acquisitions and investments (401,148) (246,573) (222,149)

Net proceeds from divestitures – 89,950 148,313

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 10,713 12,112 6,765

Net cash used in continuing operations (746,571) (436,173) (309,053)

Net cash used in discontinued operations – – (5,138)

Net cash used in investing activities (746,571) (436,173) (314,191)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of debt 1,658,846 349,680 637,500

Repayment of debt (1,220,629) (322,691) (992,797)

Payments of deferred financing, debt restructuring and merger costs (9,801) (5,200) (2,887)

Issuance of common stock, net of expenses 67,946 95,270 74,988

Redemption of common stock (297,018) (199,521) (87,211)

Redemption of trust issued preferred securities – (2,420) –

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 199,344 (84,882) (370,407)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (19,571) 1,247 (28,834)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 47,143 45,896 74,730

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 27,572 $   47,143 $   45,896

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



52

D e a n  F o o d s  2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Y E A R S E N D E D D E C E M B E R 31,  2004,  2003 A N D 2002

1 . Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Our Business – We are a leading food and beverage company. Our Dairy Group is the largest processor and distributor of milk

and various other dairy products in the United States. The Dairy Group sells its products under a variety of local and regional brands. Our

WhiteWave Foods Company (formerly the Branded Products Group) manufacturers, markets and sells a variety of well-known soy, dairy

and dairy-related nationally branded products including Silk® soymilk and cultured soy products, Horizon Organic® fluid dairy, juices and

other products, International Delight® coffee creamers and LAND O’LAKES® fluid dairy products. Our Specialty Foods Group is the

leading private label pickle processor in the United States and a maker of a variety of other food products. We also own the fourth largest

dairy processor in Spain.

Basis of Presentation – Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of our wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany

balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates – The preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles

(“GAAP”) requires us to use our judgment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and

disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts of net sales

and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Cash Equivalents – We consider temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Inventories – Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Dairy and certain specialty products are valued using the first-in,

first-out (“FIFO”) method while our pickle inventories are valued using the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) method. The costs of finished goods

inventories include raw materials, direct labor and indirect production and overhead costs.

Property, Plant and Equipment – Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition cost, plus capitalized interest on borrowings

during the actual construction period of major capital projects. Also included in property, plant and equipment are certain direct costs

related to the implementation of computer software for internal use. Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line

method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Asset Useful Life

Buildings and improvements 7 to 40 years

Machinery and equipment 3 to 20 years

We perform impairment tests when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Capitalized leases are

amortized over the shorter of their lease term or their estimated useful lives. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance, which do not

improve or extend the life of the assets, are expensed as incurred.



53

D e a n  F o o d s  2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Y E A R S E N D E D D E C E M B E R 31,  2004,  2003 A N D 2002

Intangible and Other Assets – Identifiable intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Asset Useful Life

Customer relationships Straight-line method over 5 to 15 years

Customer supply contracts Straight-line method over the terms of the agreements

Trademarks/trade names Straight-line method over 5 to 40 years

Noncompetition agreements Straight-line method over the terms of the agreements

Patents Straight-line method over 15 years

Deferred financing costs Interest method over the terms of the related debt

Effective January 1, 2002, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, goodwill and other

intangible assets determined to have indefinite useful lives are no longer amortized. Instead, we now conduct impairment tests on our

goodwill, trademarks and other intangible assets with indefinite lives annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may

not be recoverable. To determine whether an impairment exists, we use present value techniques. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, we

conducted transitional impairment tests and recorded certain impairments during 2002. The results of these tests indicated that the

goodwill related to our Puerto Rico operations was impaired at January 1, 2002. In the fourth quarter of 2002, we determined that the

impairment that existed as of January 1, 2002 was $37.7 million (net of tax). As required by SFAS No. 142, we recorded the impairment in

our income statement as the cumulative effect of accounting change retroactive to the first quarter of 2002. See Note 2 for information

related to the sale of our Puerto Rico operations. We also completed an impairment assessment of our intangibles with indefinite useful

lives other than goodwill, upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, during the first quarter of 2002 as of January 1, 2002. We determined that an

impairment of $47.3 million (net of tax) existed at January 1, 2002. The impairment related to certain trademarks in our Dairy Group and

WhiteWave Foods Company segments, and was recorded in the first quarter as the cumulative effect of an accounting change. The fair

value of these trademarks was determined using a present value technique.

Foreign Currency Translation – The financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars in accordance with the

provisions of SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation.” The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is generally the local

currency of the country. Accordingly, assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars at year-end exchange

rates. Income and expense items are translated at the average rates prevailing during the year. Changes in exchange rates that affect cash

flows and the related receivables or payables are recognized as transaction gains and losses in the determination of net income. The

cumulative translation adjustment in stockholders’ equity reflects the unrealized adjustments resulting from translating the financial

statements of our foreign subsidiaries.

Minority Interest in Subsidiaries – Minority interest in results of operations of consolidated subsidiaries represents the minority

shareholders’ share of the income or loss of various consolidated subsidiaries. Equity in earnings/(losses) represents the proportional share

of the earnings or losses of these subsidiaries less any cash distributions made. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were no outstanding

minority interests.

Stock-Based Compensation – We have elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to

Employees,” and related interpretations in accounting for our stock options. All options granted to date have been to employees, officers

and directors. No compensation expense has been recognized as the stock options were granted at exercise prices that were at or above

market value at the grant date. Compensation expense for grants of stock units (“SUs”) is recognized over the vesting period. See Note 11

for more information about our stock option and SU programs. Had compensation expense been determined for stock option grants using
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fair value methods provided for in SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” our pro forma net income and net income

per common share would have been the amounts indicated below:

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands, except share data) 2004 2003 2002

Net income, as reported $285,374 $355,703 $175,416

Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income,

net of tax 3,628 2,396

Less: Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value-based

methods for all awards, net of tax (35,281) (36,614) (31,249)

Pro forma net income $253,721 $321,485 $144,167

Net income per share:

Basic – as reported $ 1.85 $ 2.45 $ 1.30

– pro forma 1.64 2.21 1.07

Diluted – as reported 1.78 2.27 1.21

– pro forma 1.58 2.06 1.01

Stock option share data:

Stock options granted during period 2,392,658 3,508,667 7,711,394

Weighted average option fair value $ 8.87 $ 11.61 $ 9.99

SU data:

SUs granted during period 475,750 806,800 –

Weighted average unit fair value $ 31.59 $ 25.06 –

The fair value of each stock option grant is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, with the following assumptions:

2004 2003 2002

Expected volatility 25% 37 to 38% 38%

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Expected option term 5 years 7 years 7 years

Risk-free rate of return 2.98 to 3.81% 3.03 to 4.00% 4.09 to 4.87%

Sales Recognition and Accounts Receivable – Sales are recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the price is fixed

or determinable, the product has been shipped to the customer and there is a reasonable assurance of collection of the sales proceeds. In

accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) 01-09, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer,” sales are

reduced by certain sales incentives, some of which are recorded by estimating expense based on our historical experience. We provide credit

terms to customers generally ranging up to 30 days, perform ongoing credit evaluation of our customers and maintain allowances for

potential credit losses based on historical experience. Estimated product returns, which have not been material, are deducted from sales at

the time of shipment.

Income Taxes – All of our wholly owned U.S. operating subsidiaries are included in our consolidated tax return. In addition, our

proportional share of the operations of our former majority-owned subsidiaries and certain of our equity method affiliates, all of which are

organized as limited liability companies or limited partnerships, are included in our consolidated tax return. Our foreign subsidiaries are

required to file separate income tax returns in their local jurisdictions. Certain distributions from these subsidiaries are subject to U.S.

income taxes; however, available tax credits of these subsidiaries may reduce or eliminate these U.S. income tax liabilities. Other foreign

earnings are expected to be reinvested indefinitely. At December 31, 2004, no provision had been made for U.S. federal or state income tax

on approximately $30.5 million of accumulated foreign earnings.



55

D e a n  F o o d s  2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Y E A R S E N D E D D E C E M B E R 31,  2004,  2003 A N D 2002

Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between amounts recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements and

tax bases of assets and liabilities using current tax rates. Deferred tax assets, including the benefit of net operating loss carry-forwards, are

evaluated based on the guidelines for realization and are reduced by a valuation allowance if deemed necessary.

Advertising Expense – Advertising expense is primarily comprised of media, agency and production expenses. Advertising expenses are

charged to income during the period incurred, except for expenses related to the development of a major commercial or media campaign

which are charged to income during the period in which the advertisement or campaign is first presented by the media. Advertising

expenses charged to income totaled $120 million in 2004, $108.3 million in 2003 and $91.1 million in 2002. Additionally, prepaid

advertising costs were $3.6 million and $368,000 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Shipping and Handling Fees – Our shipping and handling costs are included in both cost of sales and selling and distribution expense,

depending on the nature of such costs. Shipping and handling costs included in cost of sales reflect inventory warehouse costs, product

loading and handling costs and costs associated with transporting finished products from our manufacturing facilities to our own

distribution warehouses. Shipping and handling costs included in selling and distribution expense consist primarily of route delivery costs

for both company-owned delivery routes and independent distributor routes, to the extent that such independent distributors are paid a

delivery fee and the cost of shipping products to customers through third party carriers. Shipping and handling costs that were recorded as

a component of selling and distribution expense were approximately $1.13 billion, $988.1 million and $951.9 million during 2004, 2003

and 2002, respectively.

Insurance Accruals – We retain selected levels of property and casualty risks, primarily related to employee health care, workers’

compensation claims and other casualty losses. Many of these potential losses are covered under conventional insurance programs with

third party carriers with high deductible limits. In other areas, we are self-insured with stop-loss coverages. Accrued liabilities for incurred

but not reported losses related to these retained risks are calculated based upon loss development factors which contemplate a number of

factors including claims history and expected trends. These loss development factors are developed by us in consultation with external

insurance brokers and actuaries.

Facility Closing and Reorganization Costs – We have an on-going facility closing and reorganization strategy. We periodically record

facility closing and reorganization charges when we have identified a facility for closure or other reorganization opportunity, developed 

a plan and notified the affected employees. Effective January 1, 2003, we record these charges in accordance with SFAS No. 146,

“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” Facility closings initiated prior to January 1, 2003 continue to be

accounted for under the old guidance.

Comprehensive Income – We consider all changes in equity from transactions and other events and circumstances, except those resulting

from investments by owners and distributions to owners, to be comprehensive income.

Stock Split – On June 9, 2003, we effected a three-for-two split of our common stock, and on April 23, 2002, we effected a two-for-one

stock split. All share numbers contained in our Consolidated Financial Statements and in these Notes have been adjusted for all periods to

reflect the stock splits.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements – In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS

No. 132 (revised 2003), “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits” in an attempt to improve financial

statement disclosures regarding defined benefit plans. This standard requires that companies provide more details about their plan assets,

benefit obligations, cash flows, benefit costs and other relevant information. In addition to expanded annual disclosures, we are required to

report the various elements of pension and other postretirement benefit costs on a quarterly basis. SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003) is effective

for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2003, and for quarters beginning after December 15, 2003. The expanded disclosure

requirements are included in this report.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”) was signed into law.

The Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare Part D, as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit

plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. In April 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position (“FSP”)

No. SFAS 106-2 to address the accounting and disclosure requirements related to the Act. The FSP is effective for interim or annual

periods beginning after September 15, 2004. Substantially all of our postretirement benefits terminate at age 65. Therefore, the FSP will

have no material affect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements – The FASB issued SFAS No.123(R), “Share-Based Payment” in December 2004. It will

require the cost of employee compensation paid with equity instruments to be measured based on grant-date fair values. That cost will be

recognized over the vesting period. SFAS No. 123(R) will become effective for us in the third quarter 2005. We are still evaluating the

impact of SFAS No. 123(R) on our Consolidated Financial Statements and have not yet determined the transition method we will apply

when we adopt the statement. Refer to the section “Stock-Based Compensation” in this Note for an illustration of the pro-forma impact 

of expensing our stock options in the historical periods.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs – an Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4.” SFAS No. 151,

which is effective for inventory costs incurred during years beginning after June 15, 2005, clarifies the accounting for abnormal amounts of

idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material, requiring that those items be recognized as current-period charges. In

addition, SFAS No. 151 requires that allocation of fixed production overheads be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities.

We do not believe the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2004, FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29.” SFAS

No. 153 is effective for nonmonetary exchanges occurring in years beginning after June 15, 2005. SFAS No. 153 eliminates the rule in

APB No. 29 which excluded from fair value measurement exchanges of similar productive assets. Instead SFAS No. 153 excludes from 

fair value measurement exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. We do not believe the adoption of this

standard will have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Reclassifications – Certain reclassifications have been made to conform the prior years’ Consolidated Financial Statements to the current

year classifications.

2 . Acquisitions, Divestitures and Discontinued Operations

General

We completed the acquisitions of 24 businesses during 2004, 2003 and 2002. All of these acquisitions were funded with cash flows from

operations and borrowings under our credit facility and our accounts receivables-backed facility.

All acquisitions were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting as of their respective acquisition dates, and accordingly,

only the results of operations of the acquired companies subsequent to their respective acquisition dates are included in our Consolidated
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Financial Statements. At the acquisition date, the purchase price was allocated to assets acquired, including identifiable intangibles, and

liabilities assumed based on their fair market values. The excess of the total purchase prices over the fair values of the net assets acquired

represented goodwill. In connection with the acquisitions, assets were acquired and liabilities were assumed as follows:

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Purchase prices:

Cash paid, net of cash acquired $ 401,148 $246,573 $206,307(1) 

Cash acquired in acquisitions 2,539 171 17,870

Total purchase prices 403,687 246,744 224,177

Fair value of net assets acquired:

Assets acquired 260,723 102,709 147,650

Liabilities assumed (163,270) (28,771) (29,172)

Total fair value of net assets acquired 97,453 73,938 118,478

Goodwill $ 306,234 $172,806 $  105,699

(1) An additional $15.8 million was paid as part of the acquisition of the former Dean Foods Company (“Legacy Dean”).

We have not completed the final allocation of purchase price to the fair values of assets and liabilities acquired in 2004, or the related

business integration plans. We expect that the ultimate purchase price allocation may include additional adjustments to the fair values of

depreciable tangible assets, identifiable intangible assets and the carrying values of certain liabilities. Accordingly, to the extent that such

assessments indicate the fair value of the assets and liabilities differ from their preliminary purchase price allocation, such difference would

adjust the amounts allocated to the assets and liabilities and would change the amounts allocated to goodwill.

2004 Acquisitions

Milk Products of Alabama – On October 15, 2004 our Dairy Group acquired Milk Products of Alabama, a dairy manufacturer based in

Decatur, Alabama. Milk Products of Alabama had net sales of approximately $34 million in 2003. As a result of this acquisition, we have

expanded our production capabilities in the southeastern United States, allowing us to better serve our customers. Milk Products of Alabama’s

results of operations are now included in the Morningstar division of our Dairy Group. We paid approximately $23.2 million for the purchase

of Milk Products of Alabama, including costs of acquisition, and funded the purchase price with borrowings under our senior credit facility.

Tiger Foods – On May 31, 2004, Leche Celta, our Spanish subsidiary, acquired Tiger Foods, a dairy processing business with one facility

located in Avila, Spain. Tiger Foods, which had net sales of approximately $29 million in 2003, manufactures and distributes branded and

private label UHT milk and dairy-based drinks throughout Spain, with an emphasis in the southern and central regions. Tiger Foods’

operations complement our Spanish operations and we expect this acquisition to allow us to reduce our transportation costs for raw milk

and finished products due to their geographic proximity to our raw milk suppliers and certain customers. We paid approximately $21.9

million for the purchase of the company, all of which was funded with borrowings under our senior credit facility.

Soy Processing Facility – On April 5, 2004, our WhiteWave Foods Company acquired a soy processing and packaging plant located in

Bridgeton, New Jersey. Prior to the acquisition, the previous owner of the facility co-packed Silk products for us at the facility. As a result 

of the acquisition, we have increased our in-house processing and packaging capabilities for our soy products, resulting in cost reductions.

We paid approximately $25.7 million for the purchase of the facility, all of which was funded using borrowings under our senior credit facility.
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LAND O’LAKES East – In 2002, we purchased a perpetual license to use the LAND O’LAKES® brand on certain dairy products nationally,

excluding cheese and butter. This perpetual license was subject, however, to a pre-existing sublicense entitling a competitor to manufacture

and sell cream, sour cream and whipping cream in certain channels in the eastern United States. Effective March 31, 2004, WhiteWave Foods

Company acquired that sublicense and certain customer relationships of the sublicensee (“LAND O’LAKES East”) for an aggregate purchase

price of approximately $17 million, all of which was funded using borrowings under our senior credit facility. We now have the exclusive

right to use the LAND O’LAKES brand on certain dairy products (other than cheese and butter) throughout the entire United States.

Ross Swiss Dairies – On January 26, 2004, our Dairy Group acquired Ross Swiss Dairies, a dairy distributor based in Los Angeles,

California, which had net sales of approximately $120 million in 2003. As a result of this acquisition, we have increased the distribution

capability of our Dairy Group in southern California, allowing us to better serve our customers. Ross Swiss Dairies has historically

purchased a significant portion of its products from other processors. Now the majority of products distributed by Ross Swiss Dairies are

manufactured in our southern California facilities. We paid approximately $21.8 million, including transaction costs, for the purchase of

Ross Swiss Dairies and funded the purchase price with borrowings under our receivables-backed facility.

Horizon Organic – On January 2, 2004, we completed the acquisition of the 87% of Horizon Organic Holding Corporation (“Horizon

Organic”) that we did not already own. Horizon Organic had sales of over $200 million during 2003. We already owned approximately

13% of the outstanding common stock of Horizon Organic as a result of investments made in 1998. Third-party co-packers, including us,

have historically done all of Horizon Organic’s manufacturing. During 2003, we produced approximately 27% of Horizon Organic’s fluid

dairy products. We also distributed Horizon Organic’s products in several parts of the country. Horizon Organic is a leading branded

organic foods company in the United States. Because organic foods are gaining popularity with consumers and because Horizon Organic’s

products offer consumers an alternative to our Dairy Group’s traditional dairy products, we believe Horizon Organic is an important

addition to our portfolio of brands. The aggregate purchase price for the 87% of Horizon Organic that we did not already own was

approximately $287 million, including approximately $217 million of cash paid to Horizon Organic’s stockholders, the repayment of

approximately $40 million of borrowings under Horizon Organic’s former credit facilities, and transaction expenses of approximately $9

million, all of which was funded using borrowings under our senior credit facility and our receivables-backed facility. In addition, each of

the options to purchase Horizon Organic’s common stock outstanding on January 2, 2004 was converted into an option to purchase .7301

shares of our stock, with an aggregate fair value of approximately $21 million. Beginning with the first quarter of 2004, Horizon Organic’s

financial results are reported in our WhiteWave Foods Company segment.

Other – During 2004, our Dairy Group and Specialty Foods Group completed several smaller acquisitions for an aggregate purchase price

of $23.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively.

2003 Acquisitions

Cremora – On December 24, 2003, our Specialty Foods Group acquired the Cremora® branded non-dairy powdered creamer business from

Eagle Family Foods. Prior to the acquisition, we had been producing Cremora creamers for Eagle Family Foods pursuant to a co-packing

arrangement, which generated approximately $8.9 million of net sales for us in 2003. Cremora is the first branded powdered coffee creamer

offering for Specialty Foods. The Cremora brand had sales of approximately $15.8 million in the twelve months ended June 30, 2003. We

purchased the Cremora business for a purchase price of approximately $12.6 million, all of which was funded using borrowings under our

senior credit facility.
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Kohler Mix – On October 15, 2003, we acquired Kohler Mix Specialties, Inc., the dairy products division of Michael Foods, Inc. Kohler’s

product line consists primarily of private label ultra-pasteurized ice cream mixes, creamers and creams, sold primarily in the foodservice

channel. Kohler is included in the Morningstar division of our Dairy Group segment. The acquisition of Kohler increased the Dairy

Group’s ultra-high temperature processing capacity, which we needed to meet the expanding needs of our WhiteWave Foods Company

segment. Kohler had net sales of approximately $187.5 million for the 12 months ended August 31, 2003 and has three facilities located 

in White Bear Lake, Minnesota, Sulphur Springs, Texas and Newington, Connecticut. We paid approximately $158.6 million for the

purchase of Kohler, all of which was funded using borrowings under our receivables-backed facility.

Melody Farms – On June 9, 2003, our Dairy Group acquired Melody Farms, LLC. Melody Farms, which is now a part of the Midwest

region of our Dairy Group, is a regional dairy processor based in Livonia, Michigan, that produces fluid dairy and ice cream products from

two facilities in Michigan. Our acquisition of Melody Farms expanded our distribution reach and allows us to better serve our customers 

in the Michigan area. Melody Farms had net sales of approximately $116 million during the 12 months ended March 31, 2003. We paid

approximately $52.7 million for Melody Farms, all of which was funded using borrowings under our receivables-backed facility.

Other – During 2003, our Dairy Group completed several small acquisitions for an aggregate purchase price of $22.6 million.

2002 Acquisitions

Marie’s – On May 17, 2002, we bought the assets of Marie’s Quality Foods, Marie’s Dressings, Inc. and Marie’s Associates, makers of

Marie’s® brand dips and dressings in the western United States, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $23.5 million. Prior to the

acquisition, we licensed the Marie’s brand to Marie’s Quality Foods and Marie’s Dressings, Inc. for use in connection with the manufacture

and sale of dips and dressings in the western United States. As a result of this acquisition, our WhiteWave Foods Company segment is now

the sole owner, manufacturer and marketer of Marie’s brand products nationwide.

White Wave, Inc. (White Wave) – On May 9, 2002, we acquired the 64% equity interest in White Wave that we did not already own.

White Wave, based in Boulder, Colorado, is the maker of Silk soymilk and other soy-based products, and had sales of approximately $125

million during the 12 months ended March 31, 2002. Prior to May 9, 2002, we owned approximately 36% of White Wave, as a result of

certain investments made by Legacy Dean beginning in 1999. We decided to purchase the remaining 64% equity interest, for a total price

of approximately $192.8 million because of the success that Silk had experienced in the refrigerated soymilk category and we believed it 

was important that we have a successful branded soymilk offering in order to better serve our customers and consumers.

Other – In 2002 our Dairy Group made two smaller acquisitions for an aggregate purchase price of $8 million.

Divestitures

In order to more closely align both our assets and our management resources with our strategic direction, part of our strategy is to divest

certain non-core assets. On July 31, 2003, we completed the sale of our frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen coffee creamer operations.

We recorded a pre-tax gain on the sale of approximately $66.2 million. Also in July 2003, we sold certain Dairy Group delivery trucks and

customer relationships in New York. The proceeds from the sale of businesses during 2003 were approximately $90 million. During 2002,

we completed the sale of the following non-core businesses acquired as part of Legacy Dean’s Specialty Foods division: on January 4, 2002,

we completed the sale of the stock of DFC Transportation Company, a contract hauler; on February 7, 2002, we completed the sale of the

assets related to a boiled peanut business; and on October 11, 2002, we completed the sale of EBI Foods Limited, a U.K.-based

manufacturer of powdered food coatings. Net proceeds from the sale of these three businesses totaled approximately $28.9 million. No gain

or loss was recorded on the divestiture of Legacy Dean’s businesses during 2002 because the sales prices equaled the carrying values.
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Discontinued Operations

On December 30, 2002, we sold our operations in Puerto Rico for a net price of approximately $119.4 million. Our financial statements

were restated in 2002 to reflect our former Puerto Rico business as a discontinued operation.

Net sales and income before taxes generated by our Puerto Rico operations were as follows:

Year Ended
December 31

(In thousands) 2002(1)

Net sales $221,908

Income before tax(2) 1,762

(1) All intercompany sales and expenses have been appropriately eliminated in the table.
(2) Corporate interest expense of $5.5 million in 2002 was allocated to our Puerto Rico operations based on the ratio of our investment in Puerto Rico to total debt and equity.

In the first quarter of 2002, we recognized an impairment charge of $37.7 million related to the goodwill of our Puerto Rico operations

in accordance with our implementation of SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” This loss is reflected as a cumulative

change in accounting principle in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

3 . Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

Investment in Consolidated Container Company – We own an approximately 27% minority interest, on a fully diluted basis, in

Consolidated Container Company (“CCC”), one of the nation’s largest manufacturers of rigid plastic containers and our largest supplier of

plastic bottles and bottle components. We have owned our minority interest since July 2, 1999 when we sold our U.S. plastic packaging

operations to CCC.

Since July 2, 1999, our investment in CCC has been accounted for under the equity method of accounting. During 2001, due to a

variety of operational difficulties, CCC consistently reported operating results that were significantly weaker than expected, which resulted

in significant losses in the third and fourth quarters of 2001. As a result, by late 2001 CCC had become unable to comply with the

financial covenants contained in its credit facility. We concluded that our investment was impaired and that the impairment was not

temporary so we wrote off our remaining investment during the fourth quarter of 2001.

In February 2002, CCC’s lenders agreed to restructure CCC’s credit agreement to modify the financial covenants, subject to the

agreement of CCC’s primary shareholders to guarantee certain of CCC’s indebtedness. Because CCC is an important and valued supplier

of ours, and in order to protect our interest in CCC, we agreed to provide a limited guarantee of up to $10 million of CCC’s revolving

credit indebtedness. By late 2002, CCC was again unable to comply with the terms of its credit agreement. CCC’s lenders agreed to again

restructure CCC’s credit agreement, subject to the agreement of CCC’s primary shareholders to provide a total of $35 million of additional

debt financing to CCC. In the fourth quarter of 2002, we agreed to loan CCC $10 million of the $35 million in additional financing, in

exchange for cancellation of our pre-existing $10 million guaranty and the receipt of additional equity. Vestar Capital Partners, majority

owner of CCC, loaned CCC the remaining $25 million. Our loan to CCC is due on December 31, 2007 (or upon the earlier payment in

full of CCC’s senior debt) and is secured by a subordinate lien on certain of CCC’s assets. The loan is not scheduled to be repaid until after

CCC’s senior debt has been paid. Therefore, our right to enforce payment of the loan is limited prior to payment in full of CCC’s senior

debt. The loan bears interest at the prime rate plus 2.25%, or the eurodollar rate plus 3.25%, at CCC’s option. Upon maturity of the loan,

we will be entitled to receive a $400,000 fee, plus an additional fee in respect of the unpaid principal amount of the loan from January 10,

2003 to the maturity date of the loan, computed at an annual rate of 11.3%. Under GAAP, we were required to recognize a portion of

CCC’s 2002 losses, up to the amount of the loan. The loan was written off in its entirety in the fourth quarter of 2002. Our investment in

CCC was recorded at $0 at December 31, 2004 and 2003.
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Less than 1% of CCC is owned indirectly by Alan Bernon, a member of our Board of Directors, and his brother Peter Bernon. Pursuant

to our agreements with Vestar, we control two of the seven seats on CCC’s Management Committee. We have long-term supply agreements

with CCC to purchase certain of our requirements for plastic bottles and bottle components from CCC. We spent approximately $235.5

million, $167.9 million and $128.7 million on products purchased from CCC for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,

respectively. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we purchased equipment previously owned and operated by CCC totaling $3.2 million.

Investment in Horizon Organic – At December 31, 2003, we had an approximately 13% interest in Horizon Organic. We accounted for

this investment under the equity method of accounting. On January 2, 2004, we acquired the 87% of Horizon Organic that we did not

already own and began consolidating Horizon Organic’s results with our financial results. Our investment in Horizon Organic at

December 31, 2003 was recorded at $16.6 million, and our equity in earnings included in our consolidated statement of income for 2003

and 2002 was income of $244,000 and a loss of $69,000, respectively.

Investment in Momentx – As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, we had an approximately 16% interest in Momentx, Inc. Our investment in

Momentx at both December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $1.2 million. Momentx is the owner and operator of dairy.com, an online vertical

exchange dedicated to the dairy industry. We account for this investment under the cost method of accounting. We spent approximately

$664,000, $636,000 and $147,000 on products purchased from dairy.com for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

4. Inventories
December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Raw materials and supplies $192,796 $165,206

Finished goods 287,185 261,272

Total $479,981 $426,478

Approximately $88.2 million and $97.6 million of our inventory was accounted for under the LIFO method of accounting at December

31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Our LIFO reserve was $4 million and $1.4 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

5 . Property, Plant and Equipment
December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Land $ 165,531 $ 153,257

Buildings and improvements 728,278 642,468

Machinery and equipment 1,858,879 1,616,100

2,752,688 2,411,825

Less accumulated depreciation (805,696) (638,270)

Total $1,946,992 $1,773,555

For both 2004 and 2003, we capitalized $3.4 million in interest related to borrowings during the actual construction period of major

capital projects, which is included as part of the cost of the related asset.
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6. Intangible Asse ts

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

WhiteWave
Foods Specialty

(In thousands) Dairy Group Company Foods Group Other Total

Balance at December 31, 2002 $2,264,093 $395,948 $304,290 $ 71,086 $3,035,417

Purchase accounting adjustments (19,035) (5,679) – – (24,714)

Acquisitions 165,306 – 7,500 – 172,806

Currency changes and other – – – 14,039 14,039

Balance at December 31, 2003 2,410,364 390,269 311,790 85,125 3,197,548

Purchase accounting adjustments (16,788) (23) (5,317) – (22,128)

Acquisitions 49,392 244,436 – 12,406 306,234

Currency changes and other – – – 8,475 8,475

Balance at December 31, 2004 $2,442,968 $634,682 $306,473 $106,006 $3,490,129

The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization of our intangible assets other than goodwill as of December 31, 2004 and

2003 are as follows:

December 31
2004 2003

Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying

(In thousands) Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Intangible assets with indefinite lives:

Trademarks $583,402 $(14,274) $569,128 $485,358 $(14,274) $471,084

Intangible assets with finite lives:

Customer-related 98,842 (18,886) 79,956 50,850 (12,187) 38,663

Total other intangibles $682,244 $(33,160) $649,084 $536,208 $(26,461) $509,747

In the fourth quarter of 2004, we substantially completed the purchase price allocation related to our acquisition of Horizon Organic,

and the preliminary amounts initially allocated to trademarks and customer related intangible assets were adjusted accordingly. In addition,

goodwill was adjusted for changes in estimated exit costs under contractual obligations entered into by Horizon Organic prior to our

acquisition of them in January 2004.

Amortization expense on intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $6.9 million, $5.5 million and

$7.8 million, respectively. Estimated aggregate intangible asset amortization expense for the next five years is as follows:

2005 $8.3 million

2006 8.1 million

2007 7.9 million

2008 7.8 million

2009 7.6 million

Our goodwill and intangible assets have resulted primarily from acquisitions. Upon acquisition, the purchase price is first allocated to

identifiable assets and liabilities, including trademarks and customer-related intangible assets, with any remaining purchase price recorded

as goodwill. Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite lives are not amortized.
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A trademark is recorded with an indefinite life if it has sufficient market share and a history of strong sales and cash flow performance

that we expect to continue for the foreseeable future. If these perpetual trademark criteria are not met, the trademarks are amortized over

their expected useful lives, which range from five to 40 years. Determining the expected life of a trademark is based on a number of factors

including the competitive environment, market share, trademark history and anticipated future trademark support.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, we conduct impairment tests of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives annually in the

fourth quarter or when circumstances arise that indicate a possible impairment might exist. If the fair value of an evaluated asset is less 

than its book value, the asset is written down to fair value based on its discounted future cash flows. Our 2004 annual impairment tests of

both goodwill and intangibles with indefinite lives indicated no impairments. Our annual impairment test of goodwill conducted in the

fourth quarter of 2003 indicated no impairment of goodwill; as a result of the tests on intangibles with indefinite lives an impairment of

$2.3 million was recorded for a trademark that we were no longer using.

Amortizable intangible assets are only evaluated for impairment upon a significant change in the operating environment. If an evaluation

of the undiscounted cash flows indicates impairment, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value, which is based on discounted

future cash flows.

7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Accounts payable $577,629 $517,852

Payroll and benefits 120,485 161,700

Health insurance, workers’ compensation and other insurance costs 62,705 51,720

Other accrued liabilities 164,380 193,435

Total $925,199 $924,707

8 . Income Taxes

The following table presents the 2004, 2003 and 2002 provisions for income taxes:
Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002(1)

Current taxes payable:

Federal $ 23,590 $ 55,652 $ 47,618

State 5,066 14,533 7,829

Foreign and other 2,925 4,401 3,238

Deferred income taxes 145,421 143,267 94,303

Total $177,002 $217,853 $152,988

(1) Excludes an $883,000 income tax expense related to discontinued operations and a $29 million income benefit related to a cumulative effect of accounting change.

The following is a reconciliation of income taxes computed at the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to the income taxes reported in the

consolidated statements of income:

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Tax expense at statutory rates $161,832 $200,746 $147,274

State income taxes 11,383 11,732 16,320

Change in valuation allowance 1,208 7,493 4,527

Favorable tax settlement – – (10,076)

Other 2,579 (2,118) (5,057)

Total $177,002 $217,853 $152,988
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The tax effects of temporary differences giving rise to deferred income tax assets and liabilities were:

December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Deferred income tax assets:

Net operating loss carry-forwards $ 14,430 $    11,402

Asset valuation reserves 13,568 17,096

Accrued liabilities 189,971 157,268

State and foreign tax credits 9,670 8,389

Derivative instruments 2,498 13,593

Other (8,034) 1,404

Valuation allowances (14,765) (13,557)

207,338 195,595

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Depreciation and amortization (564,615) (428,624)

Basis differences in unconsolidated affiliates (23,814) (18,067)

(588,429) (446,691)

Net deferred income tax liability $(381,091) $(251,096)

These net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are classified in our consolidated balance sheets as follows:

December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Current assets $ 150,151 $ 137,055

Noncurrent liabilities (531,242) (388,151)

Total $(381,091) $(251,096)

At December 31, 2004, we had approximately $4.4 million of federal tax credits available for carryover to future years. The losses are

subject to certain limitations and will expire beginning in 2010.

A valuation allowance of $14.8 million has been established because we believe it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax

assets relating to state net operating loss and credit carryovers, foreign tax credit carryovers and capital loss carryovers will not be realized

prior to the date they are scheduled to expire.

9. Long-term Debt
December 31

2004 2003
Amount Interest Amount Interest

(Dollars in thousands) Outstanding Rate Outstanding Rate

Senior credit facility $2,031,100 3.72% $1,784,053 3.05%

Subsidiary debt obligations

Senior notes 664,696 6.625-8.15 660,663 6.625-8.15

Receivables-backed facility 500,000 2.83 302,500 1.84

Other lines of credit 30,750 2.64 6,401 2.76

Industrial development revenue bonds – 11,700 1.35-1.40

Capital lease obligations and other 30,713 26,197

3,257,259 2,791,514

Less current portion (141,227) (180,158)

Total $3,116,032 $2,611,356
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The scheduled maturities of long-term debt, at December 31, 2004, were as follows (in thousands):

2005 $ 141,918

2006 65,786

2007 978,707

2008 432,710

2009 1,519,031

Thereafter 154,581

Subtotal 3,292,733

Less discounts (35,474)

Total outstanding debt $3,257,259

Senior Credit Facility – Our senior credit facility provides for a $1.5 billion revolving credit facility and a $1.5 billion term loan.

At December 31, 2004 there were outstanding term loan borrowings of $1.5 billion under the senior credit facility, and $531.1 million

outstanding under the revolving line of credit. Letters of credit in the aggregate amount of $129.3 million were issued but undrawn.

At December 31, 2004, approximately $839.6 million was available for future borrowings under the revolving credit facility, subject to

satisfaction of certain ordinary course conditions contained in the credit agreement.

Both the revolving credit facility and term loan bear interest, at our election, at the base rate plus a margin that varies from 0 to 62.5

basis points depending on our credit ratings (as issued by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s), or LIBOR plus a margin that varies from 

75 to 187.5 basis points, depending on our credit ratings (as issued by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s). The blended interest rate in effect

on borrowings under the senior credit facility, including the applicable interest rate margin, was 3.72% at December 31, 2004. However, we

had interest rate swap agreements in place that hedged $775 million of our borrowings under the senior credit facility at an average rate of

4.96%, plus the applicable interest rate margin. Interest is payable quarterly or at the end of the applicable interest period.

Principal payments are required on the term loan as follows:

n $56.25 million quarterly beginning on December 31, 2006 through September 30, 2008;

n $262.5 million quarterly beginning on December 31, 2008 through June 30, 2009; and

n A final payment of $262.5 million on the maturity date of August 13, 2009.

No principal payments are due on the $1.5 billion revolving credit facility until maturity on August 13, 2009.

The credit agreement also requires mandatory principal prepayments upon the occurrence of certain asset dispositions or recovery events.

In consideration for the revolving commitment, we pay a quarterly commitment fee on unused amounts of the revolving credit facility

that ranges from 25 to 37.5 basis points, depending on our credit ratings (as issued by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s).

The senior credit facility contains various financial and other restrictive covenants and requires that we maintain certain financial ratios,

including a leverage and interest coverage ratio. We are currently in compliance with all covenants contained in our credit agreement.

Our credit agreement permits us to complete acquisitions that meet the following conditions without obtaining prior approval: (1) the

acquired company is involved in the manufacture, processing and distribution of food or packaging products or any other line of business 

in which we are currently engaged, (2) the net cash purchase price is not greater than $500 million, (3) we acquire at least 51% of the

acquired entity, (4) the transaction is approved by the Board of Directors or shareholders, as appropriate, of the target and (5) after giving

effect to such acquisition on a pro-forma basis, we are in compliance with all financial covenants. All other acquisitions must be approved

in advance by the required lenders.

The senior credit facility also contains limitations on liens, investments and the incurrence of additional indebtedness, and prohibits

certain dispositions of property and restricts certain payments, including dividends. The senior credit facility is secured by liens on

substantially all of our domestic assets (including the assets of our subsidiaries, but excluding the capital stock of Legacy Dean’s

subsidiaries, and the real property owned by Legacy Dean and its subsidiaries).
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The credit agreement contains standard default triggers, including without limitation: failure to maintain compliance with the financial

and other covenants contained in the credit agreement, default on certain of our other debt, a change in control and certain other material

adverse changes in our business. The credit agreement does not contain any default triggers based on our credit rating.

In August 2004, we amended our senior credit facility to (1) increase the size of our revolving credit facility from $1 billion to $1.5

billion, (2) increase the size of our term loan A from $850 million to $1.5 billion, (3) eliminate term loans B and C and (4) modify the

interest rate and payment terms. When we amended our credit facility, we were required to write-off approximately $32.6 million of

deferred financing costs that were incurred in connection with our credit facility prior to the amendment. These costs were being 

amortized over the previous terms of the revolving credit facility and term loans.

Senior Notes – Legacy Dean had certain senior notes outstanding at the time of the acquisition which remain outstanding. The notes

carry the following interest rates and maturities:

n $99.3 million ($100 million face value), at 6.75% interest, maturing in June 2005;

n $250.3 million ($250 million face value), at 8.15% interest, maturing in 2007;

n $188 million ($200 million face value), at 6.625% interest, maturing in 2009; and

n $127.1 million ($150 million face value), at 6.9% interest, maturing in 2017.

The related indentures do not contain financial covenants but they do contain certain restrictions including a prohibition against Legacy

Dean and its subsidiaries granting liens on certain of their real property interests and a prohibition against Legacy Dean granting liens on

the stock of its subsidiaries.

Receivables-Backed Facility – We have entered into a $500 million receivables securitization facility pursuant to which certain of our

subsidiaries sell their accounts receivable to four wholly-owned special purpose entities intended to be bankruptcy-remote. The special

purpose entities then transfer the receivables to third party asset-backed commercial paper conduits sponsored by major financial

institutions. The assets and liabilities of these four special purpose entities are fully reflected on our balance sheet, and the securitization is

treated as a borrowing for accounting purposes. During 2004, we made net borrowings of $197.5 million on this facility leaving an

outstanding balance of $500 million at December 31, 2004. The receivables-backed facility bears interest at a variable rate based on the

commercial paper yield as defined in the agreement. The average interest rate on this facility was 2.83% at December 31, 2004. Our ability

to re-borrow under this facility is subject to a standard “borrowing base” formula. At December 31, 2004 there was no remaining

availability under this facility. In January 2005, we amended our receivables-backed loan to increase the facility to $600 million. See Note 23.

Other Lines of Credit – Leche Celta, our Spanish subsidiary, is our only subsidiary with its own lines of credit separate from the credit

facility described above. Leche Celta utilizes local commercial lines of credit and receivables factoring facility. At December 31, 2004,

a total of $30.75 million was outstanding on these facilities at an average interest rate of 2.64%.

Industrial Development Revenue Bonds – Certain of our subsidiaries had revenue bonds outstanding in 2003 and 2004. These bonds

were secured by irrevocable letters of credit issued by financial institutions, along with first mortgages on the related real property and

equipment. In December 2003, we made payments of $9 million, leaving an outstanding balance of $11.7 million at December 31, 2003.

During 2004, we repaid the remaining principal balance on these bonds.
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Capital Lease Obligations and Other – Capital lease obligations and other subsidiary debt includes various promissory notes for the

purchase of property, plant and equipment and capital lease obligations. The various promissory notes payable provide for interest at

varying rates and are payable in monthly installments of principal and interest until maturity, when the remaining principal balances are

due. Capital lease obligations represent machinery and equipment financing obligations, which are payable in monthly installments of

principal and interest and are collateralized by the related assets financed.

Letters of Credit – At December 31, 2004, there were $129.3 million of issued but undrawn letters of credit secured by our senior credit facility.

The majority of these letters of credit were required by various utilities and government entities for performance and insurance guarantees.

Interest Rate Agreements – We have interest rate swap agreements in place that have been designated as cash flow hedges against variable

interest rate exposure on a portion of our debt, with the objective of minimizing our interest rate risk and stabilizing cash flows. These swap

agreements provide hedges for loans under our senior credit facility by limiting or fixing the LIBOR interest rates specified in the senior

credit facility at the interest rates noted below until the indicated expiration dates of these interest rate swap agreements.

The following table summarizes our various interest rate agreements in effect as of December 31, 2004:

Fixed Interest Rates Expiration Date Notional Amounts
(Dollars In millions)

5.20% to 6.74% December 2005 $400

3.65% to 6.78% December 2006 375

The following table summarizes our various interest rate swap agreements as of December 31, 2003:

Fixed Interest Rates Expiration Date Notional Amounts
(Dollars In millions)

1.48% to 6.69% December 2004 $650

5.20% to 6.74% December 2005 400

6.78% December 2006 75

These swaps are required to be recorded as an asset or liability on our consolidated balance sheet at fair value, with an offset to other

comprehensive income to the extent the hedge is effective. Derivative gains and losses included in other comprehensive income are reclassified

into earnings as the underlying transaction occurs. Any ineffectiveness in our hedges is recorded as an adjustment to interest expense.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, our derivative liability totaled $17.1 million and $48.4 million on our consolidated balance sheet,

respectively. This balance includes approximately $15 million and $33.6 million recorded as a component of accounts payable and accrued

expenses at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively and $2.1 million and $14.8 million recorded as a component of other long-term

liabilities at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. There was no hedge ineffectiveness, as determined in accordance with SFAS No. 133,

for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Approximately $20.7 million and $25.6 million of losses (net of taxes) were

reclassified to interest expense from other comprehensive income during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We

estimate that approximately $9.8 million of net derivative losses (net of taxes) included in other comprehensive income will be reclassified

into earnings within the next 12 months. These losses will partially offset the lower interest payments recorded on our variable rate debt.

We are exposed to market risk under these arrangements due to the possibility of interest rates on the credit facilities falling below the

rates on our interest rate swap agreements. Credit risk under these arrangements is remote because the counterparties to our interest rate

swap agreements are major financial institutions.
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10 . Mandatorily Redeemable Trust Issued Preferred Securities

In three separate transactions during the second quarter of 2003, we called for redemption all of our trust-issued preferred securities

(“TIPES”). We originally issued $600 million of TIPES in a private placement in 1998. The TIPES were convertible at the option of the

holders, at any time, into shares of our common stock and were redeemable, at our option, at any time at specified premiums. In response

to our three announced redemption transactions, holders of more than 99% of all outstanding TIPES elected to convert their TIPES into

shares of our common stock rather than receive the cash redemption price. Accordingly, during the second quarter of 2003, we issued an

aggregate total of approximately 23 million shares of common stock to holders of TIPES in lieu of cash redemption payments, and we 

paid approximately $2.4 million in cash to holders who did not elect to convert. There are no remaining TIPES outstanding.

1 1 . Stockholders ’ Equity

Our authorized shares of capital stock include 1 million shares of preferred stock and 500 million shares of common stock with a par value

of $.01 per share.

Stock Award Plans – We currently have two stock award plans with shares remaining available for issuance. These plans, which are our

1997 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan and the 1989 Legacy Dean Stock Awards Plan (which we adopted upon completion of 

our acquisition of Legacy Dean), provide for grants of stock options, restricted stock and other stock-based awards to employees, officers,

directors and, in some cases, consultants, up to a maximum of 37.5 million and approximately 5.7 million shares, respectively. Options and

other stock-based awards vest in accordance with provisions set forth in the applicable award agreements.

The following table summarizes the status of our stock option compensation programs:

Options Weighted Average

Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 1, 2002 21,095,790 $14.11

Granted(1) 7,711,394 20.61

Cancelled(2)(3) (4,297,922) 14.94

Exercised (4,950,732) 13.79

Outstanding at December 31, 2002 19,558,530 16.55

Granted(1) 3,508,667 25.08

Cancelled(3) (1,094,262) 20.38

Exercised (5,373,809) 15.17

Outstanding at December 31, 2003 16,599,126 18.50

Granted(1) 2,392,658 31.37

Options issued to Horizon Organic Option Holders(4) 1,137,308 16.37

Cancelled(3) (208,152) 22.56

Exercised (3,073,219) 17.12

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 16,847,721 $20.32

Exercisable at December 31, 2002 8,997,098 $14.42

Exercisable at December 31, 2003 8,333,658 15.62

Exercisable at December 31, 2004 10,642,287 17.16

(1) Employee options vest as follows: one-third on the first anniversary of the grant date, one-third on the second anniversary of the grant date, and one-third on the third anniversary of the
grant date. Options granted to non-employee directors vest upon grant. On June 30 of each year, each non-employee director receives an immediately vested option to purchase 7,500 shares
of common stock.

(2) The acquisition of Legacy Dean triggered certain “change in control” rights contained in the Legacy Dean option agreements, which consisted of the right to surrender the options to us, in
lieu of exercise, in exchange for cash, provided the options were surrendered prior to March 21, 2002. Options to purchase approximately 2.4 million shares were surrendered.

(3) Pursuant to the terms of our stock award plans, options that are cancelled or forfeited become available for future grants.
(4) In connection with our acquisition of Horizon Organic in January 2004, all options to purchase Horizon Organic stock outstanding at the time of the acquisition were converted into options

to purchase our stock, most of which were automatically vested when we completed the acquisition.
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The following table summarizes information about options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2004:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Average
Range of Number Remaining Weighted Average Number Weighted Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Prices Exercisable Exercise Prices

$ 0.53 to $12.48 2,572,671 3.71 $10.82 2,572,671 $10.83

$12.85 to $14.38 2,174,323 5.64 14.25 2,174,323 14.25

$14.53 to $19.98 1,703,941 4.56 18.14 1,703,941 18.14

$20.35 to $20.35 4,654,281 7.04 20.35 2,743,773 20.35

$20.39 to $24.77 601,103 6.34 23.48 522,111 23.39

$24.79 to $24.79 2,644,824 8.02 24.79 705,750 24.79

$24.89 to $31.17 2,234,571 9.05 31.00 34,839 28.63

$31.50 to $37.31 262,007 9.16 33.83 184,879 34.21

During 2004, we issued the following shares of restricted stock, all of which were granted to independent members of our Board of

Directors as compensation for services rendered as directors during the immediately preceding quarter. Directors’ shares of restricted stock

vest one-third on grant, one-third on the first anniversary of grant and one-third on the second anniversary of grant.

Grant Date Fair
Period Number of Shares Value Per Share

First quarter 8,508 $33.40

Second quarter 7,344 37.31

Third quarter 7,634 30.20

Fourth quarter 7,888 33.00

We also issued SUs to certain key employees and directors during 2004 and 2003. Each SU represents the right to receive one share of

common stock in the future. SUs have no exercise price. Each employee’s SU grant vests ratably over five years, subject to certain

accelerated vesting provisions based primarily on our stock price. SUs granted to non-employee directors vest ratably over three years. The

following table summarized the status of our SU compensation program:

Employees Directors Total

Outstanding at December 31, 2002 – – –

SUs issued 778,750 28,050 806,800

SUs cancelled (125,250) – (125,250)

Outstanding at December 31, 2003 653,500 28,050 681,550

SUs issued 447,700 28,050 475,750

Shares issued (101,402) (5,950) (107,352)

SUs cancelled (49,298) – (49,298)

SUs outstanding at December 31, 2004 950,500 50,150 1,000,650

Weighted average fair value $27.73 $34.99 $28.07

Compensation expense recognized in 2004 (in thousands) $5,636 $ 321 $5,957

Rights Plan – On February 27, 1998, our Board of Directors declared a dividend of the right to purchase one half of one common share

for each outstanding share of common stock to the stockholders of record on March 18, 1998. The rights are not exercisable until ten days

subsequent to the announcement of the acquisition of or intent to acquire a beneficial ownership of 15% or more in Dean Foods Company.

At such time, each right entitles the registered holder to purchase from us that number of shares of common stock at an exercise price of

$70.00, with a market value of up to two times the exercise price. At any time prior to such date, a required majority may redeem the rights
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in whole, but not in part, at a price of $0.01 per right. The rights will expire on March 18, 2008, unless our Board of Directors extends the

term of, or redeems, the rights.

Earnings Per Share – Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each

period. Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and the effect of all dilutive

common stock equivalents during each period. The following table reconciles the numerators and denominators used in the computations

of both basic and diluted EPS:

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002

Basic EPS computation:

Numerator:

Income from continuing operations $285,374 $355,703 $267,751

Denominator:

Average common shares 154,635,979 145,201,412 135,031,274

Basic EPS from continuing operations $ 1.85 $ 2.45 $ 1.98

Diluted EPS computation:

Numerator:

Income from continuing operations $285,374 $355,703 $267,751

Net effect on earnings from conversion of mandatorily 

redeemable convertible preferred securities – 8,994 21,324

Income applicable to common stock $285,374 $364,697 $289,075

Denominator:

Average common shares – basic 154,635,979 145,201,412 135,031,274

Stock option conversion(1) 5,125,070 5,346,882 5,132,746

SUs 943,527 729,655 –

Dilutive effect of conversion of mandatorily redeemable

convertible preferred securities – 9,417,721 22,999,884

Average common shares – diluted 160,704,576 160,695,670 163,163,904

Diluted EPS from continuing operations $ 1.78 $ 2.27 $ 1.77

(1) Stock option conversion excludes anti-dilutive shares of 49,742, 58,344 and 263,655 at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Stock Repurchases – On September 15, 1998, our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program of up to $100 million.

On September 28, 1999, the Board increased the program by $100 million to $200 million and on November 17, 1999 authorized a

further increase to $300 million. We depleted the $300 million authorization during the second quarter of 2000, and on May 19, 2000,

the Board increased the program by $100 million to $400 million. On November 2, 2000, the Board authorized a further increase to 

$500 million. On each of January 8, 2003 and February 12, 2003, the Board authorized additional increases of $150 million each. On

September 7, 2004 the Board authorized an additional increase of $200 million and on November 2, 2004 the Board authorized an

additional increase of $100 million. Set forth in the chart below is a summary of the stock we repurchased pursuant to this program

through December 31, 2004.
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No. of Shares of
Common Stock

Year Quarter Repurchased Purchase Price

(Dollars In millions)

1998 Third 3,000,000 $ 30.4

Fourth 1,531,200 15.6

1999 Second 239,100 3.0

Third 5,551,545 66.7

Fourth 10,459,524 128.4

2000 First 2,066,400 27.2

Second 2,898,195 42.2

Third 4,761,000 77.0

Fourth 120,000 2.1

2001 First 370,002 6.1

2002 Fourth 4,126,200 101.2

2003 First 4,854,900 128.5

Third 360,000 9.9

Fourth 1,453,400 47.1

2004 First 150,000 5.1

Third 7,825,000 251.9

Fourth 1,335,000 39.6

Total 51,101,466 $982.0

As of December 31, 2004, $118 million was available for spending under this program (not including fees and commissions).

Repurchased shares are treated as effectively retired in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

12 . Other Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income comprises net income plus all other changes in equity from non-owner sources. The amount of income tax

(expense) benefit allocated to each component of other comprehensive income for December 31, 2004 and 2003 are included below.
Pre-Tax
Income Tax Benefit Net

(In thousands) (Loss) (Expense) Amount

Accumulated other comprehensive income, January 1, 2003 $(91,684) $ 35,979 $(55,705)

Cumulative translation adjustment 16,210 2,037 18,247

Net change in fair value of derivative instruments (12,338) 4,688 (7,650)

Amounts reclassified to income statement related to derivatives 43,733 (18,123) 25,610

Minimum pension liability adjustment (18,652) 7,130 (11,522)

Accumulated other comprehensive income, December 31, 2003 (62,731) 31,711 (31,020)

Cumulative translation adjustment 17,313 – 17,313

Net change in fair value of derivative instruments (1,443) 726 (717)

Amounts reclassified to income statement related to derivatives 32,754 (12,031) 20,723

Minimum pension liability adjustment (23,316) 8,858 (14,458)

Accumulated other comprehensive income, December 31, 2004 $(37,423) $ 29,264 $ (8,159)
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13 . Employee Re tirement and Profit Sharing Plans

We sponsor various defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans, including various employee savings and profit sharing plans,

and contribute to various multi-employer pension plans on behalf of our employees. Substantially all full-time union and non-union

employees who have completed one or more years of service and have met other requirements pursuant to the plans are eligible to

participate in these plans. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, our retirement and profit sharing plan expenses were as follows:

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Defined benefit plans $11,029 $15,312 $ 9,052

Defined contribution plans 19,497 16,873 13,731

Multi-employer pension and certain union plans 23,777 24,358 17,868

$54,303 $56,543 $40,651

Defined Benefit Plans – The benefits under our defined benefit plans are based on years of service and employee compensation.

Our funding policy is to contribute annually the minimum amount required under ERISA regulations.

As of December 31, 2004, the latest measurement date, the accumulated benefit obligation of the pension plans exceeded the fair value

of plan assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employer’s Accounting for Pensions”, we recorded an additional minimum pension

liability of $23.3 million ($14.5 million, net of tax). The adjustment to the additional minimum pension liability was included in other

accumulated comprehensive loss as a direct charge to stockholders’ equity. As of December 31, 2004, the cumulative additional minimum

pension charge included in other accumulated comprehensive loss was $61.3 million ($38.1 million, net of tax).
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The following table sets forth the funded status of our defined benefit plans and the amounts recognized in our consolidated 

balance sheets:

December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 281,194 $ 261,367

Service cost 2,724 2,799

Interest cost 17,942 17,752

Plan participants’ contributions 133 73

Plan amendments – 9,510

Actuarial loss 30,809 18,521

Effect of settlement – (603)

Benefits paid (29,370) (28,225)

Benefit obligation at end of year 303,432 281,194

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 151,598 124,759

Actual return on plan assets 14,812 24,952

Employer contribution 43,831 31,171

Plan participants’ contributions 133 73

Effect of settlement – (1,132)

Benefits paid (29,370) (28,225)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 181,004 151,598

Funded status (122,428) (129,596)

Unrecognized net transition obligation 892 999

Unrecognized prior service cost 10,317 11,025

Unrecognized net loss 69,733 43,741

Net amount recognized $ (41,486) $ (73,831)

Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position consist of:

Accrued benefit liability $(114,386) $(124,307)

Intangible asset 11,638 12,530

Accumulated other comprehensive income 61,262 37,946

Net amount recognized $ (41,486) $ (73,831)

A summary of our key actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit obligations as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 follows:

December 31

2004 2003

Discount rate 5.75% 6.00 to 6.50%

Expected return on plan assets 8.50% 8.50%

Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00%
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A summary of our key actuarial assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for 2004, 2003 and 2002 follows:

Year Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002

Discount rate 6.00 to 6.50% 6.50 to 6.75% 7.25%

Expected return on plan assets 8.50% 6.75 to 8.50% 6.75 to 9.00%

Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 0-5.00%

December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Components of net periodic pension cost:

Service cost $ 2,724 $   2,799 $   1,581

Interest cost 17,942 17,752 18,954

Expected return on plan assets (13,994) (10,430) (15,142)

Amortizations:

Unrecognized transition obligation 107 107 106

Prior service cost 708 708 190

Unrecognized net loss 1,665 1,833 332

Effect of settlement 1,877 2,543 3,031

Net periodic benefit cost $ 11,029 $ 15,312 $   9,052

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for the pension plans with accumulated

benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $303.4 million, $293.6 million and $181 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2004 

and $281.2 million, $275.6 million and $151.6 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2003. Included in the above pension benefit tables

is an unfunded supplemental retirement plan with a liability of $2.2 million and $5.8 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In 2004, we consolidated substantially all of our qualified pension plans into one master trust. We retained investment consultants to

assist our Investment Committee with the transition of the plans’ assets to the master trust and to help our Investment Committee

formulate a long-term investment policy for the newly established master trust. Our current asset mix guidelines under the investment

policy target equities at 65% to 75% of the portfolio and fixed income at 25% to 35%.

We determine our expected long-term rate of return based on our expectations of future returns for the pension plan’s investments based

on target allocations of the pension plan’s investments. Additionally, we consider the weighted-average return of a capital markets model

that was developed by the plans’ investment consultants and historical returns on comparable equity, debt and other investments. The

resulting weighted average expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is 8.5%.

Our pension plan weighted average asset allocations at December 31, 2004 and 2003 by asset category were as follows:

Asset Category December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003

Equity securities and limited partnerships 74% 65%

Fixed income securities 25 18

Cash 1 14

Other – 3

Total 100% 100%

Equity securities of the plan did not include any investment in our common stock at December 31, 2004 or 2003.



75

D e a n  F o o d s  2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Y E A R S E N D E D D E C E M B E R 31,  2004,  2003 A N D 2002

We expect to contribute $33.7 million to the pension plans for 2005. Estimated pension plan benefit payments for the next ten years are

as follows:

2005 $ 9.5 million

2006 9.4 million

2007 10.1 million

2008 9.9 million

2009 10.1 million

Next five years 52.6 million

Defined Contribution Plans – Certain of our non-union personnel may elect to participate in savings and profit sharing plans sponsored 

by us. These plans generally provide for salary reduction contributions to the plans on behalf of the participants of between 1% and 20% of

a participant’s annual compensation and provide for employer matching and profit sharing contributions as determined by our Board of

Directors. In addition, certain union hourly employees are participants in company-sponsored defined contribution plans, which provide 

for employer contributions in various amounts ranging from $21 to $39 per pay period per participant.

Multi-Employer Pension and Certain Union Plans – Certain of our subsidiaries contribute to various multi-employer pension and certain

union plans, which are administered jointly by management and union representatives and cover substantially all full-time and certain part-

time union employees who are not covered by our other plans. The Multi-Employer Pension Plan Amendments Act of 1980 amended

ERISA to establish funding requirements and obligations for employers participating in multi-employer plans, principally related to

employer withdrawal from or termination of such plans. We could, under certain circumstances, be liable for unfunded vested benefits or

other expenses of jointly administered union/management plans. At this time, we have not established any significant liabilities because

withdrawal from these plans is not probable or reasonably possible.

1 4 . Postre tirement Benefits  Other than Pensions

Certain of our subsidiaries provide health care benefits to certain retirees who are covered under specific group contracts. As defined by the

specific group contract, qualified covered associates may be eligible to receive major medical insurance with deductible and co-insurance

provisions subject to certain lifetime maximums.

The following table sets forth the funded status of these plans and the amounts recognized in our consolidated balance sheets:

December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 22,646 $ 22,198

Service cost 948 1,169

Interest cost 1,371 1,217

Actuarial loss 1,970 598

Benefits paid (2,799) (2,536)

Benefit obligation at end of year 24,136 22,646

Fair value of plan assets at end of year – –

Funded status (24,136) (22,646)

Unrecognized prior service cost (650) (2,552)

Unrecognized net loss 6,288 6,424

Net amount recognized $(18,498) $(18,774)
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A summary of our key actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 follows:

December 31

2004 2003

Healthcare inflation:

Initial rate 10.00% 12.00%

Ultimate rate 5.00 to 5.50% 5.00%

Year of ultimate rate achievement 2009 2009

Discount rate 5.75% 6.00 to 6.50%

The weighted average discount rate used to determine net periodic benefit cost was 6.0% to 6.5%, 6.5% to 6.75% and 7.25% for 2004,

2003 and 2002, respectively.

December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Components of net periodic benefit cost:

Service and interest cost $2,319 $2,386 $2,178

Amortizations:

Prior service cost (69) (207) (210)

Unrecognized net loss 326 230 133

Net periodic benefit cost $2,576 $2,409 $2,101

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one percent change in

assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

1-Percentage- 1-Percentage-

(In thousands) Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components $ 184 $ (164)

Effect on postretirement obligation $2,057 $(1,810)

We expect to contribute $1.8 million to the postretirement health care plans for 2005. Estimated postretirement health care plan benefit

payments for the next ten years are as follows:

2005 $ 1.8 million

2006 2.0 million

2007 2.1 million

2008 2.3 million

2009 2.4 million

Next five years $11.9 million

15 . Facility Closing and Reorganization Costs

Facility Closing and Reorganization Costs – We recorded net facility closing and reorganization costs of $34.7 million, $11.8 million and

$19.1 million during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The charges recorded during 2004 are primarily related to the following:

n Exiting the nutritional beverages business operated by our Specialty Foods Group segment, including the closure of a manufacturing

facility in Benton Harbor, Michigan;
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n Closing Dairy Group manufacturing facilities in Madison, Wisconsin; San Leandro and South Gate, California; Westwego, Louisiana;

Pocatello, Idaho and Wilkesboro, North Carolina;

n Reorganizing our WhiteWave Foods Company including consolidating the operations of the three distinct operating units: White

Wave, Horizon Organic, and Dean National Brand Group; and

n Transferring Morningstar Foods’ private label and manufacturing operations to the Dairy Group.

The charges recorded during 2003 are primarily related to the following:

n Closing of Dairy Group manufacturing/distribution facilities in Honolulu, Hawaii; South Gate, California; Jamaica, New York; and

Akron, Ohio;

n Elimination of certain administrative functions at the Midwest and Northeast regions of our Dairy Group; and

n Realignment of Morningstar Food’s private label business and manufacturing operations into the Dairy Group.

These charges were accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,”

which became effective for us in January 2003. We expect to incur additional charges related to these restructuring plans of approximately

$7.1 million, including an additional $520,000 in work force reduction costs and approximately $6.6 million in shut down and other costs.

Approximately $5.9 million and $1 million of these additional charges are expected to be completed by December 2005 and December

2006, respectively.

The charges recorded during 2002 are related to the closing of Dairy Group facilities in Bennington, Vermont and Toledo, Ohio, a

Dairy Group distribution facility in Winchester, Virginia, and one Morningstar Foods facility in Tempe, Arizona. The charges also reflect

additional costs related to severance on the closing of our Dairy Group facility in Port Huron, Michigan in 2001, the shutdown of an ice

cream production line at our Englewood, Colorado facility and the closing of a Dairy Group facility’s administrative offices in Grand

Rapids, Michigan.

The principal components of our continued reorganization and cost reduction efforts include the following:

n Workforce reductions as a result of facility closings, facility reorganizations and consolidation of administrative functions;

n Shutdown costs, including those costs that are necessary to prepare abandoned facilities for closure;

n Costs incurred after shutdown such as lease obligations or termination costs, utilities and property taxes;

n Costs associated with the reorganization of the WhiteWave Foods Company supply chain and distribution activities, including

termination of certain contractual agreements; and

n Write-downs of property, plant and equipment and other assets, primarily for asset impairments as a result of facilities that are no longer

used in operations. The impairments relate primarily to owned buildings, land and equipment at the facilities, which are written down to

their estimated fair value and held for sale. The effect of suspending depreciation on the buildings and equipment related to the closed

facilities was not significant. The carrying value of closed facilities at December 31, 2004 was approximately $15.8 million. We are

marketing these properties for sale.

We consider several factors when evaluating a potential facility closure, including, among other things, the impact of such a closure on

our customers, the impact on production, distribution and overhead costs, the investment required to complete any such closure, and the

impact on future investment decisions. Some facility closures are pursued to improve our operating cost structure, while others enable us to

avoid unnecessary capital expenditures, allowing us to more prudently invest our capital expenditure dollars in our production facilities and

better serve our customers.

In the second quarter of 2004, we sold a closed Dairy Group facility in Honolulu, Hawaii. In 2003, when we closed this facility, we

recorded facility closing costs, which included a write-down in the value of the facility and accruals for certain lease obligations. Because we
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sold the facility for more than expected, we reversed the impairment charge by recording a credit to restructuring expense of $1.7 million

and reversed $470,000 of lease obligations that were cancelled.

In the first quarter of 2003, we sold a Dairy Group facility in Port Huron, Michigan. In 2001, we closed this facility and recorded facility

closing costs, which included a write-down in the value of the facility. We sold the closed facility for more than expected, resulting in a gain

of $1.6 million. This gain was recorded as a reduction of facility closing expense in 2003.

Activity for 2004 and 2003 with respect to facility closing and reorganization costs for exit plans approved after January 1, 2003, which

was accounted for under FAS No. 146, is summarized below:

Accrued Accrued Accrued
Charges at Charges at Charges at

December 31, Charges/ December 31, Charges/ December 31, 
(In thousands) 2002 (Gain) Payments 2003 (Gain) Payments 2004

Cash charges:

Workforce reduction costs $ – $ 8,737 $(2,775) $5,962 $10,206 $ (9,553) $6,615

Shutdown costs – 203 (203) – 5,800 (5,800) –

Lease obligations after shutdown – 491 (14) 477 (40) (363) 74

Settlement of contracts – – – – 3,788 (3,788) –

Other – 971 (918) 53 3,842 (3,888) 7

Subtotal $ – $10,402 $(3,910) $6,492 $23,596 $(23,392) $6,696

Noncash charges:

Write-down of assets 3,093 13,099

Gain on sale of facility – (1,695)

Total charges $13,495 $35,000

Activity for 2004 and 2003 with respect to facility closing and reorganization costs for exit plans approved before January 1, 2003, which

was accounted for under EITF 94-3, is summarized below:

Accrued Accrued Accrued
Charges at Charges at Charges at

December 31, Charges/ December 31, Charges/ December 31, 
(In thousands) 2002 (Gain) Payments 2003 (Gain) Payments 2004

Cash charges:

Workforce reduction costs $3,882 $ 234 $(2,673) $1,443 $(245) $ (805) $393

Shutdown costs 1,657 (7) (1,093) 557 54 (324) 287

Lease obligations after shutdown 668 – (660) 8 – (8) –

Other 786 (290) (212) 284 32 (82) 234

Subtotal $6,993 (63) $(4,638) $2,292 (159) $(1,219) $914

Noncash charges:

Gain on sale of facility (1,645) (146)

Total charges $(1,708) $(305)

Acquired Facility Closing and Other Exit Costs – As part of our purchase price allocations, we accrue costs from time to time pursuant to

plans to exit certain facilities and activities of acquired businesses in order to rationalize production and reduce costs and inefficiencies.

During 2004, we accrued costs to close two Dairy Group facilities acquired in 2003 and the Horizon Organic Farm and Education Center

acquired in 2004, as well as to exit certain acquired contractual obligations. During 2003, we accrued costs related to the closing of an ice

cream facility acquired in July 2003 by our Dairy Group. One facility was closed in connection with our acquisition of Marie’s in May 2002

and several facilities were closed in connection with our acquisition of Legacy Dean.
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The principal components of the plans include the following:

n Workforce reductions as a result of facility closings, facility reorganizations and consolidation of administrative functions and offices;

n Shutdown costs, including those costs necessary to clean and prepare abandoned facilities for closure; and

n Costs incurred after shutdown such as lease or termination costs, utilities and property taxes after shutdown of the facility, as well as,

costs to exit certain contractual obligations.

Also during 2004, we recorded certain adjustments to reduce our acquisition liability by approximately $1.7 million related to exit

activities in our Specialty Foods Group segment. The liabilities were recorded as part of our overall integration and efficiency efforts related

to our acquisition of the former Dean Foods Company. These adjustments reduced goodwill.

Activity with respect to these acquisition liabilities for 2004 is summarized below:

Accrued Accrued
Charges at Charges at

December 31, December 31, 
(In thousands) 2003 Accruals Payments Adjustments 2004

Workforce reduction costs $2,871 $ 2,403 $(2,668) $ (474) $ 2,132

Shutdown and exit costs 6,317 82,271 (4,020) (1,263) 83,305

Total $9,188 $84,674 $(6,688) $(1,737) $85,437

Activity with respect to these acquisition liabilities for 2003 is summarized below:

Accrued Accrued
Charges at Charges at

December 31, December 31, 
(In thousands) 2002 Accruals Payments 2003

Workforce reduction costs $ 9,002 $100 $ (6,231) $2,871

Shutdown and exit costs 11,637 500 (5,820) 6,317

Total $20,639 $600 $(12,051) $9,188

16 . Other Operating (Income)  Expense

In the fourth quarter of 2004 we recognized a $5.9 million gain primarily related to the settlement of litigation.

In the third quarter of 2003, we recognized a gain on the sale of our frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen creamer operations of $66.2

million. During the fourth quarter of 2003, we recognized $2.5 million of other operating income as a result of certain contingencies

related to the divestiture of 11 facilities in 2001 being favorably resolved.

1 7. Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Cash paid for interest and financing charges, net of capitalized interest $160,886 $182,825 $224,561

Cash paid for taxes 27,453 19,788 44,738

Noncash transactions:

Exchange of trust issued preferred securities – 582,986 –
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1 8 . Commitments and Contingencies

Leases and Purchase Obligations – We lease certain property, plant and equipment used in our operations under both capital and

operating lease agreements. Such leases, which are primarily for machinery, equipment and vehicles, have lease terms ranging from 1 to 20

years. Certain of the operating lease agreements require the payment of additional rentals for maintenance, along with additional rentals

based on miles driven or units produced. Certain leases require us to guarantee a minimum value of the leased asset at the end of the lease.

Our maximum exposure under those guarantees is not a material amount. Rent expense, including additional rent, was $129.1 million,

$121.2 million and $124.5 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The composition of capital leases which are reflected as property, plant and equipment in our consolidated balance sheets are as follows:

December 31

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Buildings and improvements $ 851 $ 707

Machinery and equipment 7,192 1,940

Other 228 –

Less accumulated amortization (774) (779)

$7,497 $1,868

We have entered into various contracts obligating us to purchase minimum quantities of raw materials used in our production processes,

including organic soybeans, organic raw milk and cucumbers. We enter into these contracts from time to time to ensure a sufficient supply

of raw ingredients. In addition, we have contractual obligations to purchase various services that are part of our production process.

Future minimum payments at December 31, 2004, under non-cancelable capital leases and operating leases with terms in excess of one

year and purchase obligations are summarized below:

Capital Operating Purchase
(In thousands) Leases Leases Obligations

2005 $ 1,466 $100,617 $325,652

2006 1,298 83,821 55,193

2007 1,093 71,350 20,622

2008 911 60,163 18,784

2009 881 56,090 16,941

Thereafter 10,014 116,289 47,917

Total minimum lease payments 15,663 $488,330 $485,109

Less amount representing interest (9,340)

Present value of capital lease obligations $ 6,323

Contingent Obligations Related to Milk Supply Arrangements – On December 21, 2001, in connection with our acquisition of the former

Dean Foods Company, we purchased Dairy Farmers of America’s (“DFA”) 33.8% interest in our Dairy Group. In connection with that

transaction, we entered into two agreements with DFA designed to ensure that DFA has the opportunity to continue to supply raw milk to

certain of our facilities, or be paid for the loss of that business. One such agreement is a promissory note with a 20-year term that bears

interest based on the consumer price index. Interest will not be paid in cash but will be added to the principal amount of the note annually,

up to a maximum principal amount of $96 million. We may prepay the note in whole or in part at any time, without penalty. The note will

only become payable if we ever materially breach or terminate one of our milk supply agreements with DFA without renewal or

replacement. Otherwise, the note will expire in 2021, without any obligation to pay any portion of the principal or interest. Payments made

under the note, if any, would be expensed as incurred. The other agreement would require us to pay damages to DFA if we fail to offer

DFA the right to supply milk to certain facilities that we acquired as part of the former Dean Foods after the pre-existing agreements with

certain other suppliers or producers expire.
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Contingent Obligations Related to Divested Operations – We have sold several businesses in recent years. In each case, we have retained

certain known contingent obligations related to those businesses and/or assumed an obligation to indemnify the purchasers of the

businesses for certain unknown contingent liabilities, including environmental liabilities. In the case of the sale of our Puerto Rico

operations, we were required to post collateral, including one surety bond and one letter of credit, to secure our obligation to satisfy the

retained known liabilities and to fulfill our indemnification obligation. We believe we have established adequate reserves for any potential

liability related to our divested businesses. Moreover, we do not expect any liability that we may have for these retained liabilities, or any

indemnification liability, to be material.

Insurance – We retain selected levels of property and casualty risks, primarily related to employee health care, workers’ compensation

claims and other casualty losses. Many of these potential losses are covered under conventional insurance programs with third party carriers

with high deductible limits. In other areas, we are self-insured with stop-loss coverages. These deductibles range from $350,000 for medical

claims to $2 million for casualty claims. We believe we have established adequate reserves to cover these claims.

Litigation, Investigations and Audits – We are parties from time to time to certain claims, litigation, audits and investigations. We believe

that we have established adequate reserves to satisfy any potential liability we may have under all such claims, litigations, audits and

investigations that are currently pending. In our opinion, the settlement of any such currently pending or threatened matter is not expected

to have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

19 . Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Pursuant to SFAS No. 107, “Disclosure About Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” we are required to disclose an estimate of the fair

value of our financial instruments as of December 31, 2004 and 2003. SFAS No. 107 defines the fair value of financial instruments as the

amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties.

Due to their near-term maturities, the carrying amounts of accounts receivable and accounts payable are considered equivalent to fair

value. In addition, because the interest rates on our senior credit facility and most other debt are variable, their fair values approximate their

carrying values.

We have senior notes with an aggregate face value of $700 million with fixed interest rates ranging from 6.625% to 8.15% at December

31, 2004. These notes were issued by Legacy Dean prior to our acquisition of Legacy Dean, and had a fair market value of $737.2 million

at December 31, 2004.

We have entered into various interest rate agreements to reduce our sensitivity to changes in interest rates on our variable rate debt. The

fair values of these instruments and our senior notes were determined based on fair values for similar instruments with similar terms. The

following table presents the carrying value and fair value of our senior notes and interest rate agreements at December 31:

2004 2003
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

(In thousands) of Liability of Liability of Liability of Liability

Senior notes $664,696 $737,188 $660,663 $699,234

Interest rate agreements 17,061 17,061 48,368 48,368
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20. Segment and Geographic Information and Major Customers

We currently have three reportable segments: the Dairy Group, WhiteWave Foods Company and the Specialty Foods Group.

Our Dairy Group segment is our largest segment. It manufactures, markets and distributes a wide variety of branded and private label

dairy case products, such as milk, cream, ice cream, cultured dairy products and juices, to retailers, distributors, foodservice outlets, schools

and governmental entities across the United States.

Our WhiteWave Foods Company segment manufactures, develops, markets and sells a variety of nationally branded soy, dairy and

dairy-related products, such as Silk soymilk and cultured soy products, Horizon Organic milk, juice and other products; International Delight

coffee creamers; and LAND O’LAKES fluid and cultured products. WhiteWave Foods Company sells its products to a variety of customers,

including grocery stores, club stores, natural foods stores, mass merchandisers, convenience stores and foodservice outlets. The WhiteWave

Foods Company’s operations have historically been conducted through three distinct operating units: White Wave, Horizon Organic and

Dean National Brand Group. We are currently in the process of consolidating these three operating units and expect the consolidation to

be completed in 2006.

Prior to 2004, we had a Morningstar Foods division that manufactured, marketed and sold all of our nationally branded products except

for our soy products, and also manufactured and sold private label dairy products. Effective January 1, 2004, we (1) shifted all of

Morningstar Foods’ private label sales and all of its manufacturing operations to the Dairy Group, (2) formed the Dean National Brand

Group, and (3) transferred Morningstar Foods’ branded business to the Dean National Brand Group. As a result of this reorganization,

we implemented a new segment reporting structure effective January 1, 2004. All periods prior to 2004 have been restated to reflect our

new segment reporting structure.

The Dairy Group, which now manufactures a portion of WhiteWave Foods Company’s products, transfers finished products to

WhiteWave Foods Company at or near cost. A small percentage of our WhiteWave Foods Company’s products (approximately $50.6

million and $23.7 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively) are sold through the Dairy Group’s direct store delivery network. Those sales,

together with their related costs, are included in WhiteWave Foods Company for segment reporting purposes. Fixed assets, capital

expenditures and depreciation related to our facilities that manufacture WhiteWave Foods Company’s products (except for two

manufacturing facilities which are owned and operated by White Wave) are reported as part of the Dairy Group, while intangibles and 

any associated amortization related to WhiteWave Foods Company’s brands are reported as part of WhiteWave Foods Company.

Our Specialty Foods Group is the nation’s leading private label pickle processor, and one of the largest manufacturers and sellers of 

non-dairy powdered creamer in the United States. The Specialty Foods Group also manufactures and sells a variety of other foods, such 

as sauces and puddings.

Our International Group, which does not qualify as a reportable segment, manufactures, markets and sells private label and branded

milk, butter and cream through its internal sales force to retailers and distributors across Spain and Portugal. Net sales, income and assets 

of the International Group are reflected in the charts below on the Corporate/Other lines.

We evaluate the performance of our segments based on operating profit or loss before gains and losses on the sale of assets, facility

closing and reorganization costs and foreign exchange gains and losses. Therefore, the measure of segment profit or loss presented below 

is before such items.
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The amounts in the following tables are obtained from reports used by our executive management team and do not include any allocated

income taxes or management fees. There are no significant non-cash items reported in segment profit or loss other than depreciation 

and amortization.

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002(1)

Net sales to external customers:

Dairy Group $ 8,646,387 $7,542,102 $7,600,985

WhiteWave Foods Company 1,188,401 713,425 517,304

Specialty Foods Group 676,768 684,207 673,604

Corporate/Other 310,729 244,882 199,571

Total $10,822,285 $9,184,616 $8,991,464

Intersegment sales:

Dairy Group $ 56,844 $ 27,982 $ 4,711

WhiteWave Foods Company 7,483 1,618 511

Specialty Foods Group 3,594 10,692 16,287

Total $ 67,921 $ 40,292 $ 21,509

Operating income:

Dairy Group $ 594,462 $ 641,020 $ 592,455

WhiteWave Foods Company 118,400 33,575 59,198

Specialty Foods Group 68,426 101,292 98,874

Corporate/Other (85,599) (66,834) (68,870)

Segment operating income 695,689 709,053 681,657

Facility closing and reorganization costs 34,695 11,787 19,050

Other operating income (5,899) (68,719) –

Total 666,893 765,985 662,607

Other (income) expense:

Interest expense and financing charges 204,770 195,298 231,263

Equity in (earnings) loss of unconsolidated affiliates – (244) 7,899

Other (income) expense, net (253) (2,625) 2,660

Consolidated income from continuing operations before tax $ 462,376 $   573,556 $ 420,785

Depreciation and amortization:

Dairy Group $ 177,720 $   154,812 $ 138,450

WhiteWave Foods Company 9,905 1,793 1,113

Specialty Foods Group 16,126 14,505 14,101

Corporate/Other 19,796 20,775 20,330

Total $ 223,547 $ 191,885 $ 173,994

Assets:

Dairy Group $ 5,397,694 $5,207,262 $5,213,748

WhiteWave Foods Company 1,219,210 638,788 272,486

Specialty Foods Group 604,687 635,321 617,210

Corporate/Other 534,777 511,165 478,822

Total $ 7,756,368 $6,992,536 $6,582,266

Capital expenditures:

Dairy Group $ 270,682 $ 245,078 $ 222,359

WhiteWave Foods Company 27,969 12,714 1,899

Specialty Foods Group 21,905 18,511 11,176

Corporate/Other 35,580 15,359 6,548

Total $ 356,136 $ 291,662 $ 241,982

(1) Balances for 2002 have been restated to remove our Puerto Rico operations, which have been reclassified as discontinued operations.
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Geographic Information –

Net Sales Long-Lived Assets
(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002(1) 2004 2003 2002

United States $10,461,706 $8,939,734 $8,791,893 $5,915,413 $5,429,202 $5,137,695

Europe 360,579 244,882 199,571 244,531 162,453 126,984

Total $10,822,285 $9,184,616 $8,991,464 $6,159,944 $5,591,655 $5,264,679

(1) Net sales for 2002 have been restated to remove to our Puerto Rico operations, which has been reclassified as discontinued operations.

Major Customers – Our Dairy Group and Specialty Foods Group segments each had one customer that represented greater than 10% of

their 2004 sales. Approximately 13.1% of our consolidated 2004 sales were to that same customer. In addition, our International Group had

three customers that represented greater than 10% of their 2004 sales. Each of these customers represented less than 1% of our

consolidated sales.

21 . Quarterly Results of Operations (unaudited)

The following is a summary of our unaudited quarterly results of operations for 2004 and 2003.

Quarter
(In thousands, except share data) First Second Third Fourth

2004

Net sales $2,452,151 $2,806,564 $2,772,495 $2,791,075

Gross profit 612,445 638,198 644,813 669,073

Net income(1)(2) 69,240 77,073 40,192 98,869

Earnings per common share(3)

Basic 0.44 0.49 0.26 0.66

Diluted 0.43 0.47 0.25 0.64

2003

Net sales $2,144,878 $2,222,572 $2,306,848 $2,510,318

Gross profit 571,233 601,153 593,537 610,486

Net income(4)(5) 63,209 83,789 122,162 86,543

Earnings per common share(3)

Basic 0.49 0.60 0.79 0.56

Diluted 0.43 0.54 0.76 0.54

(1) The results for the first, third and fourth quarters include facility closing and reorganization costs, net of tax, of $4.7 million, $12.5 million, and $3.8 million, respectively.
(2) The results for the third quarter of 2004 include a charge of $21.2 million, net of tax, related to the early extinguishment of debt. The results for the fourth quarter of 2004 include other

operating income related to the settlement of litigation of $3.8 million, net of taxes.
(3) Earnings per common share calculations for each of the quarters were based on the basic and diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding for each quarter, and the sum of the

quarters may not necessarily be equal to the full year earnings per common share amount.
(4) The results for the first, second, third and fourth quarters include facility closing and reorganization costs, net of tax, of $(1.0) million, $1.9 million, $1.3 million and $5.2 million, respectively.
(5) The results for the third and fourth quarters include a gain on sale of the frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen creamer operations and income related to the divestiture of 11 facilities in

2001 of $40.9 million, net of tax, and $1.8 million net of tax, respectively.
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22 . Related Transactions

Real Property Lease – We lease the land for our Franklin, Massachusetts facility from a partnership in which Alan Bernon, Chief

Operating Officer of the Northeast region of our Dairy Group and a member of our Board of Directors, owns a 13.45% minority interest.

(The remaining interests are owned by members of Mr. Bernon’s family.) Our lease payments were $700,000 in 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Minority Interest in Consolidated Container Holding Company – We hold our minority interest in Consolidated Container Company

through our subsidiary Franklin Plastics, Inc., in which we own an approximately 99% interest. Alan Bernon, Chief Operating Officer of

the Northeast region of our Dairy Group and a member of our Board of Directors, and his brother, Peter Bernon, collectively own less than

1% of Franklin Plastics, Inc. We spent approximately $235.5 million, $167.9 million and $128.7 million on products purchased from CCC

for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In the fourth quarter of 2004 we purchased equipment previously

owned and operated by CCC totaling $3.2 million.

Aircraft Leases – On March 24, 2003, the independent members of our Board of Directors voted to purchase two companies from Gregg

Engles (our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors) and Pete Schenkel (President of our Dairy Group and also a

member of our Board of Directors). The companies owned two aircraft which we previously leased from them. As consideration for the

purchase of the lessor companies from Messrs. Engles and Schenkel, we assumed the indebtedness that the lessor entities incurred to

finance the purchase of the aircraft. No other consideration was paid to Mr. Engles or Mr. Schenkel, directly or indirectly. The aggregate

principal balance of the indebtedness that we assumed was approximately $9.6 million, which approximated the then-current fair market

value of the aircraft. Because the market value of the assets we acquired in the transaction was equal to the value of the liabilities that we

assumed, there was no income statement impact related to the transaction. Prior to the acquisition, we paid the companies a combined total

of $2.1 million during 2002 under the aircraft lease agreements.
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23 . Subsequent Events (unaudited)

Tax Free Spin-Off of Specialty Foods Group – On January 27, 2005, we announced our intent to pursue a tax-free spin-off of our Specialty

Foods Group. The spin-off will create a publicly-traded food manufacturing company serving the retail grocery and foodservice markets

with approximately 1,800 employees and estimated 2005 net sales of over $700 million. Also effective January 27, 2005, we hired a

management team, headed by Sam Reed, former CEO of Keebler Foods Company, to lead the new company. In conjunction with their

employment, the management team made a cash investment of $10 million in the Specialty Foods Group, representing 1.7% ownership of

the new business.

As part of the spin-off, we intend to transfer our Mocha Mix® non-dairy creamer, Second Nature® egg substitute and foodservice dressings

businesses to the Specialty Foods Group from WhiteWave Foods Company and our Dairy Group.

The spin-off is intended to take the form of a tax-free distribution to our shareholders of a new publicly-traded stock, which we expect

to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange. We expect the spin-off to be completed in the third quarter of 2005, subject to confirmation

by the Internal Revenue Service of the tax-free nature of the transaction, registration of the new security with the Securities and Exchange

Commission and other customary closing conditions.

Receivables-Backed Facility Amendment – On January 3, 2005, we amended our receivables-backed loan pursuant to which (1) Horizon

Organic and White Wave became parties to the facility, (2) the facility borrowing limit was increased to $600 million from $500 million

and (3) the facility termination date was extended to November 17, 2007.



87

D e a n  F o o d s  2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

Other Shareholder Information

Transfer Agent

The Bank of New York

Shareowner Inquiries:
The Bank of New York,
Shareholder Relations
PO Box 11258
Church Street Station
NY, NY  10286-1258

Certificate, DRS or
Legal Transfer:
The Bank of New York
Receive/Deliver Dept
PO Box 11002
NY, NY  10286-1002

Lost Securities:
The Bank of New York
Lost Securities Department
PO Box 11281
NY, NY  10286-1281

Change of Address:
The Bank of New York
Account Maintenance Department
PO Box 11023
NY, NY  10286-1023
Telephone: 866-557-8698
E-Mail: Shareownersvcs@bankofny.com
Website: http://www.stockbny.com

Auditor

Deloitte & Touche LLP
2200 Ross Avenue
Suite 1600
Dallas, Texas  75201
Telephone: 214-840-7000

Marke t Information

NYSE: DF

Annual Mee ting

May 24, 2005, 10:00 a.m.
Dallas Museum of Art
1717 North Harwood
Dallas, Texas  75201

Corporate Headquarters

Dean Foods Company
2515 McKinney Avenue
Suite 1200
Dallas, Texas  75201
Telephone: 214-303-3400
Facsimile: 214-303-3499
Website: www.deanfoods.com

Forward-Looking 
Statement Disclosure

This report contains statements about the future
that are not statements of historical fact. These
statements, which are sometimes predictions and
sometimes statements of our plans for the future, are
found in the Chairman’s letter to shareholders, and
on pages 1 through 15, as well as in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations. In most cases, you can
identify these statements by terminology such as
“may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “seek to,”
“anticipate,” “plan,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,”
“predict,” “potential,” “hope” or “continue” or the
negative of such terms and other comparable
terminology. In evaluating these statements, you
should carefully consider the risks outlined in this
report, and in any subsequent reports we may file
after the date hereof with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. You may obtain copies of
these reports without charge by writing to our
corporate headquarters, Attention: Investor
Relations, or through our corporate website at
www.deanfoods.com, or on the SEC’s website at
www.sec.gov.
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